
Health and Wellbeing Board
Agenda

BRISTOL CCG

Date:      Wednesday, 20 June 2018
Time:      2.30 pm
Venue:   First Floor Committee Room 1P09 - City Hall, 
College Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR

Distribution:
S Milner, M Rees, H Richards, A Young, J Clarke, R Woolley, J Ross, J Rawlings, A Bolam, J Jensen,
A Craig, V Morris, E Flint and K Sinclair 

Copies to: T Dafter, N Rollason, S Sharland and S Hogg 

Issued by: Claudette Campbell, Democratic Services

Tel: 0117 92 22342
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Tuesday, 12 June 2018

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Agenda
1. Welcome, introductions and safety information 2.30 pm
Please note: if the alarm sounds during the meeting, everyone should
please exit the building via the way they came in, via the main entrance
lobby area, and then the front ramp. Please then assemble on the paved
area between the side entrance of the cathedral and the roundabout at
the Deanery Road end of the building.

If the front entrance cannot be used, alternative exits are available via
staircases 2 and 3 to the left and right of the Council Chamber. These exit
to the rear of the building. The lifts are not to be used. Then please make
your way to the assembly point at the front of the building. Please do
not return to the building until instructed to do so by the fire warden(s).

2. Apologies for absence 

3. Declarations of interest 
To note any declarations of interest from the Mayor / councillors.  They are asked 
to indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular 
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Any declaration of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4. Minutes of meeting held on 21 February 2018 

(Pages 5 - 12)

5. Health and Wellbeing Board - Terms of Reference and Ways of 
Working 

2.40 pm

For final approval.
Presenter – Dr S Milner, Interim Director of City Wellbeing, Resilience and 
Strategic Partnerships

(Pages 13 - 18)

6. JSNA Annual Report 2017-18 and Proposed Work Programme 
2018-19 

2.50 pm

For noting and approval of the work programme.
Presenter: Dr S Milner, Interim Director of City Wellbeing, Resilience and 

(Pages 19 - 27)



Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Strategic Partnerships

7. Healthier Together - update 3.00 pm
Presenter – Julia Ross and Robert Woolley (Pages 28 - 40)

8. One City Approach - Health Theme 3.15 pm
Development discussion item (no papers)
Presenter: Dr S Milner, Interim Director of City Wellbeing, Resilience and 
Strategic Partnerships

9. Health and Wellbeing Board forward plan 4.00 pm
For discussion and confirmation (Pages 41 - 43)

10. Director of Public Health annual report 
For information only (Pages 44 - 127)

11. Public forum - about items included on the agenda 
Public forum business must be about items on the agenda for this 
meeting.

Any member of the public or councillor may participate in public forum. Public 
forum items should be emailed to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk

Please note that the following deadlines will apply in relation to this meeting:

Questions about agenda items - Written questions must be received at least 3 
clear working days prior to the meeting.  For this meeting, this means that 
questions must be submitted by 5.00 pm on Thursday 14 June 2018 at the latest.  
A maximum of 2 questions per individual is permitted.

Petitions and written statements about agenda items - Petitions and written 
statements must be received by 12 noon on the working day prior to the 
meeting. For this meeting, this means they must be submitted by 12.00 noon on 
Tuesday 19 June 2018 at latest.

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

Bristol City Council 
Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

 
21 February 2018 at 2.30 pm 

 
 
 

 
Board Members Present: Mayor Marvin Rees, Dr Martin Jones, Justine Rawlings, Julia Ross, Asher Craig, 
Helen Godwin, Vicki Morris, Elaine Flint, Keith Sinclair and Dr J Jensen 
 
Officers in Attendance:- 
Claudette Campbell (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
 

1.  Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information 
 
The Mayor, took the Chair and welcomed all present and led introductions. 
 

2.  Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 
 
The following apologies were given: 
 

• Cllr Helen Holland 
• Justine Mansfield 
• Steve Davies 
• Dr P Stables 
• Alison Comley 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 
None 
 

4.  Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
The Board were asked to agree the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting on the 25th October 2017 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

5.  Public Forum 
 
None 
 

6.  New Board, Framework and City Plan Discussion 
 
 Mayor Rees, welcomed the new board members and extended thanks to the outgoing members for their 
participation and valued contribution to the outcomes of the Board.  He shared that he viewed the newly 
formatted board as a forum that will allow partners engaged in supporting the wellbeing of Bristol 
residents and those dealing with acute services to come together.  That there currently existed many 
measures and boards across all partner organisations but in order for them to serve the City in a coherent 
manner a City Governance plan was needed.  The One City Plan will provide this governance.   
 
Sam Mongon, Programme Manager (Bristol Community Health CIC) was invited to give an overview of the 
‘HWB Review & draft Governance Framework’. 

• Clarity was sought on the replacement of the GP’s with a new primary care representative.  
Assurances were given that at the conclusion of the CCG review that someone would be proposed. 

Victoria Bleazard, Bristol Public Health & City Office, Programme Manager provided an overview of the 
objectives of the City Plan highlighting the work to be done on the 19th March 2018.  The One City Plan is 
intentional in its aspiration to define how the City should be described.  The plan would direct others, 
other authorities or bodies or developers, how they should view the City’s aspiration. 
 
New Board members shared their organisation future plans, visions & aspirations.  In addition input was 
welcomed on the key priorities of the City Plan that aligned with the Boards. 
 
The following was noted from the discussion that followed: 

a. Cllr Godwin welcomed the new members acknowledging the enhanced added value to the Board’s 
influence that will result from partnership working.  The work that is required for the City 
wellbeing is best done by all partner agencies together with the City Council. 

b.  Jacqui Jenson drew member’s attention to the plight of children living in deprivation and the 
impact that this had on their lives as older children and then adults.  Proposing that this should be 
an issue that crossed all agencies service provision and should be a priority of the One City Plan. 

c. Julia Ross considered the uniqueness of the Board in focussing on health of people and their 
wellbeing impacting the wider determinants of health; consideration to be given to the whole area 
of prevention and supporting a healthy City; and to family and children in those family’s growing 
up healthy and well; the issue of older people and social isolation; vulnerable people and how we 
delivery to support and encourage people to be less dependent; proposed that the police 
authority should have a representative on the Board; the health of our population should be the 
focus. 

d. Mayor Rees, supported the above suggesting that the health and wellbeing of partner agencies 
workforce should be included. 

Page 5



 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

e. Cllr Craig was encouraged by the opportunity for all partners to meet to consider our joint 
responsibility for a healthier population. 

f. Vicki Morris welcomed the new format.  Drew everyone’s attention to the plight of young people 
and the opportunity to adopt a sustainable and targeted approach to their wellbeing. 

Resolved to agree the Recommendation 
i. That the following would join the Board. 

• Chief Officer of Avon & Wiltshire Partnership NHS Trust 
• Chief Officer of Bristol Community Health CIC 
• Chief Officer of North Bristol NHS Foundation Trust 
• Chief Officer of University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust 
• Representative GP of  CCG 

ii. The following would be stood down, with thanks for their contribution. 
• Representative of GP Consortia Inner City & East 
• Representative of GP Consortia North and West 
• Representative of GP Consortia South  

iii. That the Board would adopt the Governance Framework. 
iv. That the Board would seek to establish news ways of working. 

 

7.  Bristol Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2016-17 
 
Louise Lawton, Independent Chair of the Bristol Safeguarding Adults Board addressed the Board 
referencing the report but particularly directing members to consider the asks listed in the 
Recommendations and for those recommendations to be endorsed and actioned. 
 
All were reminded that the report was published in the Summer of 2017 and now presented to the new 
formatted Board for maximum input. 
 
Recommendations: 

1. HWB responds to issues raised by the BSAB Chair following the 2015-2016 Annual Report that 
mental health consultation support for accommodation and care providers should be 
commissioned as this is yet to be resolved 

2. HWB establishes a shared data dashboard with BSAB about the effectiveness of provision of 
mental health services to improve scrutiny, consistency and shared drive 

3. HWB reports to the BSAB on their plans to improve safeguarding within mental health services 
in the city  

4. HWB JSNA to include scrutiny of the impact of neglect and acts of omission for adults with care 
and support needs 

Page 6



 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

5. HWB to work with the other city partnerships through the partnership chairs group to develop 
clearer escalation and governance processes at this time of change 

Following were noted from the discussion: 
 
Recommendation 1 

a. That there had been a total of 4 murders of vulnerable people in shared accommodation 
b. Cllr Craig confirmed that the city were aware and work was almost concluded on a number of 

strategies that would be shared shortly. 
c. Julia Ross noted this as a co-commissioning issue and that conversations would happen with 

partners. 
d. ACTION: Jacqui Jensen confirmed that Terry Dafter would action this recommendation. 

 
Recommendation 2 

e. The Chair expressed concern over the length of time it had taken for a mental health pathway 
review to be completed and believed that a shared Dashboard would support, the progression of 
actions and give pace to all areas of work. 

f. Julia Ross, agreed that all services should be held to account; questioned whether the HWB was 
the correct forum for some information sharing; accepted the challenge by the BSAB on actions 
outstanding from the CCG on a specific piece of work around s136 duty; confirmed that the work 
was nearing completion. Provided reassurance that a response was pending. 

g. A question was asked on the makeup of the Board as to whether membership representation was 
correct. 

h. The Chair confirmed that there were no gaps in the board membership and a public register of 
attendance was kept and shared.  That those who failed to attend/participate were noted and 
follow up action taken when necessary.  ACTION: Information can be shared on request to the 
HWB. 

 
Recommendation 3 

i. The HWB had now adopted Mental Health has one of its key priorities. 
 
Recommendation 4 

j. The Board agreed that it would continue work on this area. 
 
 
Recommendation 5 

k. The BSAB was keen to work together with all partners at a time, had the awareness that all 
services areas were working with constrained budgets.  The ‘ask’ from BSAB to HWB was for a 
‘safeguarding lens’ to be applied to all areas of HWB’s remit, which in turn would positively impact 
the safety of the people of Bristol. 

 

Page 7



 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

Mayor Rees, thanked the Chair for the work of the BSAB and confirm work would continue to ensure that 
strategic plans dovetailed with the work of the BSAB.  He propose that BSAB provide the Board with their 
3 year plan to enable partners to identify the ‘ask’ from their individual sectors. 
 
Resolved: 

I. To endorse the BSAB annual report 
II. To adopt the 5 recommendations 

 

8.  Bristol Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016-17 
 
Sally Lewis, Independent Chair of the Bristol Safeguarding Children Board addressed the Board on the 
Annual report for 2016-17. 
 
The Board were reminded: 
 

• That the LA key responsibilities to this area was about to change 
• That the requirement for the BSCB in its current format, would be abolished 
• The duty to safeguard children is to be shared jointly with the CCG; Police; Local Authority  
• That the three authorities must now decide how this area would be managed 
• The timeline for adoption of this duty, was 15 months from May 2018; to include 12 months to 

plan and 3 months to implement 
• That the report listed the ‘ask’ of the Board along the lines of the recommendation as outlined by 

BSAB Chair. 
Mayor Rees, thanked the Chair for the report and bringing the above changes to its attention.  Proposed, 
that the Chair identified the actions required from the Board to support delivery of these changes. 
 
Elaine Flint requested that BSCB share information with VOSCUR to aid understanding and to allow 
positive contribution. 
 
Mayor Rees, proposed that the Recommendations be adopted by the Board: 
 
Resolved: 

• The Board agreed to adopt the 5 recommendations 
 

9.  Bristol Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018 
 
Barbara Coleman, Programme Manager Public Health, Bristol City Council presented to the Board the 
Bristol Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment for approval.   
 
The Health & Wellbeing Board has a legal obligation to produce a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
(PNA) at intervals of no less than every 3 years.  It must produce a revised assessment or supplementary 

Page 8



 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

statement after notification of significant changes to the availability of pharmaceutical services since the 
publication of its PNA.  The PNA must be published no later than 1st April 2018 
 
The Bristol PNA Steering Group did not perceive there were any gaps in services, however they did come 
up with a number of recommendations to address some of the concerns raised.  These were:- 

• Increase awareness of how to find out about opening hours. All local healthcare commissioners 
and providers are asked to help publicise and use sources of information on ‘where to find 
information on your nearest pharmacy and opening hours’ e.g. through NHS Choices and the 111 
service.  This includes asking frontline healthcare staff to advise patients needing immediate 
access to a dispensing service out of hours. 
 

• Make reasonable adjustments to address specific needs. Avon Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
is asked to publicise the findings of this PNA to local pharmacists, specifically the need for 
information to be provided in formats that are useful for people with hearing impairments and 
people with language barriers.  The use of hearing loops for example might be appropriate. 

The Mayor on behalf of the Board thanked the team for the completion of this work and moved for 
approval of the PNA. 
 
Resolved that: 
 

I. That the PNA was Approved for publication. 
 

10.  Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Equalities Data 
 
Mark Wakefield, Bristol City Council Service Manager: Performance & Information & Intelligence 
presented the report on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Equalities Data sub group.  The sub 
group were tasked with delivering improved availability and use of equalities data for use in the JSNA and 
planning and commissioning decisions. 
 
A data audit conducted by this working group identified and classified data and products as follows: 

- where data on personal characteristics is available and should be analysed as a matter of course in 
future JSNA data products 

- where service breakdowns and equalities reports already exist and should be appropriately 
included in the JSNA 

- where data is not available, either through lack of recording mechanisms in IT systems, or through 
missed opportunities to capture it at contact points with citizens 

 
Whilst the first two can progress within the data community to establish standard definitions and 
formats, the third, focussing on fundamental data problems will need further guidance from the HWB and 
constituent organisations. 

Page 9



 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

 
The following was noted from the discussion that followed: 

a. Clarification was sought on the principles of the Diamond Cluster; which is a set of 
recommendations on categorisation of equalities data which were proposed as a possible driver of 
better recording practice for partners. 

b. Cllr Craig supported this work commenting that there was a need for consistency across partners 
on the data collected which in turn would benefit the delivery of services.   

c. A question was raised on the quality of disability data collected and how this was to be improved. 
d. Elaine Flint, had noted in her work with the Bristol Mental health sub group the need to have data 

to properly identify service users and the necessity for this data to be as comprehensive as 
possible to enable sharing of outcomes from the work. 

e. Julia Clark shared that there exists the intent to collect data on protected characteristics but often 
front line staff found it hard to collect this data from service users due to pressure of work and/or 
whether it is appropriate to approach.  Suggested collective thought to be given to determine at 
what point during the contact data should be collected and to avoid missed opportunities. 

f. Vicki Morris noted that the improvement in the use of digital technology could facilitate capturing 
data from service users. 

g. Robert Woolley confirmed that Healthier Together transformation programme included work on 
the use of the digital platform to capture data.  As an action he would take this away and ensure 
that this team link into this JSNA work.  Action: Mark Wakefield to be provided with details of the 
programme lead. 

h. Mayor Rees, supported the aspiration to ensure that there was a single source of truth stating that 
JSNA work was useful to all partners.  Action: He proposed that all partners agree that the 
identified key personal working in their team meet together with the programme team from 
Healthier Together with Mark Wakefield as Lead. 

i. The Board agreed this as a way forward requesting that information on the principles of Diamond 
Cluster was shared with the Board members.  Action: Mark Wakefield. 

j. Mayor further requested that the work was brought back to the next meeting. 
Resolved: 
 

i. That the Board would endorse the work done. 
ii. That the outcomes of the work from the agreed actions return to the Board for further 

consideration. 
 
 
 
 
Meeting ended at 4.30 pm 
 
CHAIR  __________________ 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 11



1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Terms of Reference

Extract from BCC constitution - May 2014. Part 3.2: Non-executive functions
 b. Terms of reference of committees

Arrangements

The Membership of the Board shall be as follows:

a. at least one elected member, nominated by the elected mayor or executive leader,
b. the director of adult social services,
c. the director of children’s services,
d. the director of public health,
e. a representative of the Local Healthwatch,
f. a representative of each relevant clinical commissioning group,
and
g. such other persons, or their representatives as deemed appropriate by a majority 
of the Board.

h. The political requirements set out in sections 15, 16 and schedule 1 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989shall not apply to the membership of the Board.

Schedule of meetings

The Board will formally meet with such frequency as it shall determine.

Voting

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board will be a committee of the Local Authority.
2. All members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will have voting rights.
3. If the Health and Wellbeing Board appoints additional members to the Board, 

the Board itself will determine whether those members will have voting rights.

Functions

The functions of the board will be to:

1. promote joint commissioning and encourage integrated working between 
commissioners of NHS, public health and social care services to improve the 
health and wellbeing of the local community;

2. encourage integrated working between commissioners of NHS, public health 
and social care services to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
community;

3. encourage organisations who arrange for the provision of any health-related 
services to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board to improve the 
health and wellbeing of the local community.

Page 12

Agenda Item 5



2

4. encourage organisations who arrange for the provision of services related to 
the wider determinants of health, such as housing or transport, to work closely 
with commissioners of health and social care;

5. assess the needs of the local community through the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) and consider the need or likely need capable of being 
met or affected by Local Authority or CCG functions;

6. agree and produce a Health & Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS), that addresses 
need, and which commissioners will need to take into account when they 
develop plans for health care, social care and public health;

7. involve health watch and people living and working in Bristol in the 
preparation of the JSNA and JHWS;

8. have regard to the NHS Commissioning Board mandate and statutory 
guidance in the preparation of the JSNA and JHWS;

9. consider the use of health Act flexibilities when developing the JHWS;

10.consider the suitability of current Pharmaceutical Needs Assessments (PNA) 
and prepare a statement of the needs for pharmaceutical services of the local 
population;

11.agree and produce a revised PNA as required;

12.provide such advice, assistance or other support as it thinks appropriate for 
the purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such 
services.

13.be involved in the process of developing and signing-off Clinical 
Commissioning Group plans;

14.assess and provide an opinion on whether the commissioning plan has taken 
proper account of the JSNA and JHWS;

15.assess and provide an opinion on how well the commissioning plan has 
contributed to the delivery of the JHWS

16.advise the Mayor in relation to the taking of executive decisions that concern 
health and well being functions of the local authority

Code of Conduct and Declarations of interest

All members of the Board will be bound by the Council’s code of conduct for 
members and will complete the register of interests.

Page 13



3

Health and Wellbeing Board – Ways of working

(Based on a recent review of the Board. No change to the formal ToR above)

Context

The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) will be a genuine system leadership 
partnership, with clarity of purpose and an overview of the health and wellbeing 
landscape in Bristol. Members will develop an in-depth and longer term place 
perspective, focusing on the wider (social) determinants of health, which will enable 
a reduction in health inequalities, whilst providing a strategic framework for the 
immediate and more narrowly focused activity that must continue in the shorter term.

To achieve this it will need to:

 Focus on prevention and place, exerting leadership across the council, place, and 
the health and care system, including member’s individual organisations, to embed 
the Marmot (2010) objectives.

 Lead and deliver the health and wellbeing thematic vision of the One City Plan (which 
will function as the Board’s ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy’)

 Provide challenge to other boards across the city that have a direct influence on the 
social determinants of care, e.g. homes, skills, inclusive growth, etc. and form a clear 
‘offer and ask’ to the city, as part of the One City Plan.

 Develop and promote a city voice for health and wellbeing which is able to influence 
beyond our organisational and city boundaries, including national government bodies 
and policy.

 Ensure a Bristol focus for health and wellbeing, whilst developing the capacity to 
work and flex between geographies, including West of England Combined Authority 
(WECA), Healthier Together, BNSSG Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Local 
Enterprise Partnership.

 The Director of City Wellbeing, Resilience and Strategic Partnerships (DPH) will 
shape the development of the HWB and its programme and act as a ‘system 
translator’ to enable health and local government colleagues to collaborate more 
effectively together. 

 Business support for the functioning of the Board will be provided by BCC Public 
Health Service and Democratic Services.

 The HWB will meet 6 times a year. Meetings will include formal business and a more 
informal discussion/workshop session which may be themed to address the HWBs 
vision and priorities. Theme ‘experts’ may be invited to join these sessions.

 Additional Board development sessions may be scheduled during the year.
 Meeting schedules will be published with a forward plan in line with BCC’s 

Constitution.
 Papers must be published in line with BCC’s constitution. Papers cannot be tabled 

except in an ‘emergency situation’ as agreed with the joint chairs.
 There is an expectation that Board members will come fully prepared for each 

meeting having read the papers.
 There is an expectation that Board members will prioritise attendance. If a member is 

unable to attend the meeting they should nominate a substitute. This substitute 
should have delegated authority to make the same level of decision as the member 
they are representing.

 As the Board only meets for 6 times per year it is essential that agenda items are 
selected for consideration based on the essential criteria of ‘additionality’ (that only 

Page 14



4

the HWB can deal with this issue) and relevance to Board priorities. This is to prevent 
the agenda being clogged up with business that could be dealt with, more effectively, 
elsewhere.

 Board papers will be submitted by the required deadline using the HWB Report 
Template so it is clear to Board members what action is required of them in relation 
to that item.

 The HWB will be accountable for, and provide proactive support and challenge to key 
priority areas, e.g. Mental health (Thrive), the obesogenic environment and alcohol 
misuse.

 It will also receive regular reports from its underpinning groups (see governance 
chart).

 A mechanism will be developed for communicating and liaising with South 
Gloucestershire and North Somerset Health and Wellbeing Boards.

 Membership of the HWB will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure it reflects the 
emerging role and priorities of the Board.

Membership

Role Title Organisation Name
Mayor BCC Marvin Rees(Co Chair)

Cabinet Member BCC Asher Craig

Strategic Director of 
People (DCS & DASS) 

BCC Jacqui Jensen

Director of Public Health BCC Sue Milner

Area (GP) representative 
for Bristol 

BNSSG CCG Alison Bolam(Co Chair)

Chief Executive BNSSG CCG Julia Ross

Area Director BNSSG CCG Justine Rawlings

Chief Executive Wellspring Healthy Living 
Centre (Voluntary 
Organisation Rep)

Elaine Flint

Chief Executive The Care Forum (Health 
Watch Rep)

Vicky Morris

Chief Executive Carer’s Support Centre Keith Sinclair

Chief Executive University Hospitals Bristol 
NHS FT

Robert Woolley

Chief Executive North Bristol NHS Trust Andrea Young

Chief Executive Bristol Community Health Julia Clarke

Page 15



5

Chief Executive Avon and Wiltshire MH 
Trust

Haley Richards

In Attendance

Secretariat BCC Democratic Services Claudette Campbell

Consultant in Public 
Health 

BCC Sally Hogg

Page 16



6

HWB Governance Structure

Health and Wellbeing Services

NHS Commissioners Local Authority 
Commissioners

Healthier Together

NHS 
Commissioned 

Providers

Local Gov 
Commissioned 

Providers

Voluntary Sector 
Providers

Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Learning City Homes

Safer Bristol Children & 
Families

Safeguarding Congestion 
Taskforce

Obesogenic 
Environment 

Steering Group

Health and 
Wellbeing Theme 
of One City Plan

JSNA Steering 
Group

Thrive Steering 
Group

Health Protection 
Committee

Alcohol Strategy 
Steering Group

Tobacco Alliance 
Group

Groups reporting to Health and 
Wellbeing Board

National 
Government

Public Non-
commissioned VCS

Councillors, MPs 
and MEPs Univerisites

WECA Bristol Health 
Partners 

Other

Be accountable for and proactivity drive the 
agenda

Ensure a Bristol voice for HWB influence national and 
local policy and action

Collaborate to ensure shared goals and outcomes 
are achieved

Create and reciprocal relationship to influence the 
wider determinants of health

City Leadership Group
Bristol City Council

Page 17



 

1 
 

 
 

Bristol Health & Wellbeing Board  
 
 
 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Annual Report 
and Proposed Work Programme for 2018/19 
Author, including 
organisation 

Sue Milner, Interim Director of City Wellbeing, 
Resilience and Strategic Partnerships (DPH) 
 

Date of meeting 20th June 2018 
 

Report for Information and Agreement 
 
1. Purpose of this Paper 

 
Local authorities and clinical commissioning groups have equal and joint 
duties to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), through the 
Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in order that the health and social care 
needs of the population are properly assessed and proper plans and 
services may be put in place. 
 
The HWB delegates this function to the Director of Public Health (now 
incorporated into the post of Director of City Wellbeing, Resilience and 
Strategic Partnerships) as the Chair of the JSNA Steering Group. 
 
The JSNA work programme is developed by the steering group and this 
annual report to the HWB is to provide a summary of progress in the last 
year and plans for 2018/19, including a revised approach to delivering the 
JSNA. It also includes proposed refreshed ToR for the JSNA Steering 
Group ( Appendix 1). 
 

2. Executive Summary – to include the main points for the 
HWB to consider 
 
 The JSNA for 2017/19 consists of a Data Profile and a suite of 

JSNA Chapters covering key topic and a range of other supporting 
data documents. 
 

 The JSNA Data Profile 2016/17 was published in Jan 2017. 
 

 Work has begun on updating the Data Profile for 2017/18. 
 
 Nine topic chapters were published. 

 
 Five chapters are due for publication in the next two months 

including a chapter on Suicide Prevention.   

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

 
 Three more chapters are in progress and will be published in 

2018/19. 
 
 JSNA Steering Group membership has been updated to ensure 

senior level engagement across BCC and BNSSG CCG.  
 
 The structure of the JSNA has been reviewed at a workshop where 

a more streamlined format has been agreed for the future.  This will 
consist of a Data Profile (to be renamed Health and Wellbeing in 
Bristol 2018 (JSNA profile)) and up to four deep dives to be agreed 
by the Steering Group. 

 
 The Data Profile and deep dives will be delivered by Task and 

Finish Groups. 
 

3. Recommendations for the HWB to Agree 
 
The Board is asked to: 
 
 Consider this report, the JSNA programme and the progress made 
 Agree the revised approach to delivering a JSNA   
 Make suggestions for any amendments and/or additions 

 
4. Main body of the report 

 
JSNA Work Programme 2017/18 

 
The JSNA for 2017/18 consists of a Data Profile and a suite of JSNA 
Chapters covering key topics identified by the steering group, plus other 
supporting data products.   All products are published via the JSNA webpages 
at www.bristol.gov.uk/jsna  
 
JSNA Data Profile  
 

• The JSNA Data Profile 2016/17 was published in Jan 2017, but 
promoted via a range of presentations with bespoke data analysis 
during the first half of 2017.   

• Work on updating the JSNA 2018 began at end of 2017/18. 
 

JSNA Chapters 2017/18 
 
This was the primary focus of JSNA work during 2017/18.   

 
• Healthy Weight – adults (2018) 

o Being overweight is a preventable condition associated with an 
increased risk of a number of common diseases and causes of 
premature death 

• Healthy Weight - Children and Young People (2017) 
o Identify ways of helping to reduce childhood obesity at a local 

and national level.  

Page 19

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/jsna


 

3 
 

• Emotional health and wellbeing of children and young people (2017) 
o The mental health and emotional wellbeing of children and 

young people aged 0 to 17, and the risks factors for developing 
mental health and poor emotional wellbeing. 

• Women's Health (2017) 
o The health of women in Bristol – data on a range of topics from 

the Chief Medical Officers Women’s Health Report and the 
Womanifesto from Bristol Women’s Voice 

• Cancer (2017) 
o The poorest people in Bristol have the highest cancer early 

death rates and the rate gets steadily lower as people become 
less deprived. 

• Respiratory Disease - adults (2017) 
o Adult Respiratory Diseases (inc Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 

Disease) in Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 
(BNSSG). 

• Alcohol misuse - adults (2017)   
o Alcohol is the leading risk factor for ill-health, early mortality and 

disability (in those aged 15 to 49) and the fifth leading risk factor 
for ill-health across all age groups. 

• Work and health (2017)  
o Links between health and unemployment, employment and the 

workplace. 
• Sexual Health (2016) 

o Contraception, relationships, sexually transmitted infections 
(STIs), HIV and abortion.  To improve the sexual health of the 
population. 

 
Chapters previously published in 2016/17 were: 

 
• Childhood epilepsy (2017) 

o Childhood Epilepsy in Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire (BNSSG) 

• Children’s Social Communication and Interaction Needs (2017) 
o Covers a range of conditions and support needs including 

Autism Spectrum Disorder  
• Young People and Substance Misuse (2017) 

o Drug and alcohol use by young people aged 11-24. 
 

Chapters almost completed - due to publish in next 1-2 months include:  
 

• Suicide prevention (this chapter is a high priority given the 
current high profile of the issue). 

• Fuel Poverty 
• Children in Care 
• Childhood Injury 
• Breastfeeding 

 
Other Chapters already in draft form and to be completed in 2018/19 include: 
 

• Healthy Life Expectancy – to support One City Plan  

Page 20



 

4 
 

• Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) – to support 
SEND inspection / due autumn  

• Air Pollution – to support Clean Air Zone proposals 
 

Other JSNA core products 
 
Strategic Intelligence resources updated in 2017/18 to complement the 
JSNA include: 
 

• The State of the City: Key Facts 2017-18 - a summary of major facts 
and infographics about Bristol, including Health and Wellbeing  

• Population of Bristol report (2018), plus updated population projections 
- Population page 

• Ward data profiles (2017) 
• Open Data Bristol  - A new site for accessing and sharing open data, 

including Dashboards to visualise data – will be the source to access 
underlying JSNA 2018 data. 

 
Equalities data  

Specific work was undertaken during 2017/18 to deliver improved 
availability and use of equalities data in the JSNA process, led by a 
JSNA Equalities Data sub-group.   Results to date will be incorporated 
into JSNA 2018 where possible, but ongoing work is currently being 
reviewed.  

 
JSNA website  

The previous webpage was substantially updated during 2017/18 into a 
suite of webpages – see www.bristol.gov.uk/jsna – now including 
links to many different resources and data-sources.  
 

JSNA revised approach 
 
An extensive review of the JSNA work programme and approach in 
2015 led to the following key changes: 

 
 A chapter-based approach was established with the aim of 

providing a wide range of in-depth “JSNA Chapters” across a 
number of topics. 

 The JSNA Data Profile was retained as a core JSNA product, in 
addition to the Chapters  

 New governance arrangements for the JSNA, including a JSNA 
Working Group to support the JSNA Steering Group, and 
Reference Groups for each Chapter. 

 
In 2018, a review of the chapter-based approach was undertaken 
taking into consideration the upcoming restructure of the public health 
team and planned reduction in staffing. Whilst there has been valuable 
work done to produce JSNA Chapters, the current approach has 
become too lengthy and time consuming, producing substantial pieces 
of work (chapters) which not only take many months to deliver and 
require substantial staff time but also have a limited readership 
because of their density and size.  A more streamlined and efficient 

Page 21

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32947/State+of+Bristol+Key+Facts+2017-18/94b14c82-b664-0f5f-4487-8623f4be9ae6
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-population-of-bristol
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/new-wards-data-profiles
https://bristol.opendatasoft.com/
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/jsna


 

5 
 

process is needed to update the JSNA and support the commissioning 
decisions in BCC and the CCG for 2018/19 onwards. 
 

JSNA work programme for 2018/19 
 
The JSNA will now consist of: 
 

 A core document currently referred to as the JSNA Data Profile (to be 
renamed “Health and Wellbeing in Bristol 2018 (JSNA profile)”) 
 

 A small number of “deep dives” each year to explore in depth areas 
identified by the Steering Group, using a simplified version of the JSNA 
Chapter approach [NB All draft JSNA Chapters from 17/18 have been 
ceased, other than those noted above]. Some of these deep dives will 
be conducted across BNSSG CCG footprint as part of the ‘Knowledge 
and Intelligence Collaborative’ work programme. Deep dives will be 
selected to provide timely, up to date assessments of need for specific 
pieces of priority work across the health and social care economy. 
 

 Plus updates of the “Other JSNA core products” as noted above, 
including: 

o Ward Profiles 2018 
o State of Bristol: Key Facts annual  update 
o Improving access to updated JSNA data via Open Data Bristol   

 
 JSNA Steering Group membership has been updated to ensure senior 

level engagement across BCC and BNSSG CCG. 
   

 Task and Finish groups will be set up to deliver the Data Profile and 
Deep Dives. 
 

 Initial plans for “deep dives” (n = no more than 4) to underpin specific 
areas in 2018/19 are below – details will be confirmed through the 
JSNA Steering Group: 
 

o New CCG Locality Profiles: North & West and Inner, Central & 
East.  The Locality Profile for South Bristol, started in 2017/18, 
will be completed.  - Confirmed 

 
NB there is still residual work to complete from the 17/18 programme 
which will reduce the amount of resource available for new work this 
year. 

Page 22



 

6 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Bristol Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
Steering Group 

 
Proposed Terms of Reference 2018 – (v2, June 2018) 

 
 

1. Back ground and context to the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) 

 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is an ongoing process to 
identify the current and future health and wellbeing needs of the local Bristol 
population, and the services and assets available for meeting these needs.  It 
is a statutory duty to produce and publish the JSNA, although content and 
style are locally determined. 
 
The core aim of the JSNA is to develop evidence based commissioning 
priorities to determine what actions the local authority, the NHS and other 
partners need to take to meet health and social care needs and to address 
the wider determinants that impact on health and wellbeing.  The JSNA is 
intended to: 
 

• Provide a comprehensive assessment of the health and wellbeing 
needs of the Bristol population, and the services/assets available for 
meeting these needs 
 

• Influence strategic planning and commissioning processes across 
Bristol  which impact on health and wellbeing outcomes 

 
• Provide the evidence base for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 

the local overarching strategy for meeting needs identified in the JSNA.  
 

• To support the development and delivery of Bristol’s One City Plan. 
 

• Be used as a tool to drive improvement in health outcomes and reduce 
inequalities.   
 

• Promote the efficient use of limited public resources to achieve better 
health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce inequalities for Bristol’s 
growing and diverse population. 

 
The NHS and local authority plans for commissioning services are expected 
to be informed by the JSNA. BNSSG Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
must involve the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in their commissioning 
plans and this includes consulting the Board on whether the plans take proper 
account of the JSNA and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy/One City Plan.  
 
Additionally, the Care Act 2014 Guidance highlighted the importance of the 
JSNA in identifying the needs of the local population and carers as well as 

Page 23



 

7 
 

supporting integration of services to promote wellbeing, prevent or delay 
needs and improve quality of care. 
 
The duty to undertake a JSNA was introduced in 2007 under The Local 
Government and Public Involvement Health Act.  Local authorities and the 
local NHS (previously Primary Care Trusts) were legally obliged to collaborate 
in the production of a JSNA in recognition that strategic planning for health 
and wellbeing was best done in partnership, and based on evidence. The 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred the responsibility to Health and 
Wellbeing Boards (HWB) and now local authorities and CCGs have equal and 
joint responsibility to prepare the JSNA through the Health & Wellbeing Board.  
 
The production of a JSNA is one of the main statutory responsibilities of the 
HWB, alongside producing a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.   
 
 

2. Purpose of the JSNA Steering Group 
The Health and Wellbeing Board delegates responsibility for delivery of the 
JSNA to the JSNA Steering Group. The JSNA Steering Group provides 
strategic oversight of the JSNA work programme. It provides clear, joint 
ownership of the JSNA process, in order to oversee the successful delivery 
and implementation of the JSNA on behalf of the HWB.   

 
Roles and Responsibilities of Steering Group members 
 

1. Champion the JSNA at senior level, promoting use of the JSNA to 
develop and influence planning and commissioning plans across the 
Health & Social Care sector, and ensure clear links to relevant 
Partnership Boards  

2. Fulfil the HWB statutory duty to produce a JSNA, and ensure an annual 
update (at least) is provided to the HWB.  Provide overall strategic 
focus to develop JSNA proposals in line with HWB direction. 

3. Ensure the programme development aligns with commissioning and re-
procurement plans and other developments across the health and care 
sector to enable the JSNA to have the influence required.  

4. Enhance partnership involvement in the JSNA, ensuring more input 
around citizen views and joining up all intelligence sources effectively.  

5. Ensure clear JSNA governance structure for reporting to the HWB, and 
for ensuring clear quality assurance process.  The Steering Group has 
the final authorisation needed to “sign off” JSNA products prior to 
publication.  

6. Ensure there are sufficient joint  resources to deliver the JSNA  
7. Liaise with the Council’s Insight, Performance, and Intelligence service 

to improve access to JSNA products – including better web and IT 
tools. 
 

8. The JSNA Steering Group will be chaired by the Director of Public 
Health or their nominated Consultant in Public Health. 

Page 24



 

8 
 

9. For Steering Group decisions to be “quorate”, require at least 2 
Directors / Heads of Service 

 
Meetings  

 
• Steering Group requires representation from both BCC and BNSSG 

CCG to be quorate.  
• Meetings will be held quarterly. 
• Papers will be sent out one week in advance of the meeting date. 

 
 

2  JSNA Task and Finish Groups 
 
Purpose of the Task and Finish Groups 
 
The Task and Finish Groups are the delivery vehicles for the JSNA 
development work. They will implement the work programme agreed by the 
JSNA Steering Group primarily through delivering the Data Profile and Deep 
Dives identified by the Steering Group to agreed timescales. This work will be 
overseen by a small “core group” coordinating and delivering actions. This 
group is primarily the lead Public Health Consultant and/or PH Knowledge & 
Intelligence Collaborative manager and BCC Strategic Intelligence / PH 
Intelligence leads.  
 
Roles and Responsibilities of a JSNA Task and Finish Group  
 

1. Identify and agree with Steering Group the scope of the Deep Dive and 
timescales required. 

2. Identify and ensure engagement with appropriate stakeholders/ 
contributors for JSNA Deep Dives. 

3. To robustly project manage the delivery of the core JSNA products and 
deep dives. 
 
 

 
 

Page 25



 

9 
 

JSNA Steering Group membership - 2018 update 
  
Position Current name 
Director of City Wellbeing, Resilience and Strategic 
Partnerships ( DPH) (BCC) - Chair  

Sue Milner 

Director for Adult services (BCC) 
OR Head of Service (Adults / Hospitals) 

Terry Dafter /  
Stephen Beet 

Director for Children services (BCC)  
OR Director for Education & Skills  

Ann James /  
Sue Rogers 

Service Director for Strategy and Policy (BCC)   
OR Insight, Performance & Intelligence Manager 

Tim Borrett /  
Mark Wakefield  

Public Health Consultant  
(BCC) 

Viv Harrison 

Area Director for Bristol  - or below (as delegated) 
Bristol Head of Locality Planning   
(NHS Bristol, North Somerset & South Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, BNSSG CCG) 

Justine Rawlings 
 
Greg Penlington 

Business Intelligence Manager for Localities  
(BNSSG CCG) 
Interim: Head of Business Intelligence – Commissioning 

Tbc  
 
Emma Gara 

Healthwatch Bristol  
Bristol Manager – Healthwatch Bristol   

Sarah Ambe  

VCS community 
Voscur Development Officer: Health and Social Care 

Sarah Jackson  

Public Health Knowledge & Intelligence Collaborative 
Manager (BCC / BNSSG) 

Andrea Dickens  

Bristol Strategic Intelligence and Performance Manager 
(BCC) 

Nick Smith 

Senior Public Health Principal: Epidemiology  
(BCC) 

John Twigger 

 

Page 26



 
 

Bristol Health & Wellbeing Board  
 
 
 

Healthier Together 
 
Author, including 
organisation 

Julia Ross / Robert Woolley 
  
 

Date of meeting 20th  June 2018 
Report for Information  
 
 
1. Purpose of this Paper 

 
This paper provides a high level overview of Healthier Together 
progress. 
 
 

2. Recommendations for the HWB to Agree 
 
The Board is asked to note the report and consider how it will 
support the work of the partnership in the next phase. 
 

 
3. Appendices 

a. Full Report and related documents  
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Healthier together 
Update Briefing for Bristol Health & Wellbeing Board 

June 2018 
 

1. Introduction and overview 
 
This paper provides a high level overview of Healthier Together Progress for the 
Health& Wellbeing Board. It is not intended to be exhaustive. 
 
The partnership and its work are continuing to develop and gain pace. A look back at 
what has been achieved since June 2016 provides encouraging evidence of real 
progress. Having completed the merger of the CCGs and with our 3 local authority 
partners working closely together we are well placed to increase the pace of progress. 
We have made some minor changes to our governance arrangements since April to 
strengthen Chief executive leadership and so we are now well placed to set out our 
work programme for the next phase. The start of the next phase is being marked with a 
large conference for our partners on 21st June. Local authorities will be well 
represented. 

 
2. Current Work programme and its governance 
The work of Healthier Together continues to evolve and progress. The work streams 
portfolio is organised under the nine steering groups shown in the overarching 
governance structure diagram at appendix 1. Since April  the executive group has been 
re-established as a forum for partner chief executives (or nominated representative) to 
ensure strong executive leadership and ownership of the programme 

 
Each steering group, to the extent that they are established at the moment, is chaired 
by a partner Chief Executive. Within each group there are both established and 
emerging work programmes progressing and taking shape. Leadership arrangements 
for some of these are under review or are not yet established. Note that this is work in 
progress. A clearer picture of programmes and their leadership will be established by 
mid-July. The current chair for each steering group is listed below in table 1 along with 
the specific work programmes, where these have been identified. 

 
Table 1 STP work programme summary 

Work Stream 
Steering Group 

Sponsor / Chair  Core Work Programmes / 
Responsibilities 

 
Integrated care 

Julia Clarke, Chief 
Executive, Bristol 
Community Health 

Mental Health 
Prevention 
Integrated community localities 
Primary Care Transformation 
Long term conditions pathways 
Frailty 

Acute Care 
collaboration 

Andrea Young, Chief 
Executive, North Bristol 
Trust 

Acute care strategy 
Medicines optimisation 
Pathology 
Maternity Services 
Musculoskeletal pathway 

Specialised 
services 

Not yet established 

Page 28



Urgent Care 
(Oversight Board) 

Julia Ross, Chief 
Executive, BNSSG CCG 
(pro tem) 

Urgent care strategy 

North Somerset 
Sustainability 

Julia Ross, Chief 
Executive, BNSSG CCG 

Healthy Weston 

Digital 
Transformation 

Robert Woolley, Chief 
Executive, UH Bristol 

Digital transformation strategy 
Connecting Care 

Workforce 
Transformation 
(including LWAB) 

Hayley Richards, Chief 
Executive, Avon and 
Wiltshire Mental Health 
Partnership Trust 

Workforce vision and strategic 
objectives 
Health Education England 
sponsored work programme 
 

System Delivery 
Oversight 

Julia Ross, Chief 
Executive, BNSSG CCG 

Annual planning and system 
savings 

System 
productivity  

TBA Estates 
Corporate Services 

 
 

3. Developing the programme for the next phase 
 
we will hold a key event on 21st June with the involvement of a wide range of staff from 
our partner organisations and some key external stakeholders. This will help us to 
reaffirm our vision and set the forward work programme for 2018/19. The event will 
include 10 areas where we think a system wide approach is likely to increase benefit 
and / or our chances of success. There are likely to be others too, but we are 
necessarily focussing for now on the following key clinical improvement areas and 
associated enablers: 

 
• Mental health 
• Maternity 
• Urgent Care 
• Healthy Weston 
• Integrated community localities 
• Acute care collaboration 
• Primary Care Transformation 
• Prevention & early intervention 
• Workforce 
• Digital Transformation 

 
There are other areas where we are increasingly working together as a system. For 
instance, there was a much more collaborative process for developing our annual 
operating plans this year and we have achieved a much more consistent 
understanding of our finance, performance and activity plans. We intend to build on 
this during 2018/19 towards our ambition for a single system plan for 2019/20. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



4. Overall STP progress 
 
On 9 May the STP lead Chief executives, Robert Woolley and Julia Ross met with NHS 
regulators for a regular review meeting.  As part of a strategic review of the BNSSG 
STP we have produced a summary of the STP’s achievements since we started in April 
2016. The report makes for encouraging reading, and regulators were reassured by the 
progress made in a number of areas. A copy of this summary is attached at appendix 
2. 

 
5. Sponsoring Board 
The Sponsoring Board met last on 31 May. They were presented with the proposed 
Workforce vision and strategic goals, agreed to the format and structure of a Digital 
Delivery Board, and approved the terms of reference and membership of the BNSSG 
Chairs Reference Group (for Chairs of the BNSSG partner organisations) who will 
meet quarterly.  A key item was the discussion around the proposed shortlist of STP 
capital bids to be submitted to NHS England and NHS Improvement, with agreement 
that the final recommendations be taken to the Executive Group meeting on 27 June.  
 

6. Work programme progress – some examples 
 
Integrated Care Steering Group 
The group is currently focussing on Locality and Primary Care Transformation 
programmes. More information will be available at our Conference in June, covering 
the vision and ambition for this work.  
 
The Group is also considering the next phase of the Healthy Weston programme, and 
specifically about the Integrated Frailty Pathway which is being developed in 
partnership by NSCP, WHAT and Local Authority teams. The group will consider in 
time how this work can be developed and adapted with the localities to eventually 
cover the whole of BNSSG 
 
Mental Health  
New funding for suicide prevention  
An extra £365,000 will be invested during 2018/19 in mental health services across 
Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire following a successful bid by the 
CCG to NHS England. This will allow the CCG, the universities, Public Health and the 
voluntary sector to work together to make a real impact on this important issue. 
Further details on how the funding will be spent can be viewed on the CCG website. 

 
A focus on Personality Disorders Pathway at Leadership Live 2018          
A team from BNSSG had the opportunity to attend Leadership Live, a two day event 
providing the time and the facilitated framework to focus on a specific challenge. Our 
team focused on personality disorders pathway, and included colleagues from CCG, 
AWP, social care and the voluntary sector. The work will now continue, aiming to bring 
greater consistency in all care settings and more joined up care planning for people 
needing support. The group also identified gaps and opportunities to prevent crisis, or 
ways of offering much earlier interventions, and will link with the beginnings of work 
looking at Adverse Childhood Events (ACEs) across BNSSG 

 
Prevention 
Prevention Plan Event – 9 May 

Page 30



Prevention is everyone’s business. This programme has recently completed a high 
level planning framework for BNSSG prevention and this event focused on developing 
implementation plans for the 5 priority areas (Tobacco, Alcohol, Mental Health, 
Obesity and Physical Activity and Vascular Disease). 
 
Around 45 clinical and non-clinical staff, patient and public representatives provided 
input. This included discussing ideas to develop existing schemes or the development 
of new initiatives, and working up proposals for these ideas. There was a strong theme 
in the output from discussions around the need to be much better at integrating 
prevention support at all levels of health and social care provision along with a step 
change in how we mobilise our wider communities to become better at taking care of 
their own health. 

 
The outcome of the event has emphasised the need for a joined up and consistent 
approach that would make it easier for citizens and professionals alike to access 
support, advice and opportunities for staying healthy. delegates explored how a 
combination of digital technology and professionals having the right conversations with 
people in need could significantly improve the impact of what’s already available to 
enable people to live healthy and independent lives. 
 

7. Communications & Engagement 
 

Communications and engagement activity is a crucial part of making Healthier 
Together a success. 
 
The programme team has a lead communications manager but we are reliant on our 
combined efforts as partners to engage and involve staff and other key stakeholder 
groups and to make sure they are helping to shape the work in each of our priority 
programmes. 

 
Thinking about our internal audiences, there is an expectation that Chief Executives 
will takes steps to ensure appropriate cascade of Healthier Together information and 
engagement into their organisations and this is currently handled largely through the 
programme team’s links into organisation based communications teams.  

 
Other current internal (partner) communications and engagement activity includes: 

 
Internal (partner) audience / staff 

• An established Healthier Together Communications & Engagement Group 
including representatives from partner organisations 

• Publication of the Sponsoring Board papers 
• A weekly “Round-up” communication of Healthier Together activities  by the 

programme team to a wide partner staff audience (additions to circulation by 
request) 

• A regular quarterly Healthier Together update report for partners to take through 
their Boards (starting in June) 

• A set of common slides covering purpose and priorities for Healthier Together 
now available for use in staff inductions across the partnership. 

• Regular engagement with Board Chairs and clinical leaders through the Chairs 
Reference Group and Clinical Cabinet, respectively 

Page 31



• A quarterly Social Partnership Forum for staff side representatives 
• Appropriately diverse membership of each of the nine steering groups to 

promote partner senior buy-in and contribution 
• Wide staff engagement and involvement in specific service change projects 

within the STP such as care pathway work – stroke, diabetes, MSK etc. 

We are working with the staff side forum and the workforce group to develop more 
robust communications and engagement arrangements for grassroots staff. 

 
Public / External 
Thinking about our external audiences, there is a balance to be struck between sharing 
and engaging in the overarching vision and strategic objectives for the system and 
being pro-active in areas where more specific detailed plans for service change are 
emerging and where there are meaningful opportunities for people to be involved. Key 
activities include the following: 

 
• Development of core high level public narrative content that sets out the 

Healthier Together case for change, vision and our key priorities. 
• Regular input to key local authority fora – Health & Wellbeing Boards and Health 

Scrutiny committees – A joint HOSC has now been established to deal with the 
system-wide work within the STP. 

• Significant public engagement in co-design of service models as part of the 
Healthy Weston programme.  

• Patient / public engagement in specific care pathway work. 
• Establishment of a “test” cohort of Healthcare Change-makers – a group of 

expert patients trained and supported to participate in healthcare change and 
advocacy of the patient perspective. 

• A website (currently being overhauled) and social media accounts. 

We want to build quickly on this activity moving forward and are planning to establish a 
citizens panel – a large sample group of population representatives who would be have 
much more in-depth involvement in both understanding our population’s health & care 
needs and preferences and in properly co-producing service changes. Alongside this 
we are developing our Healthier Together communications & engagement strategy that 
will help us to increase alignment and our collective effectiveness in this agenda. 

 
8. Conclusion 
 
The Healthier Together partnership continues to progress and strengthen our 
collaborative working arrangements and these are already helping us to deliver 
meaningful improvements in the care and services we provide for local people. 
 
The event on the 21st June marks a key milestone in the development of the 
partnership and its programmes of work. The event is a “call to action” which will see 
us strengthen ownership of our vision and priorities and enable a step change in 
establishing clear focus and engagement in the work programme for the next phase of 
our transformation journey. 
 
 
 

Page 32



9. Recommendations 
 
The Board is asked to note the report and consider how it will support the work of the 
partnership in the next phase. 

 

Page 33



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Stakeholder  Engagement  arrangements 

Governance Structure   
(Sponsoring Board approved  
26 March 2018) 

STP  Executive Group 

Healthier Together 
STP Sponsoring Board 

1 

**Digital 
Transformation 
Steering group 

*Workforce 
Transformation 
steering group 

Health & Wellbeing 
Boards / OSCs 

NHS Regulators 

Clinical cabinet 

System 
delivery 

Oversight 
gro p 

Acute care 
collaboration 

steering 
 

North 
Somerset 

sustainability 
B d 

Integrated 
care 

steering 
 

Chairs Reference 
Group 

Specialised 
services 
steering 

 

BNSSG Organisations’ 
Boards 

Legend: 
       Reporting / accountability 
        Inform / advise 
 *     Includes LWAB 
 **  Includes connecting care 
board 

System 
productivity 

steering 
 

Urgent Care 
Steering 
Group 
(UCOB) 

The STP-wide governance infrastructure (shown 
below) will allow partner organisations to work 
together to extend our collaborative working and 
decision making across the whole STP footprint. 

Appendix 1 

P
age 34



 

Appendix 2 

P
age 35



Healthier Together BNSSG Sustainability & Transformation Partnership 

Progress overview against our 2016 Plan on a page 

Progress since June’16 Now working on…. 
 

Prevention & Early Intervention 
 
Strong and integrated public health leadership 
across BNSSG has enabled production of a 
consolidated public needs assessment across the 
local authorities to inform STP Planning 
 
Draft BNSSG wide prevention plan produced 
highlighting priorities around key risk areas: alcohol; 
obesity; physical activity; tobacco control and 
mental wellbeing. The needs assessment highlights 
worse than England average outcomes for BNSSG in 
areas like suicide; mental illness incidence in Bristol; 
rates of cardio vascular disease and stroke 
mortality; smoking rates in children and new 
mothers.  These priorities are incorporated into 
other work programmes within integrated and 
acute care (see below). 
 
Making Every Contact Count (MECC) and mental 
health first aid training being rolled out to frontline 
staff. 
 
Specific inclusion of additional prevention elements 
into new care pathway redesign work including 
musculoskeletal (MSK), diabetes and stroke 

Procuring a full population segmentation analysis 
for BNSSG that will inform future capacity and 
service planning to meet projected demand from 
key population segments. 
 
Finalising the prevention plan by end of June, which 
will include an implementation plan. 
 
Implementation ambition is focussed understanding 
that prevention is everybody’s business and all 
frontline staff have a role to play in influencing and 
supporting behaviour change in individuals and 
communities through a variety of means. We are 
making links to social prescribing approaches, 
Making Every Contact Count, mental health first aid 
training and wider 3rd sector activities to begin 
building support and behaviour change capability. 
This is also being linked into the STP workforce 
programme. 
 
Prevention and early intervention work is being 
integrated into the design of our new integrated 
model of care at the start. 
 

Integrated Primary and Community Care (Now integrated care) 
 
Clinically led system wide care pathway redesign to a 
create consistent best practice offer across BNSSG. 
Using RighCare and  “get it right first time” (GIRFT) 
national service improvement programmes to inform 
local improvement opportunities.  
Completed pathway design in: 

• Musculoskeletal (MSK) 
• Stroke 
• Diabetes 
• Respiratory 
• Frailty 

Completed clinically led design work for multi-
disciplinary team (MDT) and cluster based working. 
This has formed the preferred model for the new 
integrated care approach in South Gloucestershire. 

 
Building on the clinically-led multi-disciplinary team 
(MDT) cluster working model, we have established a 

Developing business cases to enable 
implementation of MSK and stroke 
pathways.  Frailty, diabetes and respiratory will be 
incorporated into the locally integrated 
community services (LICS) model in phase three.  
 
Once established, LICS will be in a position to 
develop integrated care models with the acute 
sector as locally appropriate. Through the Healthy 
Weston work we are developing a high level 
BNSSG framework for integrated care to inform 
LICS development and as a forerunner of vertical 
integration at locality level. Through the Acute 
Care Collaboration Steering Group we are starting 
to clarify the focus for local general hospital 
services within the overall acute portfolio (see 
below).  

 

Page 36



three-phased primary care enhanced services 
incentive scheme (Locality Transformation Scheme - 
LTS) to enable development of GP-led local Integrated 
care services in six localities, built around natural 
populations across BNSSG.  First step, now complete, 
was to support general practice to work at scale in 
networks of practices at locality level.  Second phase, 
now in local planning stage, is to enable locality 
networks to provide improved access across 7 days, 
working with their community, mental health and 
social care partners and responding to specific 
population needs.  Third phase will be to develop 
population-driven priority plans, focused on locally 
appropriate targeted populations and underpinned by 
a 'provider alliance' in each of the localities.  Work is 
ongoing to identify services to be delivered pan-
locality or across BNSSG, which will also be 
incorporated in the new BNSSG community services 
procurement.  
 
Mental Health forms a fundamental element of Local 
Integrated Care Services with Avon & Wiltshire 
Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) a core partner in the 
provider alliance at locality level. The STP is 
supporting AWP's transformation programme and 
working with our local authority partners to develop a 
mental health strategy, building on local work to 
deliver the 'Thrive' model, which has been adopted by 
all three councils. 
 
Established a BNSSG-wide Integrated Care Steering 
Group within the STP architecture. The group is made 
up of GP locality leads and system providers and has 
primary responsibility to oversee development of the 
high level BNSSG locality integrated care model. 

 
Completion of extended scope NHS 111 and GP out of 
hours procurement to better support urgent care 
demand 

 
Working to complete a model for an integrated 
care bureau which will support an “air traffic 
control” –like oversight of system demand and 
capacity management, focussing first on improved 
admission avoidance and early discharge planning, 
but then extending 

 
 

Acute Care Collaboration 
 
Weston successful A&E temporary overnight closure 
to mitigate clinical service vulnerabilities 

 
UHBristol/Weston partnership development, 
strengthening Weston senior management team 
and in-depth data analysis to inform strategic 
service solution design for future acute service 
provision as part of the Healthy Weston 
Programme. 
 
Significantly strengthened system working and 
resilience within urgent care. Retained local control 

Working towards pre-consultation business case 
development and consultation on proposed Weston 
system change proposals. 
 
Commencing work to design a single model of 
maternity care for BNSSG, underpinned by a 
significant digital development programme to 
support patient flow and choice, and improve 
safety. 

 
Urgent care strategy development in response to 
one of the biggest challenges in our system 

Page 37



over winter despite immense pressures on the 
system, completed review of 2017/18 winter, and 
plans now coming into place for 2018/19 winter.  
Developed a NBT urgent care recovery plan and now 
completing a system wide version.  Strong focus on 
reducing delays throughout the system, including 
working with Newton Europe who have performed 
an in-depth diagnostic review of transfer delays for 
Bristol residents. 
 
Developed a Maternity services plan in response to 
better births and working to develop a proposal for 
a networked BNSSG maternity service. 
 
Successfully bid for capital funds to enable estates 
rationalisation for our secondary mental health 
services provider Avon & Wiltshire Partnership NHS 
Trust.  Key local partners are in discussion with NHS 
England about the potential public consultation 
required to support this. 
 

 
Further developing system-wide acute strategy to 
enable further collaboration and networking of 
services, supported by robust analysis and evidence 
base.  The strategy will aim to embrace both local 
general hospital services and regional specialised 
services as key planks in STP development. 

 
Working with NHS England to define and implement 
local leadership of specialised services 
commissioning. 

Enabling work streams 
 

Workforce 
 

Established dedicated STP workforce programme 
team including  a workforce planner  

 
Developed workforce vision and early goals with 
system partners as part of a wider strategy 
development process 

 
Completed a mental health workforce plan 

 
Rolling out Calderdale  and WRaPT tool training to 
support partner organisation workforce planning 
and redesign 

 
Successfully taken on from HEE at STP level core 
workforce education and training function 

 
Successfully streamlined a number of HR processes  
across system partners through introduction of a 
recruitment passport and a statutory & mandatory 
training passport 

 
Established  a neutral contractor scheme for 
managing agency nurse staffing requirements 

 
First phase of an STP leadership programme foe CEs 
completed 

In line with strategic goal now undertaking a 
detailed nursing workforce gap analysis to support 
forward planning. 

 
Developing a system dashboard of workforce 
metrics to support both short and medium term 
action planning. 
 
Developing implementation plans around the 3 key 
workforce goals 
 
Implementation of mental health workforce plan 
 
Supporting primary care workforce development 
with next generation GP and practice manager 
development programmes 
 
working on workforce design to support Healthy 
Weston proposals development. 
 
Scoping work to establish a BNSSG wide Training 
Academy that will provide a system wide 
consolidated education & Training function 
 
Further rollout and extension of staff passport 

 
Commencing phase two of the system  leadership 
development programme running May to Feb 19. 

Page 38



 
Digital Transformation 

 
Established and begun rollout of Connecting Care 
programme 

 
UHB identified as Global Digital exemplar site 

 
Next stage digital transformation strategic plan – 
Building on Success completed 

 
We have all GP practices and x3 CiCs on the same 
information platform (EMIS) with some data sharing 
agreements in place 

 
 

Continuing extension and rollout of Connecting care 
 

Connecting Care Board revised to become STP 
Digital Transformation steering group 

 
Progressing implementation plans to support 
delivery of “Building on Success 

 
Worked with 5 other STP areas to lead co-ordination 
of a by invitation proposal to NHS Digital for LaHCRE 
funding. 
Supporting progress of our population health 
analytics function with development of a BNSSG 
population dataset. 

 
Estates 

Supported by Nuffield Trust to begin developing a 
high level estates strategy 
In-depth mapping of estates and its utilisation using 
the SHAPE tool, providing good insight into estate 
improvement opportunities 
 

Further development of medium term actions 
informed by the work completed to date 
System-wide process to work up capital proposals, 
underpinned by a full system-level capital 
programme 

 

 

Page 39



1 
 

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board 

Forward Plan 2018/19  

(V1 as at 12 June 2018) 

20 June 18: Agenda Items 
Chair TBC (Marvin not available) 

Purpose Lead Person  Organisation 

HWB ToR and ways of working 
 

For final sign off Sue Milner, DPH BCC 

JSNA, Annual Report and proposed work 
programme (inc refreshed ToR) 

For information and approval of 
work programme and refreshed ToR 

Sue Milner,DPH BCC 

Development of Health Theme for the One City 
Plan 
 

Update on work completed so far 
and determination of next steps 

Chair, Marvin Rees BCC 

Director of Public Health Annual Report For information only. 
 

  

Standing items: 
 

   

Healthier Together (STP) Verbal update Julia Ross, CEO 
Robert Woolley 

BNSSG CCG 
UHB FT 

Forward Plan 
 

For confirmation All  

22 August 18: Agenda items 
Chair Alison Bolam 

   

SEND Action Plan Sign off Sue Rodgers, Director 
of Education and Nakita 
Singh 

BCC 

    
Thrive Progress Report 
 

To update the Board on the 
implementation of the Thrive 
Programme 

TBC Chair of Thrive 
Board 

TBC 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 9



2 
 

 
Suicide Prevention and Response Strategy For sign off Sue Milner, DPH BCC 
    
    
Standing items:    
Healthier Together (STP)  Verbal update 

 
Julia Ross, CEO 
Robert Woolley, CEO 
 

BNSSG CCG 
UHB FT 

One City Plan HealthTheme tbc Sue Milner, DPH BCC 
 

Forward Plan For confirmation All  
    
24 October 18: Agenda items 
Chair Marvin Rees 

   

    
Alcohol Strategy Steering Group – Annual 
Report 
 

To update the Board on Progress in 
delivering theAlcohol Strategy 

TBC Chair of Steering 
Group 

TBC 

CYP Emotional Health Transformation Plan 
Refresh  
 

For sign off Rebecca Cross  

    
Standing items:    
Healthier Together (STP)  Verbal update 

 
Julia Ross, CEO 
Robert Woolley, CEO 
 

BNSSG CCG 
UHB FT 

One City Plan HealthTheme tbc Sue Milner, DPH BCC 
 

Forward Plan 
 
 

 All  

P
age 41



3 
 

12 December 18: Agenda items 
Chair Alison Bolam 

   

Healthy Weight Steering Group Annual Report To update the Board on Progress in 
tacking the obesogenic environment 
 

TBC Chair of the 
Steering Group 

TBC 

    
Standing items:    
Healthier Together (STP)  Verbal update 

 
Julia Ross 
Robert Woolley 
 

BNSSG CCG 
UHB FT 

One City Plan HealthTheme tbc Director of Public Health BCC 
 

Forward Plan 
 

For confirmation All  

27th February 19: Agenda items 
Chair Marvin Rees 

   

    
    
    
    
Standing items: 
 

   

Healthier Together (STP)  Verbal update 
 

Julia Ross 
Robert Woolley 
 

BNSSG CCG 
UHB FT 

One City Plan HealthTheme tbc Director of Public Health BCC 
 

Forward Plan 
 

For confirmation All  

 

P
age 42



Best Start in Life: 
  Laying the foundations for healthier futures

Director of Public Health Annual Report  |  City of Bristol 2017/18

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 10



2

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

CONTENTS

Introduction 3
Executive summary 4
2017/18 Key Recommendations 5
Section 1  Demography of 0-5 year olds in Bristol 6
Section 2  Supporting Pregnancy and Infancy 12

2.1  Maternity - What does Bristol data show us? 13
2.2  National recommendations for maternity services 15
2.3  What are our current maternity services in Bristol? 16
2.4   Recommendations for improving maternity services in Bristol – 

what more can we do?
17

2.5   Improving health outcomes for infants and mothers in Bristol 
- Maternal Obesity / Smoking in Pregnancy / Breastfeeding / 
Perinatal Mental Health

18

Section 3  Supporting Early Years Education and Health 30
3.1  Supporting early development – what does Bristol data show us? 31
3.2  National recommendations for early development 34
3.3  How are we supporting early development in Bristol? 35
3.4   Recommendations for improving early development in Bristol – 

what more can we do?
39

Section 4  Supporting Parents and Improving Outcomes 40
4.1  Supporting parents – what does Bristol data show us? 40
4.2  National recommendations for supporting parents 42
4.3  How do we support parents in Bristol? 43
4.4   Recommendations for improving support to Parents in Bristol – 

what more can we do?
45

4.5   Improving child health outcomes in Bristol - Vaccination Uptake 
/ Childhood obesity / Oral health / Childhood injury

46

Section 5  Building Resilience and Wellbeing 64
5.1    Building resilience and wellbeing – what does Bristol data show us? 66
5.2   National recommendations for building resilience and wellbeing 

in Bristol 
68

5.3  How are we building resilience and wellbeing in Bristol? 69
5.4   Recommendations for building resilience and wellbeing in 

Bristol – what more can we do?
72

Section 6  Review of 2016 Recommendations 74
List of Figures 76
References 77

P
age 44



3

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

It gives me great pleasure to introduce my 
Director of Public Health Annual Report for 2017/18.

INTRODUCTION

This year my report focuses on the health and wellbeing of children aged 0-5 years old. I believe that if we are really 
going to reduce health inequalities across our city, we must take collective action to improve health and wellbeing in the 
early years of life and concentrate our efforts on the most vulnerable and powerless in society.

Marmot stated in his 2010 report, ‘Fair Society, 
Healthy Lives’, that: ‘giving every child the best 
start in life is crucial to reducing health inequalities 
across the life course.’

The report paints the local picture of child and 
maternal health. It compares the health of young 
children in Bristol to the England average and to 
other similar communities and where possible 
between wards across the city. It highlights the 
latest evidence of what works best to improve the 
health and wellbeing of this age group, in particular 
the research evidence set out in the Marmot 
Report and the Royal College of Paediatrics and 
Child Health, ‘State of Child Health’ Report.

It describes what services and interventions 
are currently in place and what more we could 
be doing together to improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes. 

Section one provides the demographic overview 
of 0-5 year olds in Bristol and helps to give an 
understanding of the different characteristics 
of the population of 0-5 year olds. This will help 
inform local organisations and communities about 
current and future health needs for this age group 
and help them provide or commission services to 
address them.

Sections two to five explore a number of key 
themes important to improving health and 
wellbeing including: pregnancy and infant health; 
early years education and health; parenting and 
resilience and wellbeing. Each section sets out 
why the theme is important to promoting health 
and wellbeing and compares the evidence of what 
works and national standards to what is currently 
provided in Bristol. Specific recommendations are 
set out at the end of each section for what more 
we need to be doing.

Section Six reports on progress made against the 
recommendations from my last year’s Director of 
Public Health Report 2016, ‘Living Well – the Case 
for Prevention’. 

Finally, having reviewed the current picture of the 
health of children 0-5 years, I set out a number 
of recommendations for partners to consider 
across the city. I believe that if we address these 
challenges, not only will we improve the health and 
wellbeing of children in Bristol in the short term 
but we will narrow the gap in health outcomes 
between different groups and communities in the 
longer term. This will help make Bristol a fairer and 
more equal city in which to live.

 

 
Becky Pollard 
Director of Public Health, 
Bristol City Council

P
age 45



4

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The population of under-fives is not evenly spread across the city as it ranges from 1% to 15%. Almost 25% of under-
fives live in low income households, but this rises to more than 50% in some areas. On average 29% of under-fives are 
from a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic background, however the distribution varies considerably across the city. 
There is a lack of robust data on the number of children who are disabled.

Mothers in Bristol tend to be older than average 
and fertility rates vary four-fold across the city, 
there is a low fertility rate in the under 30’s but it is 
very high in the over 35’s.

The midwifery services support women and 
their partners during pregnancy, birth and early 
parenthood. Mothers and babies who have 
medical conditions or complications are also 
supported by obsetricians. There is a new specialist 
community perinatal mental health service, to meet 
the needs of mothers with mental health issues. 

Outcomes for mothers and babies include: over 
99% of women are seen by week 12 of their 
pregnancy; maternal obesity is an issue for about 
20% of pregnant women; 10% of mothers reported 
that they were still smoking when the baby is born 
and this is linked to inequalities as 2% of mothers 
smoke in the affluent areas and around 18% in the 
most deprived areas, with teenage mothers three 

times more likely to smoke; breastfeeding initiation 
rates in Bristol are very good however inequalities 
remain; and the percentage of low birth weight 
babies is the same as the national average. 

Quality Early Years provision is good for all children 
and it has a disproportionately positive impact on 
the development of disadvantaged children. It can 
help to address inequalities in life chances. Bristol 
has an integrated system of early education, health 
and family support with a clear vision: to improve 
outcomes for children and families, particularly 
the most vulnerable, reduce disadvantage and rise 
aspiration. 

Outcomes for children’s development include:  
the percentage of children recorded as having a 
good level of development at the end of reception 
is significantly lower in Bristol than in England, 
but Bristol is average when compared to similar 
local authorities. There are significant inequalities 

in school readiness in Bristol as Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic children are less likely to achieve 
a good level of development, as are children 
from poorer backgrounds and those with Special 
Educational Needs. Boys are less likely to have a 
good level of development than girls, but much 
work is being done to address this. 

The Healthy Child Programme is core to the health 
visitor role and sets out the schedule for services 
covering care from 28 weeks of pregnancy through 
to age five. This programme is led by health visitors 
in collaboration with other health professionals 
and Children’s Centres. The Integrated Health 
Check reviews children aged two to two-and-a-
half-years old. This helps build a coherent picture 
of the child and enables Health Visitors, Early 
Years Practitioners, Community Nursery Nurses 
and families to share information about the child’s 
development.

Bristol has a large population of under-fives and after 
years of growth the rate of increase is now levelling off.

P
age 46



5

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Supporting parents is essential for childhood 
development. Parenting support is provided across 
Bristol by many organisations and parents in areas 
of deprivation can access extra support if they 
need it. 

Improving the health of children is also supported 
by: immunisation, tackling obesity in children, 
improving oral health, and reducing unintentional 
injuries. 

Immunisation is the most effective public health 
intervention in the world for saving lives and 
promoting good health. Outcomes for the 
immunisation programme are that overall coverage 
of infant vaccination in Bristol is good, and the 
coverage with seasonal flu vaccination is higher in 
Bristol than nationally. The percentage of children 
receiving two doses of Measles, Mumps and 
Rubella is similar to the national average; however 
it is still a challenge to reach the national targets. 
Over the past few years Public Health England and 
partner organisations have put a lot of work into 
improving the vaccination rate.

Tackling obesity is a priority for Bristol Health and 
Wellbeing Board and for the Bristol Children and 
Families Partnership Board. In 2015/16, over a fifth 
of reception children in Bristol were recorded as 
overweight or obese. There is a higher prevalence 
of excess weight in four to five year-olds in areas 
of greater deprivation; the range is from 10% in 
Clifton Down to 32% in Hartcliffe & Withywood. 
A Bristol Healthy Weight Strategy is being 
developed to address this.

In Bristol, 15% of three year olds have dental decay 
and 29% of five-year-olds have some types of 
dental disease which is similar to national figures. 
Rates of treatment for tooth decay are higher in 
areas of deprivation. 

Unintentional injuries are one of the main causes 
of premature death and illness for children in 
England. In Bristol, where rates are significantly 
higher than the average for England, the most 
common reason for hospital admissions for injuries 
in the under-fives is falls, followed by burns. Health 
Visitors and Children’s Centres work collaboratively 
in preventing injuries.  

Building resilience and wellbeing in young children 
across the social gradient is one of the most 
important ways of ensuring that all children have 
the best start in life. The most deprived areas 
experience significantly higher rates of risk factors 
for poor mental health in children than the Bristol 
average. These risk factors are known as Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and cover domestic 
violence and abuse, parental substance misuse 
and parental anxiety or depression. During early 
years children’s mental ill health can be detected 
through the development checks and may also be 
picked up by staff in Early Years settings. Midwifery, 
health visiting, Early Years settings and the 
voluntary sector work with parents to support the 
development of close and loving relationships with 
their infants and young children.

2017/18 Key Recommendations

l   For key statutory bodies to continue to invest 
in good quality universal Early Years services, 
specifically Children’s Centres and health 
visiting and provide targeted support for those 
in greatest need.

l   For service providers and commissioners to 
continue to strengthen the integration of 
Early Years Services for education, health and 
family support.

l   For service providers and commissioners 
to support high quality data collection 
systems to monitor children’s health and 
wellbeing outcomes including maternity 
outcomes, perinatal mental health outcomes, 
breastfeeding, smoking in pregnancy and 
immunisation uptake rates; to ensure health 
visitor data is recorded electronically (including 
the Ages and Stages Questionnaire-3 data 
from the two year check). 

l   For Bristol City Council and its partners to 
ensure children and their families have access 
to the Bristol Behaviour Change for Healthier 
Lifestyles programme to help promote healthy 
lifestyles and reduce inequalities (including 
weight management, support to stop 
smoking, emotional health and wellbeing and 
substance misuse advice).  

l   For the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
partners to promote the application of the 
‘Adverse Childhood Experiences’ to the Bristol 
child population, as part of the city-wide 
‘Thrive’ mental wellbeing programme.

P
age 47



6

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

CHAPTER
1
DEMOGRAPHY OF 0-5 YEAR OLDS IN BRISTOL

An understanding of the characteristics of the population of 0-5 year olds in Bristol can be drawn from statistics and 
maps. This helps the services in the city identify their current and future needs and better support their development.

Key Facts
l Bristol has a large population of under 5s

l  The under 5s population is not evenly 
spread across the city and is higher in 
more deprived areas

l  The under 5s population has grown 
significantly recently but is now levelling off

l  Almost 1 in 4 under 5s live in low income 
households, but in some areas of Bristol 
the percentage is higher than 50%

l  29% of under 5s are from a Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic background, but this 
varies considerably across the city

l  Sharp rise in number of births until 
recently, but now births are leveling

l  Bristol has a higher than average 
proportion of older mothers

l  Fertility rates vary 4- fold across the city

Bristol is the 10th largest local authority in England with a population of around 454,000 (ONS mid-year 
estimate 2016).  Bristol has a younger population compared to England and has one of the lowest age 
profiles in England (see Figure 1).

01-04
Under 1

05-09
10-14
15-19
20-24
25-29
30-34
35-39
40-44
45-49
50-54
55-59
60-64
65-69
70-74
75-79
80-84
85-89
90+

Male Female England

FIG 1

Fig 1:    Bristol’s age profile compared 
to England (mid 2016). Source: 
Office for National Statistics.  

P
age 48



7

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

There are an estimated 30,600 children aged 
under five living in Bristol (ONS mid-year estimate 
2016), giving Bristol the 6th largest population of 
under-fives in England, but this is not evenly spread 
across the city (Lower Clifton Hill LSOA in Clifton 
ward has a small under-fives population of only 
1% of the population, whereas St Philips LSOA 
in Lawrence Hill ward is 15%). The proportion of 
under-fives tends to be higher in areas of higher 
deprivation (see Figure 2).

Fig 2:    Proportion of population aged under 5 
years in Bristol. Source: Office for 
National Statistics. 

FIG 2

1.1% - 4.9%

5% - 6.4%

6.5% - 7.4%

7.5% - 8.5%

8.6% - 15.2%

% of population aged
under 5 years

P
age 49



8

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

The number of births in Bristol grew considerably between 2006 and 2012, but these have since fallen 
slightly and have been stable for the past three years. The number of under-fives in Bristol grew by 29% 
between 2006 and 2014, and has also fallen slightly in the last few years (see Figure 3). 

Fig 3:    Trends in the number of Under 5s in Bristol. 
Source: Office for National Statistics.  

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

35000

30000

25000

20000

15000

10000

5000

0

FIG 3

P
age 50



9

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

2014-based population projections suggested 
that the under fives population will continue to 
grow slowly and is expected to be around 35,500 
by 2039, 16% higher than the current population. 
Given that the under-fives population has actually 
fallen in the last three years it is not clear that this 
projection is still likely and caution needs to be 
taken when dealing with population projections 
(they are based on purely “projecting” the birth 
trend forward from 2014).

Almost 7,100 children aged under five years (23%) 
live in low income households in Bristol. In 15 small 
areas in Bristol more than half of under-fives live in 
low income households (see Figure 4).

Fig 4:    Percentage of Under 5s living in low 
income households in Bristol. 
Source: HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC).  0% - 7.3%

7.4% - 17.9%

18.0% - 30.9%

31.0% - 45.1%

45.2% - 83.3%

% of under 5’s living in a
low income household

FIG 4

P
age 51



10

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

According to the 2011 Census the Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic group (BAME) - all groups with 
the exception of White, make up 16% of the total 
population in Bristol, similar to England level of 
around 15%.  In the under-fives the percentage is 
29%, higher than the England level of 24%. Within 
Bristol this percentage varies considerably, ranging 
from 4.2% of under-fives belonging to a BAME 
group in Whitchurch Park, to 85% in Barton Hill 
(see Figure 5).

Fig 5:    Map of Under 5s BAME in Bristol. 
Source: 2011 Census, Office for 
National Statistics.   

4.2% – 20.8%

20.9% – 36.8%

36.9% – 57.8%

57.9% – 86%

FIG 5

% of under 5’s who are from
a BAME background

P
age 52



11

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

In 2016 there were 6,400 live births in Bristol, 
higher than previous year (Office for National 
Statistics). This equates to a rate of 59.0 live births 
per 1,000 women aged 15-44 (this is called the 
general fertility rate); lower than the England 
average of 62.3. The general fertility is about 
average when compared to core cities.  Bristol 
has a much higher fertility rate in over 35 year old 
women compared to England and other core cities 
but a much lower rate in the under 30s. Within 
Bristol, fertility rates vary considerably, ranging 
from 20 births per 1,000 women aged 15-44 in 
Central and Clifton to 90 births per 1,000 women 
aged 15-44 in Hartcliffe and Withywood 
(see Figure 6).

Fig 6:    Figure 6: Births per 1,000 women aged 15-
44 years (general fertility rate), 2013-2015.   
Source: Public Health Knowledge Service, 
Bristol City Council.  

Disability

According to the 2011 Census there were 3,250 
children aged under 16 years in Bristol with a 
“limiting long-term illness or disability”, or 4.1% 
of the child population.  Corresponding data for 
under 5 year olds is not available.

FIG 6

20.2 – 38.9

39.0 – 64.6

64.7 – 73.1

73.2 – 79.1

79.2 – 90.0

From   To

General fertility rate

P
age 53



12

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life2
SUPPORTING PREGNANCY AND INFANCY

In order to give every child the best start in life, 
Marmot recommends policy to:
l  “ensure high quality maternity services to meet 

need across the social gradient” 

l  “give priority to pre- and post-natal interventions 
that reduce adverse outcomes of pregnancy and 
infancy” (Marmot 2010).

Maternal physical and emotional health and 
wellbeing during pregnancy and the year after 
childbirth (perinatal period) has a profound 
impact on the health of children throughout their 
lives (RCPCH 2017). By improving maternity care 
(NHSE 2016), reducing maternal obesity, reducing 
smoking, increasing breastfeeding rates, and 
improving perinatal mental health there is potential 
to considerably improve outcomes for mothers 
and infants (RCPCH 2017).

Key points

l Maternal mortality has declined nationally.

l  Infant mortality rates are high in the UK 
compared to other high income countries.  
Bristol used to be better than, but is now similar 
to, the England average.

l  The percentage of babies born with low birth 
weight is generally in line with the national 
average, but needs monitoring as an increase 
was observed in the last year.

l  Bristol ensures that women are seen early 
in pregnancy by the midwifery service. Early 
booking with a midwife improves outcomes. 
Bristol ensures that 99.9% of women are seen 
early in pregnancy by the Midwifery Service.

P
age 54



13

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

2.1 Maternity – What does Bristol data show us?
Ensuring that parents have access to support 
during pregnancy is particularly important. National 
guidelines (NICE 2017, NICE 2015a, NHS England 
2016) highlight the need for

l  A strong midwifery workforce that provides 
the infrastructure to support women and their 
partners during pregnancy, birth and early 
parenthood.

l  Delivery of services that avoid unnecessary 
intervention.

l  Ensuring that those women who do, or may, 
require intervention are signposted at an early 
stage to specialist care (Marmot 2010).

Maternal mortality in the UK has reduced from 
14 deaths per 100,000 maternities in 2003/05 
to 9 deaths per 100,000 maternities in 2011/13 
(MMBRACE-UK 2016). Numbers are too small for 
comparisons with other areas or nationally.  

Early booking with maternity services improves 
outcomes for mothers and babies.  99.9% of 
Bristol women are seen by a midwife or maternity 
healthcare professional by the end of 12 weeks of 
pregnancy (2016-17, Source: SW Maternity Clinical 
Network). 

The Caesarean Section rate for women resident 
in Bristol is higher than the South West median 
(24.8%) at 26.2% (2016-17, Source: SW Maternity 
Clinical Network).

Low birth weight

Low birth weight refers to babies who are born 
at term (37-42 weeks) that have a birth weight 
below 2.5 kilogrammes. Low birth weight is 
often associated with socio-economic factors 
and poorer long-term health outcomes. Babies 
born at a low birth weight are more likely to need 
health, education and social care support during 
childhood (JSNA 2017) and are more likely to 
develop heart disease and diabetes. A baby with 
low birthweight is more likely to be born to a 
mother with poor health in pregnancy, for instance 
having raised blood pressure, multiple pregnancy, 
smoking, drinking, taking drugs, and if they have a 
congenital or developmental problem. In the latest 
time period (2015) Bristol had one of the highest 
rates of low birth weight in the South West at 
3.7% of births, and is significantly poorer than 
England (2.8%).  

Infant mortality

There has been some improvement in the stillbirth 
and neonatal mortality rates in England which fell 
by over 20% from 2003 to 2013 (NHS Outcomes 
Framework Indicator 2017).  However, rates in the 
UK continue to be amongst the highest of high 
income countries (RCPCH 2017).

In Bristol, there is a general downward trend in 
infant mortality rates as there has been nationally 
(see Figure 7). In 2009-2012 infant mortality rates 
in Bristol fell significantly compared to the England 
average, but have increased a little since then. 

Infant mortality and stillbirth rates are linked to a 
number of complex and often interrelated factors 
that include; poverty, obesity, mother’s age (under 
20 years or over 35 years), ethnicity, smoking and 
diabetes (type 1 or gestational).

Mothers with a history of a previous stillbirth and 
those who acquire infections are also at greater 
risk of losing their baby in pregnancy or infancy 
(HfP 2016). Babies who are born prematurely, 
multiple births and babies with a congenital 
abnormality are all at increased risk of dying. 

P
age 55



14

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

2001-03 2002-04 2003-05 2004-06     2005-07 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-13 2012-14     2013-15    2014-16

10

8

6

4

2

0

Bristol England

FIG 7

Fig 7:    Bristol infant mortality rate (deaths under 1 year per 1,000 live 
births) compared to the England average (2001 – 2015). 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework.  

P
age 56



15

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

2.2 National recommendations for maternity services

NICE has produced detailed guidance 
on reducing differences in update in 
immunisations (NICE 2009a) which includes 
the following recommendations:

l  “Saving Babies Lives” (NHS England 2016) 
has set out a national ambition to halve 
the rates of stillbirths by 2030, with a 20% 
reduction by 2020. 

l  The National Maternity Review (NHS 
England 2016) recommends seven key 
priorities for maternity services such as; 
personalised care, continuity of carer, 
improved perinatal mental health care, 
improved postnatal care, and safer care, a 
payment system with personal budgets, multi-
professional working and working across 
boundaries. 

l  NICE has produced clinical guidance for 
effective before, during and after birth care 
(NICE 2017, NICE 2014d, NICE 2015a).

Recommendations focused upon four areas 
which have been identified as ways that may 
lower stillbirth rates:

l   Reducing smoking rates.

l   Accurate clinical monitoring of growth.

l   Raising awareness of maternal reported fetal 
movement reduction (a key warning sign in 
half of late term stillborn deaths). 

l   Effective fetal heart rate monitoring in labour 
(HfP 2016).

20%

reduction of
stillbirths by 2020

P
age 57



16

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

2.3 What are our current maternity services in Bristol?
Maternity services

Maternity services are commissioned by Bristol 
Clinical Commissioning Group to deliver care to 
mother and baby before, during and after birth. 
There are two maternity providers in Bristol. 
Mothers can give birth at home, in a birth centre 
or in a Consultant-led unit. Other services include; 
fetal medicine, neonatal intensive care and access 
to donor breast milk via the Precious Drops 
Milk bank. 

Midwives

Midwives provide care for women before, during 
and after birth in hospital and community settings. 
They are the lead professional in the care of 
women at low risk of complications. They work in 
partnership with obstetricians to care for women 
at higher risk of complications. Their role also 
includes; screening, safeguarding, delivery of 
public health messages and providing antenatal 
preparation classes.    

Obstetricians

Obstetricians specialise in the care of mothers 
and babies who have medical conditions or 
complications. They provide care working with 
midwives and general practitioners.   They deliver 
babies who need an operative birth. 

General practitioners

Locally, general practitioners mainly provide care 
for women at ‘low risk’. At six to eight weeks general 
practitioners carry out the mother’s postnatal 
review, offer contraception and provide the eight 
week baby check and immunisations.  

Local Maternity System

A Local Maternity System has recently been 
established across the Bristol, North Somerset and 
South Gloucestershire area to drive an ambitious 
maternity transformation plan to implement the 
recommendations of ‘Better Births’ the National 
Maternity Review.

P
age 58



17

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

2.4  Recommendations for improving maternity services in Bristol – 
what more can we do?

Recommendations for 
improving maternity services 
in Bristol
l   Although there is a recent data collection 

through the South West Clinical Maternity 
Network, as yet there are few time 
trends and lack of national comparisons. 
It is recommended that there is on-going 
development of this set of indicators 
to support the local Maternity 
Transformation Plan. 

P
age 59



18

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

2.5 Improving health outcomes for infants and mothers in Bristol
Maternal obesity
Almost one in five women is obese at antenatal 
booking (i.e. has a Body Mass Index greater than 
or equal to 30). Obesity among women during 
pregnancy not only influences their health, but 
also increases the risk of complications during 
pregnancy and is likely to compromise the health 
of their children (NHS 2016) (Davies 2015):

l   For the mother – increased risk of miscarriage, 
stillbirth, gestational diabetes and perinatal 
complications.

l   For the baby – increased risk of metabolic 
and developmental abnormalities.

l   For the child – increased risk of obesity, diabetes 
and (high blood pressure).

Figure 8 shows the percentage of maternal 
obesity in Bristol. The average is 18.2% (SWCN 
2017), similar to England as a whole (19%). 
The percentage of pregnant women who are 
overweight (i.e. has a Body Mass Index greater 
than 25 but less than 30) is not routinely available.

Fig 8:    Percentage of pregnant women in Bristol who are obese at first booking. 
Source: South West Clinical Network Maternity Dashboard.   

Q01
2015/16

Q02
2015/16

Q03
2015/16

Q04
2015/16

Q01
2016/17

Q02
2016/17

Q03
2016/17

Q04
2016/17

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

BMI 40+

BMI 35-39.9

BMI 30-34.9

FIG 8

P
age 60



19

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Recommendations to reduce 
maternal obesity
l   Ensure the new Bristol Behaviour Change 

for Healthier Lifestyles Programme supports 
the needs of women before, during and after 
pregnancy.

l   Review provision of training offered to 
maternity services to support staff to advise 
about healthy weight. 

l   As part of the forthcoming Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment chapter on Physical 
Activity, review the provision of physical 
activity opportunities through leisure services 
for women with babies and young children.

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence has produced public health guidelines (NICE 
2010a) for weight management before, during and after pregnancy. Recommendations include:

l   Offer specific and practical advice around a 
healthy diet and physical activity: Dispel myths, 
for instance, advise that there is no need to 
“eat for two”. Advise eligible women on how 
to use Healthy Start vouchers to increase fruit 
and vegetable intake.

l    Offer women at booking, who have a Body 
Mass Index of 30 or more, a referral to an 
appropriately trained health professional for 
assessment.

l    Personalised advice on healthy eating and how 
to be physically active.

l    Encourage them to lose weight after 
pregnancy (dieting is not recommended during 
pregnancy).

l   Women with a body mass index of 30 or more 
at the six to eight-week postnatal check should 
be offered a referral for advice on healthy 
eating and physical activity, and structured 
weight-loss programme.

l   Local authority leisure and community services 
should offer the opportunity to take part in a 
range of physical or recreational activities that 
are affordable, and suitable for women with 
babies and older children, including provision 
for women who wish to breastfeed.

l   Ensure health professionals have the skills to 
advise on the benefits of weight management 
and risks of being overweight or obese before, 
during and after pregnancy.

What should we be doing to address maternal obesity in Bristol?

What are we doing to support maternal 
healthy weight?

l   Promoting healthy weight is a priority of the 
Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board.

l   A Great Weight Group has been set up to 
develop a city-wide system approach to healthy 
weight and to write a strategic plan. See: 
www.bristol.gov.uk/social-care-health/get-
involved-in-the-great-weight-debate 

l   Midwives currently weigh and measure all 
women at booking, and offer advice about 
healthy eating and physical activity in pregnancy.  

l   Healthy Start vitamins are promoted through the 
midwifery and health visiting service, and eligible 
women are encouraged to register for 
the scheme.

l   Health visiting teams currently receive healthy 
weight training however midwifery teams 
do not.

l   During pregnancy women can be referred to a 
local Weight Management on Referral service. For 
pregnant women, the service encourages weight 
maintenance through a healthy diet.

l   After pregnancy, Weight Management on Referral 
is accessed through the Bristol LiveWell Hub.

Livewell Bristol is the central place to access Health 
Improvement assistance – whether that is support 
to stop smoking, eating healthily, moving more or 
reducing alcohol use. Available from: 
www.bristol.gov.uk/web/live-well-bristol

From October 2018, the new Bristol Behaviour 
Change for Healthier Lifestyles Programme will be 
available to support healthy weight management for 
all women before, during and after pregnancy.

P
age 61



20

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Effects of smoking in pregnancy
Smoking is one of the most modifiable factors for 
improving infant health.

l   Babies who are exposed to maternal smoking 
are more likely to die in infancy, be born early, 
small or stillborn, experience reduced lung 
function and congenital abnormalities of the 
heart, limbs and face. 

l   It is thought that smoking during pregnancy 
causes around 2,200 preterm births, 5,000 
miscarriages and 300 perinatal deaths each 
year in the UK (RCPCH 2017). Smoking during 
pregnancy also increases the risk of Sudden 
Infant Death Syndrome, and a range of 
problems later in a child’s life, including obesity 
and asthma (RCPCH 2017).  

What does the Bristol data show us 
about smoking in pregnancy? 

Recent Bristol ‘smoking at time of delivery (self-
reported)’ data for 2016/17, shows that 691 
(11.2%) of Bristol mothers were still smoking at 
time of birth (see Figure 9).

This is an increase on the previous year. Bristol 
rates are higher (not significantly) than the England 
(10.7%). However, rates of smoking in pregnancy 
are higher than in many other European countries 
(RCPCH 2017). There are significant health 
inequalities in relation to smoking with around 
2% of mothers smoking in the affluent areas and 
around 18% in the most deprived areas with 
teenage mothers three times more likely to smoke. 

Local data shows that in 2016/17 the midwives 
referred 413 pregnant women to Stop Smoking 
Services; of these 59 (14%) set a quit date, 13 
women (22% of those who set a quit date) 
successfully quit at four weeks and 46 (78% of 
those who set a quit date) were lost to follow up.

Self-reported figures are higher: 30.4% of pregnant 
women in Bristol who set a quit date stated that 
they quit smoking (self-reported) as compared to 
45.4% in England (Digital NHS 2016).

Fig 9:    Percentage of mothers still smoking at the time of delivery 
Source: Public Health England and NHS Digital.   

Bristol England

16%

14%

12%

10%

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%
2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

FIG 9

P
age 62



21

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What should we be doing to reduce 
smoking in pregnancy?

What are we currently doing to reduce 
smoking in pregnancy in Bristol?

Bristol City has in place a multi-agency Tobacco 
Control Strategic Group, with a Smoking in 
Pregnancy Sub Group. 

The sub groups’ current action plan includes: 

l   Training is offered to some midwifery and health 
visiting staff on smoking key messages, briefing 
interventions and referral pathways. The training 
needs to reach all staff and will continue to be 
included in professional development training.

l   Smoking status is recorded at booking with 
maternity services. Smokers are asked about 
their smoking status at every appointment. 

l   Midwives record referrals to the LiveWell Bristol 
for stop smoking support.

Recommendations to reduce 
smoking in pregnancy in Bristol 
Continue to implement the multi-agency 
tobacco control action plan across the whole 
population with particular actions to support 
pregnant women:

l   Improve smoking data collection including at 
booking including use of carbon monoxide 
monitoring.

l   Continue to roll out training of midwifery 
and health visitor staff to support women 
who smoke.

l   Investigate the reasons for high loss to follow-
up from support to stop smoking services.

l   Extend the offer of support to stop smoking 
to partners and household members.

l   Target population groups with high smoking 
prevalence, using different models of delivery 
to respond to their needs.  

l   Work alongside local communities to 
communicate the risks of smoking during 
pregnancy and available support services.

l   Strengthen data collection, working 
consistently with national approaches by 
ensuring accurate recording of smoking 
status supplemented with carbon 
monoxide screening at a woman’s initial 
booking visit, and at regular intervals 
throughout pregnancy, including at 36 
weeks (RCPCH 2017).

l   Commissioners and service providers 
must ensure widespread implementation 
of the NICE Guideline, Smoking: Stopping 
in pregnancy and after childbirth, with a 
particular emphasis on routine carbon 
monoxide testing, training of health care 
staff and the setting of local targets to 
monitor implementation (RCPCH 2017).

l    Reinforce population-level efforts to 
reduce smoking, particularly amongst 
deprived populations. This will be the 
most effective way of reducing smoking in 
adults with dependent children. Reducing 
adolescent smoking is the most effective 
way of reducing smoking amongst the 
next generation of parents (RCPCH 2017).

P
age 63



22

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Breastfeeding
Breastfeeding is highly beneficial for infant and 
mother (RCPCH 2017).

The World Health Organisation and Public Health 
England recommend that babies are breastfed 
exclusively until six months and then continue 
alongside the introduction of appropriate weaning 
and family foods until the child is two years old and 
beyond if wished (WHO 2017).

Children who are breastfed are less likely to die in 
infancy. They also have lower rates of infections, 
fewer dental problems, and higher intelligence 
quotient. Growing evidence also suggests that 
breastfeeding might protect against overweight 
and diabetes. Breastfeeding benefits mothers and 
can reduce the risk of breast cancer and postnatal 
depression, improving birth spacing, and might 
reduce a woman’s risk of diabetes and ovarian 
cancer (Victora 2016).

What does the Bristol data tell us 
about breastfeeding?

l   Breastfeeding rates in Bristol are higher than 
the national average. 

l   Breastfeeding initiation rates in Bristol 
were 82.6% in 2016 (percentage initiating 
breastfeeding of all those due a check), higher 
than nationally (73%) and have increased by 
8% in the past 10 years (source: NHS England 
Information Centre).

l   64% of mothers were breastfeeding at six-eight 
weeks (of those whose breastfeeding status was 
known), compared to an England average of 
50%.

l   Initiation data used to be available for local 
analysis to the Public Health team when the 
department was within NHS but since Public 
health responsibilities transferred to the local 
authority it has no longer been possible to 
access data except at a Bristol level, so it is not 
possible to describe inequalities across the 
city. Partnership work to resolve this issue is 
ongoing.

l   Six to eight week check data on breastfeeding 
is currently incomplete and an action plan is 
in place to improve the completeness of this 
dataset.

P
age 64



23

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

 Inequalities remain, figure 10 shows that young 
mothers (aged under 25 years, but especially 
under 20), are less likely to breastfeed, as are 
white mothers, and women living in areas of 
disadvantage as shown in Figure 11 (JSNA chapter 
2017). Gypsies and Travellers are one of the groups 
least likely to start and continue to breastfeed 
(Condon and Salmon 2014). 

Fig 10:   Percentage of Bristol resident children (born 2015/16) receiving 
breast milk by the time of their 6 to 8 week check, by maternal age-
group (of children with a known feeding status recorded). 
Source: Bristol Child Health System.   

FIG 10

15-19yrs 20-24yrs 25-29yrs 30-34yrs 35-39yrs 40yrs+ Bristol
average

90%

80%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

22%

38%

53%

73% 77% 73%
64%

P
age 65



24

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

27.0% – 50.9%

51.0% – 64.9%

65.0% – 73.9%

74.0% – 85.9%

86.0% – 94.0%

FIG 11

Fig 11:    Breastfeeding Prevalence at 6 to 8 weeks 
after birth (as a % of infants born in 2015/16, 
whose breastfeeding status is known). 
Source: Bristol Child Health System.   

P
age 66



25

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What should we be doing to increase 
breastfeeding rates? 

What are we doing in Bristol to 
improve breastfeeding?

Baby friendly city 
Bristol became the first ‘Baby Friendly’ city in 
England and Wales in 2010. Bristol’s maternity 
services hold UNICEF UK Baby Friendly Initiative 
accreditation, including the neonatal intensive 
care units. Bristol’s health visiting service and 
Children’s Centres achieved accreditation in 2010 
as part of the community award, and were re-
accredited in 2012.

Extra support 
Public Health Bristol commissions a targeted 
breastfeeding support service that provides 
additional assistance before and after birth for 
women living in areas with low breastfeeding 
rates. This includes the training of peer supporters 
and providing breastfeeding counsellors to 
assist mothers with additional challenges in their 
communities through support groups.

The Bristol Breastfeeding Welcome Scheme 
facilitated by Public Health Bristol supports 
mothers when they are out and about in the 
community with their baby. Over 320 venues and 
First Bus participate in this scheme.  Recent local 
research suggests that it is welcomed by mothers 
(Johnson 2017). 

Recommendations for 
improving breastfeeding 
in Bristol
l   Ensure that breastfeeding initiation data 

is accessible for analysis by electoral ward, 
postcode, age and ethnicity to track progress 
and support the commissioning of services.

l   Commission services to ensure that targeted 
and universal breastfeeding support is 
available to mothers throughout their 
breastfeeding journey. 

l   Continue to encourage health visiting services 
and Children’s Centres to work towards 
re-accreditation of the UNICEF Baby 
Friendly Initiative. 

l   Encourage all services to work towards 
achieving the new UNICEF Baby Friendly 
Initiative ‘Gold Award’ and sustainability 
standards.

l   Continue to promote the Bristol 
Breastfeeding Welcome Scheme and increase 
the coverage of the scheme to include more 
venues in areas with low breastfeeding rates.

Key actions to promote breastfeeding 
include:

l   Ensure preservation of universal midwifery 
and health visiting services to all mothers 
(RCPCH 2017).

l   Maternity services should maintain UNICEF 
Baby Friendly Initiative Accreditation 
(RCPCH 2017).

l   The adoption of Baby Friendly Initiative 
standards is also recommended across 
health visiting services and Children’s 
Centres (PHE/UNICEF 2016).

l   Robust and comparable data should 
be collected measuring breastfeeding 
initiation, breastfeeding at six to eight 
weeks and at suitable intervals up to 12 
months of age (RCPCH 2017).

l   Local breastfeeding support should be 
planned and delivered to mothers in the 
form of evaluated, structured programmes, 
in line with NICE Postnatal Quality 
Statement 5: Breastfeeding (NICE 2013a).

l   Community support via Breastfeeding 
Welcome Schemes (PHE/UNICEF 2016).

l   Developing employer support for 
breastfeeding mothers (PHE/UNICEF 2016).

P
age 67



26

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Perinatal mental health
During pregnancy and in the year after birth 
women can be affected by a range of mental 
health problems, including anxiety, depression 
and postnatal psychotic disorders. These are 
collectively called perinatal mental illnesses 
(Hogg 2015). 

Early diagnosis, treatment and support are 
crucial in minimising the effects upon infants that 
can continue throughout their life (Hogg 2015). 
Nationally only half are diagnosed and only half of 
those getting the support and treatment that they 
need to make an early recovery (Bauer 2014). 

What does the Bristol data tell us 
about perinatal mental health?

In 2016 there were 6,400 maternities in Bristol 
(see section 1). Local data are not available on 
the number of women affected by mental health 
problems, but rates can be estimated from a 
national survey of perinatal psychiatric disorders as 
described in Figure 12. It is important to note that 
each of these conditions often do not happen in 
isolation, there can be secondary mental illnesses. 

Severe perinatal MH conditions Rates 
(per 1,000 maternities)

Estimated numbers in 
Bristol (2015)

Post-partum psychosis 2 per 1000 12

Chronic serious mental illness 2 per 1000 12
Severe depressive illness 30 per 1000 186

Mild / moderate depressive illness 
and anxiety states

100-150 per 1000 620-930

Post-traumatic stress and distress 150-300 per 1000 930-1860

Adjustment disorders and distress 150-300 per 1000 930-1860

Fig 12:    Rates of perinatal psychiatric disorder 
(per 1000 maternities) 2012. 
Source: Royal College of Psychiatrists.   

P
age 68



27

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What should we be doing to improve 
perinatal mental health?

NICE have recommended a range of 
interventions to improve maternal mental 
health (NICE 2014b):

l   At a pregnant woman’s first contact with 
services, ask about any past or present severe 
mental illness, previous or current treatment, 
and any severe postpartum mental illness in a 
first degree relative.

l   Refer all women who have, are suspected 
to have, or have a history of severe mental 
illness to a secondary mental health service 
(preferably a specialist perinatal mental health 
service).

l   Assess pregnant/postnatal women with a 
known or suspected mental health problem 
within two weeks of referral; provide 
psychological interventions within one month 
of initial assessment.

l   Focus on strengthening the mother-infant 
relationship where needed.

Marmot recommended that we should “give 
priority to pre-and post-natal interventions that 
reduce adverse outcomes of pregnancy and 
infancy”, and the Royal College of Paediatrics 
and Child Health (RCPCH 2017) highlighted the 
profound effect of maternal health and wellbeing 
on the health of children, recommending that we 
should “maximise women’s health before, during 
and after pregnancy”.

P
age 69



28

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What are we doing in Bristol to support Perinatal Mental Health? 

There are a variety of support services available 
to women in Bristol dependent upon need. A key 
challenge is to support the reduction of stigma 
associated with mental ill health and to ensure that 
women are identified and referred for appropriate 
treatment.

General practitioners 
General practitioners play a key role in identifying 
women who may be at risk of serious mental 
health exacerbation in pregnancy and provide 
community medical support for women in the 
perinatal period who are anxious or depressed.

Midwifery and health visiting services 
Staff in the midwifery and health visiting services 
identify risk factors, refer mothers for medical 
assessment/support, screen mothers for anxiety 
and depression, signpost mothers to support 
services and medical help.  Both maternity 
hospitals have a mental health team made up of 
an obstetrician and midwives/nurses with a special 
interest in maternal mental health.

Children’s Centres 
Children’s Centre staff also offer support for 
mothers with mental health issues. They host 
and run various groups to enhance emotional 
attachment. 

Voluntary and community 
Mothers for Mothers offers drop-in groups, a 
helpline, buddy support and low cost counselling. 
Bluebell offers a buddy system with home and 
telephone support and a 12-week structured 
programme for recovery based in three Children’s 
Centres. Bluebell Place, their newly opened drop-in 
facility in the centre of Bristol offers a programme 
of support and crèche facilities for women and 
their partners experiencing antenatal/postnatal 
anxiety and depression. 

Specialist community perinatal mental 
health service 
A new specialist community perinatal mental health 
service has recently been commissioned by the 
Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group. The team 
are responsible for mothers and babies with high 
need. They also provide information and support 
for other practitioners. 

New Horizon 
For those experiencing severe perinatal mental 
health problems, there is a four-bed in-patient 
service called New Horizon with more in-patient 
capacity. 

Perinatal Mental Health Protocol 
The Bristol Safeguarding Children Board has led 
the development of a Perinatal Mental Health 
Protocol to ensure there are clear care pathways to 
support women and families (BSB 2017). 

Recommendations for 
improving perinatal mental 
health in Bristol
l   Explore options for local data collection of 

the number of women affected by perinatal 
mental health problems and in need of 
perinatal mental health support to help 
monitor need and to inform service planning.

l   Support the implementation of the 
Perinatal Mental Health Protocol across all 
professional groups.

P
age 70



29

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Case study:  

The ‘Perinatal Positivity’ Campaign runs throughout 
antenatal clinics and Children’s Centres across Bristol to raise 

awareness of Perinatal Mental Health using posters, cards and 
information from women with lived experience.

The campaign operates in partnership with local services to help signpost 
mothers to available guidance and support within their community.

P
age 71



30

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life3
SUPPORTING EARLY YEARS EDUCATION AND HEALTH

Good quality early childhood education and care can help to address 
inequalities in life chances (Marmot 2010). Effective early year’s provision is 
good for all children but it has a disproportionately positive impact on the 
development of disadvantaged children.   

Marmot recommended an increase in the 
proportion of overall expenditure allocated to 
early years, focused progressively across the 
social gradient, to reduce inequalities in the 
early development of physical, emotional, health, 
cognitive, linguistic and social skills. 

Key points 

l   Bristol has 22 Children’s Centres, as part of an 
integrated Early Years’ Service. 

l   The take-up of government funded early years 
provision is high. 

l   Local programmes aim to promote quality 
early years provision including the Early Years 
Pupil Premium, Bristol Standard for Health 
supplement and Bristol City Council school 
transfer record.

l   Health visiting services have recently been 
recommissioned and provide specialist services 
to disadvantaged groups and an integrated 2 
year check with Early Years services.

l   Health visiting universal mandated checks are 
not currently all completed in Bristol. 

BRISTOL HAS 22 
CHILDREN’S 
CENTRES

P
age 72



31

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

3.1 Supporting early development – what does Bristol data show us?
School readiness is a key measure of early learning 
and development for children in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage. Information gathered from 
observational assessments informs the percentage 
of children judged to have reached a ‘Good Level 
of Development’ at the end of the Reception Year 
in Primary Schools. 68% of children  achieved  a 
good level of development in Bristol in 2017 which 
compares well with the core cities (see figure 13) 
although is below the England average.

Fig 13:    School Readiness: the percentage of children 
achieving a good level of development at the end 
of Reception compared to other Core Cities. 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework.  

FIG 13 - Revised

England

Newcastle upon Tyne

Sheffield

Bristol

Birmingham

Manchester

Nottingham

Leeds

Liverpool

55% 60% 65% 70% 75%

BRISTOL HAS 22 
CHILDREN’S 
CENTRES

P
age 73



32

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Fig 14:    Percentage of children in Bristol achieving a good level of 
development by area of learning (2013-2016). 
Source: Information & Analysis Team, Bristol City Council.  

FIG 14

2013 2014

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
2015 2016

Physical development
Personal, social and emotional development
Communication and Language
Maths
Literacy

There has been an increase in the percentage of 
children achieving a good level of development 
within Bristol (see Figure 14).

P
age 74



33

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Disadvantaged children

Although gaps in achievement between the most 
and least advantaged children are steadily closing 
at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage 
in Bristol, there remain significant inequalities in 
school readiness (see Figure15). 

Children from poorer backgrounds are at higher 
risk of poorer educational outcomes than their 
more advantaged peers and this gap can be seen 
very early in life. Although this figure is similar to 
the England average, (54%), only 53% of children 
eligible for free school meals achieved a Good 
Level of Development in 2016.

Those with Special Educational Needs are less likely 
to achieve a good level of development and boys 
are less likely to have a good level of development 
than girls.

Ages and Stages -3 Questionnaire

Health visitors measure development at the 
12 month and two year check (as part of the 
integrated two year check) using the Ages and 
Stages Questionnaire -3. This includes measures of 
communication, problem solving and personal and 
social development. Unfortunately, a full database 
of electronically recorded data from these checks 
in Bristol is not available for local analysis. 

Currently it is not possible to link the data collected 
at the two-year integrated check on development 
with the Early Years foundation stage profile data 
at the end of reception. If it was possible to link 
these two sets of data at child level, it would help 
to evidence the impact of interventions offered at 
age two and the outcome they have on children’s 
development at the end of reception.

School readiness is a key measure of development 
for five year olds. It measures the percentage 
of children judged to have reached a good level 
of development at the end of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage (age four to five years).  
The percentage of children recorded as having a 
good level of development at the end of reception 
(all prime areas of learning) is significantly lower in 
Bristol (66.3%) than in England (69.3%), however 
rates in Bristol are similar to other comparable 
local authorities (see Figure 13, 2015/16).

Fig 15:    The percentage gaps of disadvantaged 
learners (percentage difference in 
children achieving Good Level of 
Development at end of Early Years 
Foundation Stage) 2013 -2016. 
Source: Information & Analysis Team, 
Bristol City Council. 

2013 2014 2015 2016 Change

Ethnicity: BAME gap compared to non-
BAME children

10.6 11.0 9.1 8.2 2.4 

Free schools meal eligibility gap compared 
to those not eligible

19.9 18.9 17.8 17.0 2.9 

Living in most disadvantaged areas gap 
compared to living in other areas

18.3 14.2 14.2 12.6 5.7 

Special Education Needs compared to 
those without

42.6 42.9 50.0 44.5 1.9 

Gender gap (boys  compared to  girls) 14.0 14.8 13.5 14.8 0.8 

P
age 75



34

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

3.2 National recommendations for early development

The Marmot report recommends:

l   An increase in the proportion of overall 
expenditure allocated to Early Years, focused 
progressively across the social gradient, to 
reduce inequalities in the early development 
of physical, emotional, health, cognitive, 
linguistic and social skills.  Later interventions 
are considerably less effective if they have not 
had good early foundations (Waldfogel 2004).   

l   Provide routine support to families through 
Children’s Centres and key workers, delivered 
to meet social need by outreach to families.

l   Provide outreach to increase the take-up of 
early years services by children from 
disadvantaged families.

l   Provide early years services on the basis 
of evaluated models and to meet quality 
standards.

l    Develop programmes for the transition 
to school.

Provide quality Early Years education:

l    The requirements for  Early Years settings 
and schools are set out in the Statutory 
Framework for the Early Years Foundation 
Stage, which covers children from birth to age 
five (DfE 2014a). 

l   Ensure universal Early Years public health 
services (health visiting) are prioritised and 
supported financially, with targeted help for 
children and families experiencing poverty 
(RCPCH 2017).

P
age 76



35

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

3.3 How are we supporting early development in Bristol?
Early Years Services in Bristol

Bristol has an integrated system of early 
education, health and family support with a 
clear vision to improve outcomes for children 
and families, particularly the most vulnerable, 
reduce disadvantage and raise aspiration by 
strengthening:

l   The quality of early education provision across 
the Early Years sector, including seamless 
transitions to school.

l   Opportunities for the development of speech, 
language and communication and Personal, 
Social and Emotional Development as the 
foundations for life-long learning.

l   Genuine partnerships with parents and carers 
as their child’s first educators to empower 
and enable a collaborative working with other 
professionals, including health, social care and 
the voluntary sector.

l   A culture of reflective practice and setting-based 
action research to inform continuous quality 
improvement.

Children’s Centres

There are currently 22 Children’s Centres in Bristol 
providing integrated early education, childcare, 
health and family support services to families 
expecting a baby and those with children aged 
birth to five years in their local area.  Children’s 
Centres offer universal and targeted services, 
working with a range of partners to improve 
outcomes for children and families.

The centres aim to meet the requirements of 
all national guidance in respect of the Statutory 
Early Years Foundation Stage Framework and the 
Core Purpose of Children’s Centres to improve 
outcomes for young children and their families, 
with a particular focus on families in greatest need 
of support, in order to:

l   Reduce inequalities in child development and 
school readiness.

l   Improve parenting aspirations, self-esteem and 
parenting skills.

l   Improve child and family health and life chances.

Each centre devises its own programme of groups 
and activities based upon local need, informed 
by health, education and demographic data, 
to improve outcomes for children. All centres 
are commissioned to provide evidence-based 
parenting programmes, including one-to-one 
outreach support where need arises. The services 
provided include:

l   Early education and childcare.

l   Health and maternity services.

l   Debt, benefits and housing advice.

l   Adult learning and volunteering opportunities.

l   Employment support (Job Centre Plus).

l   Universal, tailored and targeted Family 
Support programmes.

In April 2017, 24,850 children under five were 
registered with a Children’s Centre in Bristol, 
equating to 80.9%, rising to 87% in the 10% most 
disadvantaged Super Output Areas.Children’s 
Centres share the same health priorities as the 
health visiting service and work closely with local 
health colleagues in the maternity and health 
visiting services to address these.

Children’s Centres run a variety of baby/toddler 
groups that support the development of language 
skills, physical development and close emotional 
attachment. They also run and host a number of 
innovative, creative initiatives to support mothers 
with perinatal mental health. 

As part of the Bristol City Council Corporate Plan 
2017, a reconfiguration of Children’s Centres and 
related family support services is underway. This 
has resulted in a reduction in funding to these 
centres. 

P
age 77



36

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Government funded early childhood 
education and care

At present, all three and four year-olds in England 
are entitled to free early childhood education, 
funded by the Government, for 570 hours per year 
(equivalent to 15 hours per week, for 38 weeks 
of the year). This entitlement is also available to 
40% of eligible two year olds whose families meet 
the income criteria. Funded places are available 
in private, voluntary and independent settings, 
childminders, maintained nursery schools and 
nursery classes as well as Children’s Centres. 

In Bristol the take-up of the funded provision is 
high (92% of three and four year-olds, and 71% of 
two year-olds currently access their free places). 
Children from some of the most marginalised 
communities, including Gypsy Roma Travellers and 
Refugee and Asylum Seekers take up this offer.  
The high uptake of free Early Education places is 
significant, as it increases opportunities to identify 
children and families in need of additional support 
in the earliest years to improve outcomes and 
prevent challenges from escalating.

Targeted support 

The Early Years Pupil Premium was introduced 
by the government in April 2015 to help early 
years providers try to close the attainment gap 
between the most disadvantaged children and 
their peers (Ofsted 2015).  It focuses on providing 
extra targeted strategies to increase the rate 
of progress these children make and funding is 
used for training, developing the home learning 
environment and widening the life experiences of 
the child and family (BAECE 2017).

Bristol has a strong infrastructure in place to 
identify children with emerging Special Educational 
Needs (SEND). Additional funding is available to 
support access to early year’s provision for children 
with emerging SEND following a referral and 
assessment process. All early years settings have a 
designated Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator 
who acts as an advisor to other staff in the setting 
and supports with the monitoring of any children 
identified as having special needs (including 
emotional health) and liaises with outside agencies.

In addition, the Early Years Portage and Inclusion 
Team provide support to families and early year’s 
practitioners for those who are disabled and/
or have special educational needs. This team 
of specialists offer advice and guidance to all 
providers of early education and childcare, and a 
home visiting service to children and families via a 
referral process.

The Bristol Autism Team provide support, advice 
and guidance to early years practitioners in 
settings, enabling them to ensure children with a 
diagnosis of Autistic Spectrum Disorder are able to 
fully access their early education.

The HOPE School is Bristol’s Virtual School for 
children in care. There is a designated member 
of staff for children in the Early Years Foundation 
Stage (children from birth to end of reception) 
who can offer training, support and challenge to 
early years settings.  This role supports working 
in partnership with foster carers, early year’s 
providers and social workers to improve outcomes 
for Bristol’s children in care.  Progress is monitored 
and tracked, and systems, processes, structures 
and support are reviewed to reduce inequalities for 
children in care. 

P
age 78



37

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Improving quality 

The Bristol Standard Quality Improvement 
Framework is a self-evaluation tool that supports 
all Early Years settings to continuously improve 
the quality and effectiveness of their provision 
through an annual cycle of reflection, analysis 
and development. It enables practitioners to talk 
knowledgeably about what they do, why they do 
it and the difference it is making for their children 
and families. Settings who engage with the 
process are more likely to be judged as good or 
better by Ofsted.  

Over the last year (2016/17) the Bristol Standard 
Quality Improvement Framework has been further 
developed to consider a number of public health 
priorities. The aim of the  Bristol Standard for Health 
is to use the principles and ethos of the Bristol 
Standard, to improve health outcomes for children 
and their families in the early years. A strong working 
partnership already exists between health and early 
years services and the Bristol Standard for Health 
will promote further integration and alignment 
to strengthen coherence and avoid gaps and 
duplication in service delivery. The Bristol Standard 
for Health covers ten early years health priorities 
including immunisations, injury prevention, oral 
health, smoke-free places, nutrition, physical activity, 
domestic violence, risky behaviours, working with 
young parents and social and emotional wellbeing. 
This is an innovative collaboration between health 
and early years services and Bristol University have 
secured funding to undertake a feasibility evaluation 
as there are currently no known robust evaluations 
of multi-component health interventions in early 
years settings.

Transition to school

A record of achievement was developed by early 
years practitioners from across the early years’ 
sector in 2013 to support Bristol children in 
experiencing a smooth transition.  This record is 
used when children transition  between different 
early years’ settings and also between early years 
settings and school.  The record aims to provide 
accurate information on each child’s achievements  
that can be shared, enabling reception teachers 
and practitioners in early years settings to develop 
informed and appropriate plans to support 
individual learning and development.  Feedback 
from schools indicates that teachers appreciated 
receiving the transfer records in a consistent 
format and the information received helped them 
to plan for children on entry to school.   Schools 
are also encouraged to visit children in pre-school 
prior to the start of academic year.

Health Visiting Service in Bristol

In Bristol, the health visiting service has been 
commissioned by Public Health Bristol since 
2015 (following the transfer of commissioning 
responsibility from NHS England) and a new 
contract began in April 2017, delivered by the 
Children’s Community Health Partnership.  

The service delivers the Healthy Child Programme 
(DfH 2009) which sets out the schedule for 
services covering care from 28 weeks of pregnancy 
through to age five. It focuses on: the transition to 
parenthood and the early weeks, maternal mental 
health, breastfeeding initiation and duration, 
healthy weight, healthy nutrition, managing minor 
illness and reducing accidents, health, wellbeing 
and development at age two and school readiness. 
This service is delivered as a universal service (to 
everyone) with additional services for families 
needing extra support, whether this is a short-
term intervention or ongoing help for complex 
longer-term problems. The programme can ensure 
families receive early help and support before 
issues develop further and reduce demand on 
higher cost specialist services. This programme is 
led by health visitors in collaboration with other 
health professionals and Children’s Centres. 

The timing of health visitor checks is mandated 
nationally. There is no universal check around the 
time of weaning (six months) to talk about food, 
oral health, and being active.  There needs to be 
alternative ways to give parents this information to 
support healthy development.

P
age 79



38

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Health visitors have a significant role in 
safeguarding vulnerable children. This includes 
managing a caseload providing support, 
monitoring, providing reports and evidence at case 
conferences, reviews and in court. The service also 
includes two specialist health visitors roles - Early 
Relationships Health Visitor and Gypsy, Roma 
and Traveller Health Visitor. These roles provide a 
targeted service to vulnerable families.

Integrated work between health 
visitors and early years 

In Bristol, health visitors and Children’s Centres 
work in an integrated way to improve health. This is 
facilitated by a number of approaches including: 

l   The Early Years Partnership Board has been set 
up to inform, steer and oversee developments 
and partnerships across and beyond the 
early years’ sector.  This forum includes 
representatives from a range of partners 
including health, to work together to improve 
outcomes for children in the early years.

l   The Service Level Agreement for Children’s 
Centres puts health outcomes and work 
to support delivery of the Healthy Child 
Programme at the heart of their role. 
The Children’s Centres have a key role in 
delivering the “Community” level of the Healthy 
Child Programme.

l   A partnership agreement is in place between 
health visitors and Children’s Centres with each 
Children’s Centre having a link health visitor.  

l   An information sharing protocol is in place 
which enables information held by health 
visitors about new babies born in Bristol and 
children under five moving into or within Bristol 
to be shared with each Children’s Centre on a 
monthly basis. 

l   The Health Visiting service works in an 
integrated way with Children’s Centres to 
support families but usually from different 
bases (though health visitors may hold child 
health clinics in the Children’s Centres). Work 
is underway to increase co-location of health 
visitors and Children’s Centres to further 
strengthen seamless and integrated service 
provision for families.

From September 2015 an Integrated Health 
Check became mandatory combining the health 
and early year’s reviews for two year old children. 
Bringing the two reviews together aims to help 
build a coherent picture of the child at age two and 
enables health visitors, Early Years Practitioners, 
Community Nursery Nurses and families to 
share information about children’s development. 
This helps to celebrate children’s progress 
while identifying children who may be following 
different developmental pathways, improve access 
to further assessment and appropriate early 
intervention programmes. 

Research has shown that language development 
at age two is very strongly associated with later 
school readiness, with the early communication 
environment in the home providing the strongest 
influence on language at age two - stronger 
than social background (Roulstone et al 2011). 
Identifying the need for additional support at the 
age two to two-and-a-half years’ integrated review 
will mean that children can benefit from national 
evidence-based programmes such as ‘Every Child 
a Talker’ earlier and where necessary referral 
on to specialists such as Speech and Language 
Therapists.

P
age 80



39

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

3.4  Recommendations for improving early development - 
what more can we do?

Case study:  

Bristol Boys Early Years Achievement Project.

The Bristol project involves practitioners and 
teachers from early years settings and schools in 

action research, to better understand how boys learn 
so that their educational achievement can be improved in the early 
years and beyond. 

Nationally and locally girls achieve better outcomes than boys across 
all areas of learning and development at the end of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage and this is particularly evident for boys growing up 
in low income households and boys from some BAME groups. This 
trend continues as boys get older.  The project which includes early 
years provision in schools, Children’s Centres and private, voluntary 
and independent settings strongly focuses on partnership with 
parents and creating the optimum conditions for supporting boys’ 
learning and development.

Recommendations for improving 
early development
l   Protect universal investment for early years education 

and health visiting.  As well as providing additional 
targeted support where indicated (universal 
proportionalism).

l   Continue to develop further integration of early years and 
health, e.g. through co-location of staff and promoting the 
Bristol Standard for Health.

l   Engage in national discussions about the timing of Health 
Visitor universal checks, and develop local approaches to 
strengthening communication with parents about health 
development for each child at around six months of age.

l   Strengthen integrated work through improved data 
systems including:

 o   Ensure Health Visitor records are recorded 
electronically, including the Ages and Stages 
Questionnaire-3 data from the two year check. The 
scores are not yet recorded in a form which allows for 
local analysis at a population level.

 o   Explore the potential to link data collected at the two-
year integrated check with the Early Years Foundation 
Stage Profile data at the end of reception.

P
age 81



40

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life4
SUPPORTING PARENTS AND IMPROVING OUTCOMES

4.1 Supporting Parents - What does the Bristol data show us?
Marmot (2010) made the following 
recommendations on ways to support the family, 
to improve a child’s physical and emotional health:

l   Provide paid parental leave during the first year 
of life.

l   Provide routine support to families through 
parenting programmes, Children’s Centres, 
key workers, delivered to meet social need via 
outreach to families.

Key points

l   Supporting parents is essential for childhood 
development.

l   Children’s Centres are a key source of parenting 
support.

l   Structured parenting programmes are available 
on a targeted basis, but not to all families.

Parental income inequalities

Almost 7,100 children aged under five years (23%) 
live in low income households in Bristol (see 
Chapter 1, Figure 4). In 15 small areas in Bristol 
more than half of under-fives live in low income 
households. There are significant inequalities in 
income across the city. The highest levels of income  
deprivation affecting children are in Lawrence Hill, 
Filwood and Hartcliffe & Withywood. 

Parental behaviours – survey results

A city-wide survey gives some indication of 
parenting behaviours across the city. The Bristol 
City Council Under-Fives Questionnaire was 
distributed and publicised though Children’s 
Centres and newsletters to inform its work in Early 
Years. Around 1,000 families out of a possible 
12,000 responded to a range of questions. Figure 
16 shows that there are high proportions of 
parents and carers across the social gradient in 
Bristol who read to their children and play with 
them more than 3 times a week. It is hard to 
draw any firm conclusions from this self-selected 
sample but reading to children was slightly more 
common among those from the least deprived 
areas. Families who eat their main meals together 
are significantly more likely to come from the most 
deprived areas.

P
age 82



41

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Fig 16:    Results of the Bristol City Council Under 
5s Questionnaire. Source: Information 
and Analysis Team, Bristol City Council.

FIG 16

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f p
ar

en
ts

 / 
ca

re
rs

Play with child more
than 3 times a week

Family eat main
meal together

Most deprived

More deprived

Average

Less deprived

Least deprived

Bristol

Look at books with
child more than

3 times per week

P
age 83



42

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

4.2 National recommendations for supporting parents

Families have the most influence on their 
children. Marmot (2010) set outs the 
evidence for supporting parents:

l   Adequate levels of income and material and 
psychological support and advice for parents 
across the social gradient are critical. 

l   Good parent-child relationships in the first 
year of life are associated with stronger 
cognitive skills in young children and 
enhanced competence.

l   Parents are the most important ‘educators’ 
of their children for both cognitive and non-
cognitive skills. 

l   There is a growing body of evidence that 
theoretically sound parenting programmes, 
which are underpinned by strong research 
evidence, can provide positive gains for 
parents and children.

The parent or caregiver/child relationship 
is vital to a child’s development and future 
psychological wellbeing (Caestecker 2010). 
Support to parents can be given in a number 
of different ways, through the structured 
support that is given by health visitors and 
other professional or specific interventions 
to help parents with either general parenting 
or targeted at specific groups or for specific 
purposes. Some of these programmes have 
been evaluated but there are gaps in the 
literature over the effectiveness of others.  What 
is presented here is a summary of the evidence 
of effective programmes.

The Healthy Child Programme led by the health 
visiting service is an evidence-based programme 
that includes information and guidance to 
support parenting as part of its universal 
component (DfH 2009). 

There are many evidence-based targeted 
parenting programmes such as Triple P, 
Incredible Years (DfE 2014b) and Family Links. In 
an Australian trial the Triple P Programme was 
reported to demonstrate a 22% reduction in 
mental health problems in children and a 22% 
reduction in emotional distress in parents in less 
than three years (Saunders et al 2015).

P
age 84



43

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

4.3 How do we support parents in Bristol?
Family Support in Children’s Centres

Bristol’s network of Children’s Centres provides 
a universal and targeted offer to parents and 
children.  They provide a community hub for 
parents and support them to give their children a 
good start in life.  Free family support includes:

l   A delivery point for information, advice and 
guidance, including advice on benefits, debt, 
housing and employment/training opportunities.

l   Training and support for the development of 
skills for employment.

l   Targeted programmes to support families 
experiencing particular challenges such as 
domestic abuse, drug and alcohol abuse and 
depression.

l   Tailored programmes for priority groups.

l   Family services provided by the Children’s 
Centre for all children accessing free early 
education for eligible two year olds at private, 
voluntary and independent Early Years settings 
within the reach area.

l   Evidence based parenting programmes for 
instance the Incredible Years programme.

Parenting programmes

There are some specific parenting programmes in 
Bristol for parents of children under five.

The Nurturing Programme aims to help adults 
understand and manage feelings and behaviour 
and become more positive and nurturing in their 
relationships with children and each other. It 
encourages an approach to relationships that gives 
children and adults an emotionally healthy start 
for their lives and learning. Workers from Early 
Years and school settings are trained to deliver 
this programme which is suitable for parents of 
children aged 0-12.  

The Incredible Years programme is designed 
to promote emotional, social, and academic 
competence and to prevent, reduce, and treat 
behavioural and emotional problems in young 
children.

Strengthening Families, Strengthening 
Communities is an inclusive evidence-based 
parenting programme, designed to promote 
protective factors which are associated with good 
parenting and better outcomes for children.

The Rock-a-bye groups are for mothers to help 
them attach and bond with their babies.  
The groups are run in nine Children’s Centres 
between one and three times a year per Centre, 
for parents with babies aged two to eight months. 
Parents can be referred or self-refer and they are 
especially suitable for mothers who have anxiety 
or depression or experienced a difficult or 
premature birth and are finding it difficult to 
respond to their baby.  

The ‘Welcome to the World’ programme is an 
eight-week group for parents expecting a baby. 
Parents attend the group from approximately 22 
weeks of pregnancy. Topics include empathy and 
loving attentiveness, infant brain development, 
healthy choices, managing stress and promoting 
self-esteem and confidence, and effective 
communication.  The aim of the programme is to 
build and strengthen a parent’s attachment to the 
child. Staffs are trained to deliver this programme 
in 11 Centres in Bristol and it is currently being 
delivered in 3 Centres.

Voluntary and community sector organisations also 
run parenting programmes in the community, but 
data is not available on how widespread these are 
or the attendance rates.

P
age 85



44

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Supporting parental income and leave

One approach to ensuring adequate parental 
income is through the living wage. There are two 
definitions of the living wage, the “National Living 
Wage” and “the Living Wage”. There is a statutory 
obligation to pay the National Living Wage, formerly 
known as the National Minimum Wage. The rates 
of this are:

There is no local information as to how many 
people are not paid this. However, it is a criminal 
offence to not pay this although prosecutions for 
this are rare.

The living wage is a rate calculated as the minimum 
a person needs to live on and is recommended 
by the Living Wage Foundation and the Mayor of 
London. This is currently £8.45. Bristol City Council 
has adopted the Living Wage for all its employees.  

According to the Annual Survey of Hours and 
Earnings, in 2014, 14.7% of employee jobs paid less 
than the Living Wage (ONS 2017).

Marmot recommends paid parental leave in 
the first year of a child’s life. All women who are 
employees are entitled to take maternity leave if 
they give the correct notice to their employers. 
Statutory Maternity Leave is 52 weeks. Statutory 
Maternity Pay (SMP) is paid for up to 39 weeks. 
The allowance is:

l   90% of the average weekly earnings (before tax) 
for the first six weeks.

l   £140.98 or 90% of the average weekly earnings 
(whichever is lower) for the next 33 weeks.  
Some of this may be taken as shared leave with 
the mother’s partner. Partners are entitled to 
two weeks’ unpaid paternity leave. Employers 
are free to pay more than this and many have 
more generous allowances. There is no local 
data on the uptake of parental leave across 
the city.

Year 25 and over 21 to 24 18 to 20 Under 18 Apprentice

April 2017 £7.50 £7.05 £5.60 £4.05 £3.50

P
age 86



45

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

4.4 Recommendations for improving support to parents

Recommendations for improving support to parents
l   Explore the reach of universal parenting 

support and programmes across the city. 

l   Review the targeted parenting and family 
support offer to increase uptake across the 
city and research why some families do not 
attend. 

l   Ensure there is a range of parenting provision 
to meet the needs of families.

l   Local organisations to work together, including 
through the Local Enterprise Partnership, 
to offer good levels of occupational paid 
maternity and paternity leave above the 
statutory requirement and to encourage 
people to take more of their entitlement.

l   Promote the economic health of the city 
and advocate for the voluntary living wage 
by demonstrating its value to employers, 
employees and the local economy.

l   Encourage local commissioners to commission 
for social value with particular regard to 
support for parents such as the living wage 
and maternity benefits.  

P
age 87



46

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

4.5  Improving child health 
outcomes 

Vaccination Uptake
Immunisation is the most effective public health 
intervention in the world for saving lives and 
promoting good health. Figure 17 shows the 
current routine vaccination schedule for children 
under five years (this schedule changes frequently).

Fig 17:    Childhood routine vaccination schedule 
for autumn 2017 (NHS 2017).

Diseases protected against Age
l   Diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus 

influenza type b and Hepatitis B.
l  Pneumococcal
l   Rotavirus gastroenteritis
l   Meningococcal group B

8 weeks

l   Diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus 
influenza type b and Hepatitis B.

l   Rotavirus gastroenteritis

12 Weeks

l   Diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus 
influenza type b and Hepatitis B. 

l  Pneumococcal 
l   Meningococcal group B

16 weeks

l   Haemophilus influenza type b and Meningococcal group C 
l   Pneumococcal
l  Measles, Mumps and Rubella 
l  Meningococcal group B

1 year

l   Influenza (each year) Annual age 2-8 years (including 
reception and school years 1 to 4)

l   Measles, Mumps and Rubella Second dose
l   Diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, polio

3 years 4 months

FIG 14

8
weeks

12
weeks

16
weeks

1
year

3
years
4 months

annually

2-8
years

Importance of immunisation

P
age 88



47

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

When enough children are vaccinated in a local 
population it provides ‘herd immunity’ or protection 
for those people in the community who are unable 
to have the vaccine.  

Children at increased risk of exposure will be 
offered additional vaccination (to protect from 
Hepatitis B and Tuberculosis). Children with 
underlying medical conditions may be offered 
additional vaccination, for instance the annual 
influenza vaccination (inactivated vaccine rather 
than live attenuated influenza vaccine). 

Key points 

l   There is good coverage for infant immunisation 
in Bristol.

l   Coverage is lower than needed for the second 
Measles, Mumps and Rubella dose, as it is 
nationally.

l   Coverage with seasonal flu immunisation is very 
poor, as it is nationally.

l   There is significant variation in immunisation 
coverage across the city.

l   There is insufficient data on vaccination 
coverage for children at risk or with medical 
conditions.

What does the Bristol data show us about vaccination coverage?

Figure 18 shows how Bristol is performing against 
the national target and the England average. The 
important comparator is the target, rather than the 
England average. 

l   The coverage in Bristol for infant immunisations 
is above the national target. 

l   The percentage of children receiving two doses 
of Measles, Mumps and Rubella has increased 
significantly in Bristol over the past six years and 
is now similar to the national average. It is still a 
challenge nationally to reach the target of 95%.

l   The coverage with seasonal flu vaccination is 
higher in Bristol (36.7%) than nationally (34.4%) 
but it is a challenge to reach the target of 65%, 
as it is nationally.

l   There is considerable variation in vaccination 
coverage across the city, as indicated by the 
variation in Measles, Mumps and Rubella 
coverage across Bristol primary care practices. 
See Figure 19.

Fig 18:    Selected vaccination targets, Bristol and England, 2015/16. Source: PH Outcomes Framework, 
these data are based on the 2015/16 immunisation schedule, which has slight differences to 
the current schedule for 2017/18.

Target Bristol England National 
target

% of children who have received 3 doses of the 5-in1, 
Haemophilus influenza type b and Pneumococcal by their 
2nd birthday

96.1 95.2 95%

% of children who have received 2 doses of Measles, 
Mumps and Rubella by their 5th birthday years

88.2 88.2 95%

% of children aged 2-4 who receive flu vaccination 36.7 34.4 65%

P
age 89



48

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Fig 19:    Measles Mumps and Rubella (MMR) coverage, 
5 year olds, Bristol Practices 2015/16. 
Source: NHS Digital.

NICE has produced detailed guidance 
on reducing differences in update in 
immunisations (NICE 2009a) which 
includes the following recommendations:

l   Immunisation programmes should be 
multifaceted and coordinated across 
different settings to increase uptake 
amongst groups with low uptake: 

 o   Ensure there is an identified healthcare  
practitioner in every GP practice who 
is responsible and provides leadership 
for the child immunisation programme.

 o   Improve access to immunisation 
services, e.g. through extending clinic 
times and making sure clinics are child 
and family-friendly.

 o   Send tailored invitations for example 
tailored reminders or recall invitations 
if do not attend appointments.

 o   Ensure parents have an opportunity to 
discuss any concerns that they might 
have about immunisations.

 o   Check the immunisation status 
of children at every appropriate 
opportunity.

FIG 19

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f 5
 y

ea
r 

ol
ds

 w
ith

 2
 d

os
es

 o
f M

M
R 

va
cc

in
at

io
n

GP Practices in Bristol

What should we be doing to improve 
vaccination coverage?

P
age 90



49

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

l   Training should be offered to all staff 
groups that advise about immunisations, 
including children centre staff, social 
care workers, as well as healthcare 
professionals.

l   Early Years settings should work with 
the Healthy Child team, led by the health 
visitor, to promote checking vaccination 
status, providing information and offering 
venues for immunisations.

What are we doing in Bristol to 
improve vaccination coverage?

Public Health England is responsible for the 
development of guidance, national standards, 
procurement and clinical advice regarding 
vaccinations. NHS England commissions the 
vaccination programme. Routine vaccinations for 
children in early years are delivered by primary 
care. Bristol City Council supports Public Health 
England in improving the coverage, including 
facilitation of communications. 

Over the past few years Public Health England with 
partner organisations has put a lot of work into 
improving the immunisation rate. Specific actions 
to improve coverage have included:

l   A campaign in Inner City and East area of Bristol 
to raise awareness around Measles, Mumps and 
Rubella immunisation.

l   A high profile launch of seasonal flu 
immunisation at a Children’s Centre.

l   Immunisations becoming part of the Bristol 
Standard for Health. 

l   Piloting easy read information to support 
Measles, Mumps and Rubella uptake.

Recommendations to 
improve vaccination coverage
l   Continue to work in partnership across the 

city to explore reasons for low uptake and 
to improve immunisation coverage with a 
particular focus on Measles, Mumps and 
Rubella and seasonal flu immunisation. 

l   Develop better data on vaccination 
coverage for children at risk or with medical 
conditions.

l   Promote NHS information about when 
to have vaccinations: www.nhs.uk/
Conditions/vaccinations/Pages/
vaccination-schedule-age-checklist.aspx

P
age 91

http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/vaccinations/Pages/vaccination-schedule-age-checklist.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/vaccinations/Pages/vaccination-schedule-age-checklist.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/vaccinations/Pages/vaccination-schedule-age-checklist.aspx


50

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Childhood obesity
Reducing childhood obesity is both a local and 
national priority (Cabinet Office 2017). The World 
Health Organisation regards childhood obesity 
as one of the most serious global public health 
challenges for the 21st century stating obesity in 
childhood is associated with an increased risk of 
premature onset of illnesses, including diabetes 
and heart disease.  Obese children are more likely 
to suffer ill-health, be absent from school due to 
illness and require more medical care than those 
within the healthy weight spectrum.  Overweight or 
obese children and young people are more likely to 
become obese adults (Baird et al 2005).

Key points

l   Supporting children and families to maintain 
a healthy weight is very important in the 
prevention of long term conditions.

l   Excess weight can have impact on emotional 
health.

l   Rates of overweight in Bristol at age four to five 
years are similar to England but they are high 
nationally.

l   There are significant differences in the 
prevalence of overweight children across 
the city. 

l   A city-wide healthy weight strategy is under 
development. 

What does the Bristol data show us 
about childhood obesity?

In England, child height and weight is measured 
at Reception Year (age 4 to 5 years) and Year Six 
(aged 10 to 11 years) through the National Child 
Measurement Programme, which is a government 
mandated requirement.  

Bristol data (2015/16) indicates prevalence of 
excess weight (obesity and overweight) at reception 
is 22.9% as compared to 22.1% nationally, in other 
words, over a fifth of reception children were 
recorded as overweight or obese. 9.4% of children 
in Bristol were very overweight (obese) in (2015/16) 
which is similar to nationally (9.3%). 

There is significant variation in the proportion 
of four to five year olds who are overweight or 
obese across Bristol (see Figure 20), with a higher 
prevalence of excess weight in areas of greater 
deprivation. By ward (see Figure 21), the range is 
from 10% in Clifton Down to 32% in Hartcliffe & 
Withywood (2013/14 to 2015/16).

P
age 92



51

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Fig 20:    Childhood excess weight prevalence, by deprivation, reception year 
(4/5 years), Bristol resident pupils versus England average, 2015/16. 
Source: National Child Measurement Programme

FIG 20

1 - Least deprived

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%
2 - Less deprived 3 - Average 4 - More deprived 5 - Most deprived

Bristol England

P
age 93



52

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Fig 21:  Percentage of reception children (4/5 years) that are overweight 
or very overweight, 3 year average, 2013/14 to 2015/16. 
Source: National Child Measurement Programme.

10.1% – 19.2%

19.3% – 21.2%

21.3% – 23.2%

23.3% – 27.1%

27.2% – 32.0%

FIG 21

P
age 94



53

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What should we be doing about 
childhood obesity?

The State of Child Health report (RCPCH 
2017) made a number of recommendations, 
although these are mainly for Government 
there is relevance for our local work:

l   Enact the national childhood obesity strategy.

l   Monitor the effectiveness of sugar reduction 
initiatives.

l   Expand nutritional standards in schools.

l   Make school-based health education statutory 
(including physical activity and nutrition).

l   Support research to identify causes of obesity 
and interventions to tackle it.

l   Ensure overweight children have timely 
access to support to attend evidence-based 
programmes for weight management.

Public Health guidance PH47 (NICE 2013b) 
sets out the most effective ways to provide 
weight management programmes, including: 

l   Programmes should be multi-component 
and focus on healthy eating, physical activity, 
reducing sedentary behaviour, strategies for 
family behaviour change.

l   Programmes should include positive 
parenting skills.

l   Programmes should be tailored to meet 
individual need.

Further guidance sets out evidence around 
preventing excess weight, for example 
through promoting physical activity (NICE 
2009b). There are specific physical activity 
guidelines for children in early years. The 
Chief Medical Officer (DfH 2011) set out 
guidelines for levels of physical activity for 
children in early years: 

l   Physical activity should be encouraged from 
birth, particularly through floor-based play and 
water-based activities in safe environments.

l   Children of pre-school age who are capable 
of walking unaided should be physically active 
daily for at least 180 minutes (three hours), 
spread throughout the day.

l   All under-fives should minimise the amount of 
time spent being sedentary (being restrained 
or sitting) for extended periods (except time 
spent sleeping).

Guidelines (SACN 2015) for dietary intake include 
recommendations (PHE 2016) that sugar intake 
should not exceed 5% of total dietary energy 
for age two years upwards, which is around: 
less than 13g for two year olds (one - three 
teaspoons), less than 15g for three year olds (two 
- four teaspoons), less than 19g for four to six 
year olds (three - five teaspoons).

P
age 95



54

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What are we doing in Bristol to reduce 
childhood obesity?

Tackling childhood obesity is a priority for the 
Bristol Children and Families Partnership Board. A 
Bristol Great Weight Strategy (all ages) is currently 
being developed. www.bristol.gov.uk/social-care-
health/get-involved-in-the-great-weight-debate

In Bristol there are a number of interventions to 
both prevent and manage obesity, as described 
in the Bristol Child Healthy Weight Pathway 
(BCHWP 2013). 

Preventing obesity and promoting a healthy 
weight, good nutrition and physical activity is a 
key component of the work of public health and 
partners in Early Years. The Bristol Standard 
for Health (described in section 3) has specific 
guidance to help Early Years settings to help 
parents to give their children a healthy diet when 
they are weaning and throughout toddlerhood 
and the preschool years. The health visitors play 
a key role in giving parents consistent information 
and can use the one year and two year checks 
to discuss weight, diet and exercise with parents.  
At the two year check children are weighed and 
measured and health visitors are able to use this 
as an opportunity to discuss these issues with 
parents. 

Physical activity guidelines have been incorporated 
into the Bristol Standard for Health and Early Years 
settings use these to inform parents how to keep 
their children active.  

The Bristol Standard for Health also has guidance 
for Early Years settings about catering and all 
settings in Bristol are encouraged to sign up to 
the “Eat Better, Start Better” voluntary guidelines 
published by the Children’s Food Trust.  All 
information about packed lunches is consistent 
with these guidelines.

Bristol is running a city-wide campaign, Sugar 
Smart Bristol, which aims to inform all families 
and individuals of the amount of sugar in much 
everyday food and encourage them to swap to 
healthier choices.  Families are given information 
and the campaign is running city-wide, so all 
citizens can access information.  Early Years 
settings are encouraged to sign up to this. 
Businesses can apply for a Sugar Smart award if 
they offer children water or milk to drink. 

Children who are overweight or obese can be 
referred to Alive N Kicking which works with 
children (and their parents) from age 2 - 16 years?  
In early years the focus is on the healthy lifestyle 
message with less of a focus on weight.  Alive N 
Kicking work with Children’s Centres and aim to 
link to the community support and services they 
provide. Children identified as overweight by the 
National Child Measurement Programme are given 
information about Alive N Kicking and parents 
and carers can self-refer. Between April 2016 and 
March 2017, 51 two to four year olds attended 
Alive N Kicking and 46 completed the programme. 
See www.ank.uk.com/home. 

Public Health Bristol commission Children’s 
Community Health Partnership to provide healthy 
weight nurses who work with children age two to 
sixteen years and their parents to provide one to 
one support in more complex situations.  They 
identify key lifestyle areas for change when working 
with a family to support children to grow into a 
healthy weight. 

Healthy weight advice for children aged two to five 
years is available from NHS choices:  
www.nhs.uk/Livewell/childhealth1-5/Pages/
Overweight2to5.aspx

Recommendations to reduce 
childhood obesity 

l   Work in partnership to develop the city-wide 
Great Weight strategy and action plan.

l   Support city-wide activities that promote 
healthy eating and physical activity, e.g. 
Bristol Eating Better.

l   Continue to support Early Years settings and 
services to promote healthy weight.

l   Ensure that through the procurement of 
the Bristol Behaviour Change for Healthier 
Lifestyles Programme the needs of young 
children and families are met.

P
age 96

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/social-care-health/get-involved-in-the-great-weight-debate
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/social-care-health/get-involved-in-the-great-weight-debate
http://www.ank.uk.com/home
 http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/childhealth1-5/Pages/Overweight2to5.aspx 
 http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/childhealth1-5/Pages/Overweight2to5.aspx 


55

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Oral health
Tooth decay is almost entirely preventable (RCPCH 
2017) yet it remains a serious problem. In England, 
a quarter of five-year-olds (in 2015) experienced 
tooth decay, and the vast majority went untreated 
(Public Health Matters 2014). 

Children who have toothache or who need 
treatment may have pain, infections and difficulties 
with eating, sleeping and socialising. They may be 
absent from pre-school or school and parents 
may also have to take time off work to take their 
children to a dentist. Oral health is therefore an 
important aspect of a child’s overall health status 
and to children’s school readiness, and can be seen 
as a marker of wider health and social care issues 
including poor nutrition and obesity. Tooth decay 
and obesity may be more likely to occur together; 
given that excessive intake of sugar and social 
deprivation are risk factors for both conditions 
(Public Health Matters 2014).

Key points

l   Poor oral health has a significant impact of 
child’s health, wellbeing and development.

l   Rates of decay in preschool children are high.

l   Tooth decay is largely preventable through 
lower sugar intake, regular tooth-brushing, and 
use of fluoride toothpaste.

What does the Bristol data show us 
about oral health?

Regular national dental surveys monitor oral health 
of children at age three and five years and allow 
for comparison of local and national data. Local 
samples are relatively small so it is not possible to 
use these data to look at variations with Bristol. 

Figure 22 indicates that in Bristol 15% of three 
year olds have dental decay, which is similar to 
nationally (though the survey was based on a small 
sample of children in each local authority area).

P
age 97



56

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

England
Leeds

Bolton
Bristol

Kirklees
Brighton and Hove

Coventry
Derby

Southampton
Newcastle upon Tyne

Portsmouth
Sheffield
Swindon
Medway

Southend-on-Sea
Plymouth

North Tyneside

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

FIG 22

Fig 22:  Percentage of children aged 3 with one 
or more obviously decayed, missing (due 
to decay) and filled teeth. Bristol and 
statistical neighbours (2012/13) Source: 
Dental Public Health Epidemiology 
Programme for England: oral health 
survey of three-year-old children 2013.

P
age 98



57

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Figure 23 indicates that in Bristol 29% of five-year-
olds have dental decay, which is statistically similar 
to nationally (the survey sample was small from 
each local authority area). 

Fig 23:  Percentage of children aged 5 with one or more obviously 
decayed, missing (due to decay) and filled teeth. Bristol and 
statistical neighbours (2014/15). Source: Dental Public Health 
Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of 
five-year-old children 2015.

England
Bolton

Southampton
Sheffield

Leeds
Bristol

Kirklees
Coventry
Swindon

Derby
Newcastle upon Tyne

Medway
North Tyneside

Portsmouth
Southend-on-Sea

Brighton and Hove
Plymouth

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45%

FIG 23

P
age 99



58

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Local analysis of NHS data payments data allows us to look at variations across the city. Figure 24 shows 
that rates of treatment for tooth decay are higher in areas where there are higher levels of deprivation.

Fig 24:  Rate of teeth extracted, filled or subject to sealant restoration, 
by NHS community dentists, for children aged 0-4 years (rate 
per 1,000), by ward of residence, annual average 2014 to 2016. 
Source: NHS Dental payments data (NHS England) & 2015 mid 
–year population estimate.

FIG 24

100
90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10

0

Clift
on D

own

Bish
opsto

n &
 Ash

ley D
own

Redland

Westb
ury

-on-Try
m

 &
 H

enleaze

Coth
am

Clift
on

Fr
om

e Vale

So
uth

vil
le

Centra
l

Windm
ill 

Hill

Knowle

Bedm
inste

r

Bris
lin

gto
n Ea

st

St 
Georg

e &
 Tro

opers 
Hill

Bris
lin

gto
n W

est

Bris
to

l A
ve

ra
ge

Sto
ke Bish

op

Henbury
 &

 Bre
ntry

Hotw
ells

 &
 H

arb
oursi

de

Hengr
ove

 &
 W

hitc
hurch

 Park

St 
Georg

e W
est

Ea
sto

n

Ea
stv

ille

La
wre

nce
 H

ill

Avo
nm

outh
 &

 La
wre

nce
 W

esto
n

Ash
ley

Hartc
liff

e &
 W

ith
yw

ood

Horfi
eld

Hillfi
elds

Sto
ck

wood

Lo
ck

leaze

St 
Georg

e Centra
l

Bish
opsw

orth

Fil
wood

So
uth

m
ead

P
age 100



59

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What should we be doing about 
oral health?

The State of Child Report (RCPCH 2017) 
included recommendations around 
children’s oral health, including:

l   Equipping families from birth with knowledge 
to enable good oral hygiene and encourage 
regular brushing.

l   All children should have their first dental 
check by their first birthday (Dental Check by 
One).

l   Reduction in consumption of high-sugar 
foods, particularly drinks, and education to 
parents and children about replacing high-
sugar foods and drinks.

l   Children need timely access to both primary 
and specialist dental care to reduce the 
likelihood of serious complications following 
early tooth decay.

l   Fluoridation of public water supplies requires 
consideration as an effective public health 
measure which has been shown to reduce 
health inequalities.

NICE has made recommendations to local 
authorities and partners to improve oral 
health (NICE 2014c) and aim to:

l   Promote and protect oral health by 
improving diet and reducing consumption 
of sugary food and drinks (and so improve 
general health too).

l   Improve oral hygiene.

l   Increase the availability of fluoride, including 
through fluoride varnishes.

l   Encourage people to go to the dentist 
regularly.

l   Increase access to dental services.

P
age 101



60

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What are we doing in Bristol to 
improve oral health?

An Oral Health Promotion Strategy 2016-2021 
was published last year covering Bristol, South 
Gloucestershire, North Somerset and Bath and 
North East Somerset (BCC 2016).  This strategy 
covers oral health promotion across the life 
course, from birth through to old age, and the 
recommendations are being implemented.

In Bristol, two targeted schemes are currently 
being developed to promote good oral health 
amongst children aged birth to five years. The first 
is an adaptation of our toothbrush distribution 
scheme which will ensure that the families who 
most need them will receive a healthy start pack 
when their child is aged four to six months old and 
this will include a toothbrush and toothpaste, a 
free flow drinking cup and healthy start vitamins as 
well as information sessions hosted by local health 
visiting teams. The second is a supervised tooth 
brushing scheme where children in selected Early 
Years settings will be supervised to brush their 
teeth once a day.

Oral health has been embedded into the Bristol 
Standard for Health to support oral health 
promotion in early year’s settings.

The Bristol Sugar Smart campaign’s objectives are 
to improve oral health as well as promoting healthy 
weight. As part of this campaign we are promoting 
a reduction in food and drink containing added 
sugar promoted and given to children aged five 
and under.

Recommendations to 
improve child oral health
l   Implement the local oral health strategy 

action plan.

l   Implement targeted tooth brushing schemes: 
targeted distribution scheme and supervised 
tooth brushing.

l   Support specific actions to reduce sugar 
intake including Sugar Smart Bristol.

l   Support the Dental Check Ups before One 
national campaign.

P
age 102



61

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Childhood injury
Unintentional injuries are one of the main causes 
of premature death and illness for children in 
England. Every year in England, 60 children under 
the age of five die from injuries in and around 
the home, which is one in twelve of all deaths 
of children aged one to four. There are also 
450,000 visits to A&E departments and 40,000 
emergency hospital admissions in England each 
year because of injuries at home among under-
fives. There is a strong link between child injuries 
and social deprivation with children from the most 
disadvantaged families far more likely to be killed 
or seriously hurt due to unintentional injuries in the 
home (PHE 2014a). Children who live in the most 
deprived areas are also at greater risk of being 
killed or injured on the roads (PHE 2014b).

Key points

l   The rate of hospital admissions due to 
unintentional injuries in children aged under 5 
is significantly worse in Bristol than the English 
average. 

l    Falls are the biggest cause of injury in Bristol, 
followed by burns.

l   One of the six high impact areas for health 
visitors to work with families on is injury 
prevention.

l   Children’s Centres have a key role in supporting 
families to prevent injuries in the home. 

What does Bristol data show us about 
childhood injury?  

The rate of hospital admissions due to 
unintentional injuries in children aged under 5 is 
significantly worse in Bristol (153.3 in every 10,000) 
than the English average (129.6) (source: Public 
Health Outcomes Framework 2015-16).

Data on emergency admissions provide detail 
on the causes of injuries in under-fives in Bristol. 
Figure 25 shows that the most common reason for 
admission is falls, followed by burns.

Fig 25:  Rate of emergency admissions due to 
injury by 10,000 populations (2013/14 to 
2015/16): under 1 versus 1-4 year-olds. 
Source: Hospital Episode Statistics, via 
Bristol Public Health Knowledge Service.

FIG 25

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Fa
lls

Burn
s

Acc
identa

l p
oiso

ning

Str
ike’s, 

cru
sh

es a
nd ja

m
s

Ex
posu

re
 to

 fo
re

ign
 body

objects
 and in

anim
ate

...

Acc
identa

l e
xp

osu
re

 to
 oth

er

and unsp
ecifi

ed fa
cto

rs

Tra
nsp

ort 
acc

idents

Su
ffoca

tio
n, s

tra
ngu

latio
n

or c
hoking

Acc
identa

l d
ro

wning a
nd

su
bm

ersi
on

Oth
er

Under 1s

1 to 4s

P
age 103



62

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What should we be doing to reduce 
childhood injury?

The State of Child Health report (RCPCH 2017) 
included the following recommendations to 
reduce unintentional injuries:

l   Local authorities have a responsibility 
to provide strategic leadership for injury 
prevention, bringing together a very wide 
range of services including health, education, 
social care, housing and emergency services.

l   Health, education and social care Early Years 
professionals need training to prevent injuries 
in Early Years’ settings and to educate and 
support parents in injury prevention. 

l   Home safety practices, such as child proofing 
kitchen and bathroom cupboards, and safe 
bathing, can be achieved at minimal cost.

l   All local authorities should introduce 20mph 
speed limits in built-up areas to create safer 
environments for children to walk, cycle 
and play.

Public Health England (PHE 2014a) identifies 
five priority areas for preventing accidents at 
home, these are:  

l   Choking, suffocation and strangulation (main 
risks window blinds, bedding).

l   Falls (from stairs, furniture and buildings).

l   Poisoning (from medicines and household 
products).

l   Burns and scalds (hot drinks and heated 
appliances).

l  Drowning (bath).

NICE recommends actions to prevent injuries 
(NICE 2010b), 
which cover: 

l   Strategic leadership locally for injury 
prevention.

l   Installation and maintenance of permanent 
safety equipment in social and rented 
accommodation.

l  Policy for safe outdoor play and leisure.

l   Promoting and enforcing speed reduction on 
roads and promoting road safety.

P
age 104



63

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

What are we doing in Bristol to reduce 
childhood injuries?

Health Visitors and Children’s Centres work 
collaboratively in preventing injuries. Injury 
prevention is one of the high impact areas for 
health visiting and there are opportunities to 
promote injury prevention at each of the universal 
contacts, target activities and through the drop-
in health clinics.  Children’s Centres who identify 
injury prevention as a priority for their reach 
area raise awareness of home safety by running 
campaigns and activities in groups for parents that 
inform them of hazards and how to reduce to the 
risk of harm. Avon Fire and Rescue Service and 
Children’s Centres have been working with Public 
Health on developing a parenting intervention 
aimed at families of babies of around six months 
that includes injury prevention, first aid and 
weaning advice called Teeny Explores. 

Children from the most disadvantaged families are 
most at risk of an unintentional injury in the home.  
The Home Safety Equipment Scheme is a public 
health funded intervention that supplies and fits 
safety equipment such as blind cord cleats, safety 
gates, fireguards, cupboard and drawer locks, 
window locks/restrictors and carbon monoxide 
alarms. The scheme is targeted to families in 
receipt of means tested benefits who have a least 
one child aged under five years. Health visitors 
usually refer parents to this at the nine - twelve 
month check but this is being reviewed as children 
are often mobile (rolling, crawling and some 
walking) before this age. In future we are hoping 
to be able to target eligible families earlier through 
Children’s Centres.  

In Bristol there has been a roll-out of 20 miles 
an hour signage in residential areas.  The aims 
of 20mph speed limits in Bristol have been to 
reduce road casualties, increase levels of walking 
and cycling locally, and improve social cohesion in 
communities.  

Recommendations to 
improve child oral health
l   Complete a needs assessment of childhood 

injuries to identify further opportunities locally 
for prevention.

l   To facilitate combined training for health 
visitors and Children’s Centre staff so they can 
promote consistent injury prevention advice 
at every opportunity with families.

Case study:  

The Incredible Year’s parenting programme operates 
a course of 14 group sessions for parents experiencing 

challenges with parenting. Parents are given opportunities 
to discuss their difficulties and learn practical ways to 

improve their parenting skills in a safe, informal and welcoming 
environment. Parents are tasked with trying different approaches to 
parenting at home from 1-1 playtime with their child to keeping calm during 
child outbursts. Parents say that they can identify and engage with others in 
the group and goal setting enables them to realise their achievements at the 
end of the course. 

P
age 105



64

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life5
BUILDING RESILIENCE AND WELLBEING

A resilient child has been defined as one who ‘can resist adversity, cope with 
uncertainty and recover more successfully from traumatic events or episodes’ 
(Newman 2002). 

The World Health Organisation embeds resilience 
in its definition of good mental health, which it 
describes as ‘a state of well-being in which every 
individual realises his or her own potential, can 
cope with the normal stresses of life, can work 
productively and fruitfully, and is able to make 
a contribution to her or his community’ (WHO 
2014). The ability of a person to cope with stress 
emphasises the significance of resilience as a 
protective factor against mental ill health. 

Key factors for promoting resilience 

l  Secure attachment to care giver.

l  Breastfeeding (promotes attachment).

l  Positive proactive parenting.

Healthy brain development begins before birth 
and accelerates through infancy (DH 2012). It 
can be disrupted by exposure to stress and toxic 
substances such as alcohol or tobacco before 
birth, potentially undermining later mental health 
(ACMD 2003). 

Babies are born with highly reactive systems for 
responding to hunger, tiredness, loud noises or 
pain. The baby’s exposure to these stresses can 
be moderated by parenting which recognises 
and responds to the child’s needs and the baby 
gradually learns that its needs will be met. By 
six months, infants will begin to self -regulate 
and to have some control over their emotions. 
Without an effective care giver, however they can 
be over-exposed to prolonged stress hormones 
which affect this ability to regulate emotions and 
these are at the root of many later mental health 
problems (CfMH 2016a).

Healthy attachment between the child and care 
givers helps buffer the child against adversity 
(Bowlby 1958). This helps them to cope with 
challenges and build resilience. Likewise, positive, 
proactive and stimulating parenting is associated 
with higher self-esteem, reduced behavioural 
problems and better academic and social 
outcomes. If parents face too many stressors (e.g. 
through poverty, unstable housing, substance 
misuse, difficult relationships or their own 
mental health problems), they may be unable to 
adequately protect the child from adversity 
(CfMH 2016a).

Key risk factors for poor mental health 
in young children:

l  Parental substance misuse.

l  Abuse and trauma.

l  Poor maternal mental health.

l   Parental stressors such as poverty, conflict in 
relationships, crime, poor housing.

Parental alcohol and drug use can cause damage 
to the unborn child and after birth, can affect 
children throughout their lives (ACMD 2003).  
It can interfere with a care giver’s sensitivity to a 
child’s physical and emotional needs and reduces 
their ability to stimulate and promote healthy 
brain development. Parents may also be using 
substances to manage their own mental health 
difficulties thereby amplifying risks (Ofsted 2013).  
In the three to five-year age group hyperactivity, 
inattention, impulsivity and aggression are more 
common among children whose parents misuse 
drugs and alcohol and there is evidence that even 
at this age, children are sometimes expected to 
take on excessive responsibility for others and 
depression and anxiety may become evident. 
There is also some evidence of inappropriate 
learned responses due to witnessing problem 
behaviours like violence and criminal activity 
(ACMD 2003). 

P
age 106



65

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Child abuse and neglect represent a major risk 
factor for child development, and can result in a 
situation where the child both craves and fears the 
care giver leading to insecure attachment which 
is particularly linked to adult personality disorder 
(CfMH 2016).

Children from low income families are four times 
more likely to experience mental health problems 
compared to children from high income families 
(Morrison Gutman et al 2015) and tackling poverty 
is a key recommendation from the State of Child 
Health Report.   

Children facing multiple adverse childhood 
experiences (ACEs) have been shown to be at 
the greatest risk of poor mental and physical 
health over their lifetime (Bellis 2015). These 
chronic traumatic stresses in early life such as 
abuse, neglect, poverty, and dysfunctional home 
environments have been associated with the 
development of a wide range of health harming 
behaviours such as substance misuse, smoking, 
risky sexual behaviour and crime as a way of coping 
with the psychological impacts of these early 
experiences. However, exposure to environmental 
risk does not mean that poor mental health is 
inevitable and children exposed to similar adversity 
can take very different pathways. What makes 
children more resilient to these stresses is not 
fully understood. Children from disadvantaged 
backgrounds have lower resilience and poor 
mental health outcomes. Parental stressors can 
be much more common among this group (ref 
Morrison & Gutman et al 2015). 

Key points

l  Improving mental health is a priority for Bristol.

l   We know some of the risk factors and protective 
factors for mental health, resilience and 
wellbeing.

l   In Bristol there are high levels of risk factors.

l   We do not have good measures of mental 
health wellbeing prevalence locally for 0-5s.

l   Our Children’s Centres and other Early Years 
settings and services are key for promoting 
protective factors such as building resilience. 

l   Other services such as Health Visitors are also 
key for identifying mental health disorders and 
building good mental health.

P
age 107



66

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

5.1 Building Resilience and Wellbeing – what 
does Bristol data show us? 
Measures of social and emotional 
development 

Health visitors measure development at the twelve 
month and two year checks using the Ages and 
Stages -3 Questionnaire. School readiness also 
measures the social and emotional development 
of children at the end of the school reception year 
(data are included in section 3).  

Survey data of risk factors for poor 
mental health

Data from the Bristol under Fives survey is included 
in section 4.  Figure 26 shows risk factors for poor 
mental health. Around a third of parents and 
carers who responded to this survey reported 
mental ill health in the previous 12 months. This is 
highest among those who experience the greatest 
levels of deprivation.  

Those in the most deprived areas also experience 
the highest levels of domestic violence and abuse 
and there are also a higher proportion of people 
in these areas who use drugs problematically. The 
most deprived areas experience significantly higher 
rates of risk factors for poor mental health in all of 
the categories than the Bristol average.

Fig 26:  Bristol Under 5 Survey (BCC) showing risk factors for poor child mental health, by deprivation. 
Source: Information and Analysis Team, Bristol City Council.

FIG 26

50%

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f p
ar

en
ts

 / 
ca

re
rs

Current domestic
violence and abuse

Drug or alcohol
problem

Parents or carer has
experienced anxiety
or depression during

the previous 12 months

Most deprived

More deprived

Average

Less deprived

Least deprived

Bristol

P
age 108



67

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Parental substance misuse

It is not possible to determine the actual figure of 
children living with substance misusing parents 
but it is estimated that in England in 2011/12 there 
were 103,742 children under 18 living with at least 
one parent who was in drug treatment and in 2015 
there were 945,919 children under 16 who were 
affected by parental alcohol problems (CC 2017). 
Parental substance misuse is a key risk factor for 
poor mental health in children.

Bristol City Council data recording adults in drug 
and alcohol treatment shows that in 2016/17, 380 
children under five years were living in the same 
house with at least one parent in substance misuse 
treatment and 368 were living elsewhere. The 
real figures will be higher than this because not 
all parents who misuse drugs and alcohol are in 
treatment services. Figure 27 shows the number of 
children of adult clients between 2012 and 2017. 
Many adults will continue to stay in treatment 
across the year-end dates and therefore some of 
these children will be counted in consecutive years.

It is not known why there is a reduction in numbers 
under-5s who have parents in treatment between 
2015/16 and 2016/17.

The reduction in the number of 0-5s who have 
parents in drug and alcohol treatment reflects the 
aging population of adults in treatment in Bristol 
and suggests that parents of young children are 
not engaging with these services, exposing children 
to higher levels of risk.

The link between parental problematic substance 
use and child safeguarding can be seen in Figure 
28, showing children aged under five who have 
parents in substance misuse treatment in Bristol 
and are engaged with social care.

The link between children who have a parent or 
carer in drug or alcohol treatment and deprivation 
is strong.  Between 2012 and 2017, a yearly 
average of 91 children aged five and under who 
had parents in substance misuse treatment 
services lived in the most affluent areas and an 
average of 189 per year lived in the most deprived 
areas (Theseus 2017).

Prevalence of diagnosable mental 
health issues in young children

Mental health problems recognised in younger 
children include behavioural disorders (conduct 
disorder), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, 
and emotional disorders (such as anxiety, phobias 
and depression). Data measuring levels of mental 
health and resilience in the under-fives is not 
routinely collected and national prevalence studies 
have not collected data for under-fives.  

Fig 27:  Number of children aged 0 to 5 years who 
have parents and carers in drug and alcohol 
treatment services, by whether they live in the 
same house or elsewhere. 
Source: Theseus data, unpublished data BCC.

Fig 28:  Number of children aged 0 – 5 years with parents in substance misuse 
treatment, by engagement with Social Care and category of need (2017). 
Source: Theseus 2017, unpublished data BCC.

Children under 5 
years in the house

Children 
under 5 years 
elsewhere Total

2012/13 517 350 867

2013/14 495 383 878
2014/15 456 385 841

2015/16 443 455 898
2016/17 380 368 748

Number of children aged 0 - 5 years with 
parents in substance misuse treatment, by 
engagement with social care and category 
of need.

Category of need Number 

Early Help 10
Child in need 17

Has a child protection plan 17
Looked after child 9

Total 51

FIG 26

50%

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f p
ar

en
ts

 / 
ca

re
rs

Current domestic
violence and abuse

Drug or alcohol
problem

Parents or carer has
experienced anxiety
or depression during

the previous 12 months

Most deprived

More deprived

Average

Less deprived

Least deprived

Bristol

P
age 109



68

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

5.2 National recommendations for building resilience and wellbeing
Marmot (2010) recommended: 

l   Build resilience and well-being of young 
children across the social gradient.

l   Give priority to pre and post-birth 
interventions that reduce adverse outcomes 
of pregnancy and infancy. 

Marmot recommended targeted home visiting 
to support high risk parents. One of the most 
successful home visiting programmes has been 
The Family Nurse Partnership. Evaluation of the 
programme in the US has shown improvements 
in outcomes such as reduced crimes, reduced 
child abuse as well as improved educational 
outcomes for the children (CfMH 2016), although 
initial UK findings have been less positive 
(Robling 2016).   

The State Of Child Health Report (RCPCH 2017) 
emphasised the need to “Maximise mental health 
and wellbeing throughout childhood”:

•   Professional bodies representing all those 
working with infants, children and young 
people in health, social care, education, 
criminal justice and community settings should 
equip their members with the necessary tools 
to identify mental health issues through the 
promotion of resources such as the MindEd 
portal.

l   NHS England should ensure that funding 
designated for expanding Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services reach 
frontline services.

The report (RCPCH 2017) included related 
recommendations:

l   Ensure full compliance with the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child. 

l   Maintain the commitment to eradicate child 
poverty in the UK by 2020, with a political 
focus on the poorest children, particularly 
in times of exceptional financial pressure on 
families.

l   Ensure universal Early Years public health 
services are prioritised and supported, with 
targeted support for children and families 
experiencing poverty.

l   Invest in a well-trained multi-disciplinary 
workforce that can respond to children and 
families at risk of or who experience harm.

l   Protect and continue to support the provision 
of early help services.

NICE guidance:

l   Highlights the important role of health visitors 
to build resilience and to identify families with 
additional needs and provide support (NICE 
2014d, NICE 2016a).

l   The need to prevent and address attachment 
difficulties in children who are adopted from 
care, in care or at risk of going into care (NICE 
2015b).

l   The role of local authorities in promoting 
social and emotional wellbeing among 
vulnerable children (NICE 2013c) through 
ensuring arrangements are in place for 
integrated commissioning of universal and 
targeted services for under-fives (including 
general practice, maternity, health visiting, 
school nursing and all Early Years providers) 
and ensuring children and families with 
multiple needs have access to specialist 
services, including child safeguarding and 
mental health services.

l   The importance of working with pregnant 
women who use drugs and alcohol (NICE 
2010c) to ensure good partnership working 
between agencies, support based on 
individual need, referral pathways into 
treatment services and education about the 
potential effects of substance misuse on the 
developing foetus.

P
age 110



69

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

5.3 How are we building resilience and wellbeing in Bristol? 
The focus of the prevention of poor mental 
health in young children is the promotion of good 
attachment and the support of parents to prevent 
perinatal mental health problems, which will 
underpin the development of resilience. Midwifery, 
health visiting, Early Years settings and the 
voluntary sector work with parents to support the 
development of close and loving relationships with 
their infants and young children.

Midwifery Service

Universal interventions aim to build resilience 
and wellbeing of young children across the 
social gradient. This includes the UNICEF Baby 
Friendly Initiative to promote attachment, using 
evidence-based best practice standards to support 
parents to nurture close relationships, supporting 
attachment, emotional wellbeing, and optimum 
brain development.  Antenatal classes include two 
or three sessions focusing on the babies’ needs for 
closeness and comfort. 

Health visiting service

The health visiting team have received training in 
the Solihull approach: a psychologically-informed, 
evidence-based model of working which includes 
supporting healthy brain development, attachment, 
containment, reciprocity and behaviour 
management. They use this in their practice 
providing home, telephone and clinic support. The 
service is also Baby Friendly Initiative accredited. 

A Specialist Early Relationships Health Visitor 
provides therapeutic help and support to 
parents and carers experiencing difficulties in 
their relationships with their infants and young 
children. This includes attachment problems, 
maternal depression and concerns regarding child 
behaviour. The aim is to provide early intervention 
before problems become entrenched. This service 
is only currently available in the East Central area. 

Family Nurse Partnership

The Family Nurse Partnership is an enhanced 
health visiting service working with first time 
parents aged eighteen and under. It offers a 
structured programme of support from pregnancy 
to the child’s second birthday, delivered by a 
designated, trained family nurse. It is focused on 
the health and well-being of the child, including 
personal health, life course development, maternal 
role, and relationships with family and friends. All 
of this work contributes towards attachment and 
building the foundations for resilience. Parents 
evaluate it highly and there are currently around 90 
Bristol families receiving support. 

The first families have recently ‘graduated’ from the 
Family Nurse Partnership into mainstream services 
and there have been good outcomes particularly 
around breastfeeding initiation and smoking 
cessation. 

Children’s Centres 

Services offered by Children’s Centres are 
discussed in Section 4 and are important resources 
for nurturing resilience in children under five years, 
including those who are most disadvantaged. They 
deliver evidence-based programmes for parents 
that cover social skills, independence, problem 
solving, breastfeeding, supporting relationships 
with other adults, other community factors, debt 
advice, housing support, family support, and 
parenting. The Emotional Health Transformation 
Plan funded training in Mental Health First Aid for 
Children’s Centres staff in 2017. 

First Response

First Response is the first point of referral for 
professionals and members of the public who 
are concerned about the welfare of a child. First 
Response assesses all the available information 
and identifies appropriate pathways into services, 
which may include Early Help or a child protection 
referral.

P
age 111



70

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Early Help

Early Help works with families who require support 
but do not meet the threshold for social care. 
Some Early Help referrals received for families with 
children are referred to Children’s Centres, and 
some are managed by separate Early Help teams. 

Consent is required from parents and carers 
to refer to Early Help. The aim of this work is 
to prevent escalation of need and improve the 
outcomes for children. This may involve referrals 
for parenting support. Families who are facing crisis 
can be referred to the Family Intervention Team 
for tailored family led support including, housing 
support and advice, debt management and mental 
health interventions. Priority is given to children or 
young people who live in households of families 
that meet two or more criteria highlighted in the 
Family Outcome Plan. These criteria are:

l   Parents and young people involved in crime or 
antisocial behaviour.

l   Children who have not been attending school 
regularly.

l   Children who need help.

l   Adults out of work or at risk of financial exclusion, 
and young people at high risk of being out of work.

l   Families affected by domestic violence and abuse. 

l   Parents and children with a range of health 
problems.

Children’s Social Care 

When families are faced with more complex 
problems the local authority has a duty to protect 
and promote the welfare of children. These 
children can be categorised in one of three ways:

i)   Children in need are those who are aged under 
18 and:

 l   need local authority services to achieve or 
maintain a reasonable standard of health or 
development.

 l   need local authority services to prevent 
significant or further harm to health or 
development.

 l  or they are disabled.

ii)   Children who are subject to a Child Protection 
Plan are those who are under 18 and thought 
to be at risk of significant harm. The names 
of these children are recorded on the child 
protection register and the child protection plan 
is put in place to identify ways to reduce the 
likelihood of harm to the child and to protect 
the child’s welfare.

iii)   Children in care are looked after by their local 
authority. They might be living:

 l   with foster parents.

 l   at home with their parents under the 
supervision of social services.

 l   in residential children’s homes.

 l   other residential settings like schools or 
secure units.

The Emotional Health Transformation Plan funded 
eight sessions in Promoting Positive Mental Health 
for children’s social care staff in 2016. 

Parental Substance Misuse Services 
in Bristol 

Bristol Recovery Orientated Alcohol and Drugs 
Service (ROADS) provide an intensive family 
support service for parents who live with their 
children, where there is a child protection plan in 
place. They also run parenting workshops for all 
clients, a fathers’ group and a women’s morning. 
There is a crèche for children under five years. 

P
age 112



71

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Detection of perinatal, infant and 
preschool mental health problems

The midwifery team and health visitors screen 
mothers for depression and other mental health 
problems, which may interfere with attachment 
and refer for support.  Children’s Centre staff may 
also detect mental health problems and signpost 
for support. 

Issues with mental ill health during early years can 
be detected through the development checks that 
are undertaken by Early Years providers or health 
visitors including Family Nurse Partnership and 
may also be picked up by staff in other Early Years 
settings.

Mental health interventions for 
common (low level) perinatal & 
preschool mental health 

Perinatal mental health interventions for mothers 
are discussed in section 2. These may have an 
impact on attachment between mothers and their 
babies. 

Child and Family Consultation teams are a multi-
disciplinary team who work with and engage 
children and young people with emotional, 
behavioural or mental health difficulties.  There is 
a Child and Family Consultation team for each of 
the Bristol Areas (North, East/Central, and South). 
Low level interventions for children up to the 
age of five are offered by Primary Infant Mental 
Health Specialists, who are part of the Child and 
Family Consultation teams. They support frontline 
professionals who work with preschool children 
and their carers when there are concerns about 
mental health. They also run training.

GPs provide assessment for parents and children 
and may provide treatment for common perinatal 
mental health disorders or referral into mental 
health treatment services and support.

P
age 113



72

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

5.4 Recommendations for building resilience 
and wellbeing in Bristol – what more can we do?

Recommendations for building 
resilience and wellbeing in Bristol
l   The application of the ‘Adverse Childhood Experiences’ 

to the Bristol child population, potential interventions in 
Bristol should be explored.

l   Continue to support routine services (maternity services, 
health visitors and Children’s Centres) build parental 
understanding of the importance of reducing stresses in 
pregnancy, responding to baby needs through sensitive 
parenting and building parent-child attachment.

l   Continue to provide effective universal Children’s Centres, 
family support and health visitor services.

l   The Children and Families Partnership Board and Bristol 
Safeguarding Children Board have a key leadership role to 
support work that addresses risk factors for poor mental 
health including child poverty and abuse. 

l   Continue to ensure that all professionals who work in 
Early Years settings have access to appropriate training 
and resources to enable them to use evidence-based 
interventions and to prevent and identify delayed 
development and mental health issues in young children 
(and parents).

P
age 114



73

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Case study:  

The PAUSE Bristol Project works with women who have 
repeatedly had their children taken into care. It offers 

support to begin to tackle the issues that led to the removal 
of their children and to delay any more pregnancies.

The project aims to improve the social, emotional, environmental and 
physical health of women who are typically disadvantaged and reduce the 
number of new pregnancies to ultimately reduce the number of children 
placed in care. These women have complex needs. 

Pause will work with 20 women over the next 18 months who, otherwise 
would be estimated to have 15 pregnancies/children removed from their 
care during that time. Three practitioners provide intensive work to help 
women take a pause from the cycle of pregnancy/removals and focus on 
themselves. The women are asked to commit to this process by using an 
effective form of reversible contraception.

This break enables us to support the women to begin to identify and process 
their emotional trauma, tackle the barriers they need to overcome, improve 
the contact they have with their children and start to see a positive future for 
their lives.

P
age 115



74

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life6
REVIEW OF 2016 RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 1
The Director of Public Health should work 
through Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board 
and other stakeholders to implement the 
4:4:48 prevention model to address modifiable 
unhealthy lifestyle behaviours (including smoking 
and tobacco, alcohol misuse, poor diet and lack 
of physical activity) and put ‘Health in All Policies’.

Bristol City Council is procuring a Bristol 
Behaviour Change for Healthier Lifestyles 
Programme to help people who want to change 
their unhealthy lifestyles. It is re-procuring local 
substance misuse services for people with 
more serious alcohol and substance misuse 
issues. The Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board 
have adopted a ‘Health in All Policies’ approach. 
Health inequalities impact assessments have 
been undertaken as part of the council budget 
reduction programme.

Recommendation 2
The Health and Wellbeing Board should oversee 
an audit of current prevention and early 
intervention programmes against the evidence-
based interventions set out in this report and 
identifies any gaps. 

A high level review of prevention activities was 
carried out as part of the Bristol, North Somerset 
and South Gloucestershire Sustainability 
Transformation Programme. However, more 
work is needed to identify further gaps and 
areas for development. 

Recommendation 3
The Bristol Children and Families Partnership 
Board should seek to strengthen cost effective 
public health programmes aimed at children and 
their families to give them a better and healthier 
start in life (specifically targeting those who 
experience the greatest disadvantage). 

The Partnership Board has developed a work 
plan to promote health and wellbeing through 
its Joint Health Outcomes Challenge Group.  This 
group meets regularly and oversees key work 
programmes including emotional and mental 
wellbeing, injury prevention and childhood 
obesity. Progress is monitored through a set of 
key indicators reported to the Board.

P
age 116



75

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Recommendation 4
Bristol City Council’s Public Health Team 
should coordinate the roll out of a ‘Making 
Every Contact Count’ training programme for 
multidisciplinary front line staff to improve health 
and wellbeing. 

Public Health Bristol has launched a citywide 
Making Every Contact Count (training 
programme.  A number of ‘train the trainers’ 
have been recruited and over 40 front line 
staff from housing, health, social care and 
environmental health have received this training.  
A dedicated Coordinator is rolling out this 
programme across Bristol, North Somerset and 
South Gloucestershire. 

Recommendation 5
The Director of Public Health will work with 
the emerging Mayor’s City Office, other city 
partnerships, the Bristol, North Somerset 
and South Gloucestershire Sustainability 
Transformation Plan and the West of England 
devolution deal to find ways to strengthen and 
consolidate public health effort to reduce health 
inequalities, preventable death and disease.

The Director of Public Health is working with the 
Mayor’s City Office to consolidate public health 
approaches to tackle the wider determinants 
of health.  The Public Health Bristol Team 
working closely with the Bristol, North Somerset 
and South Gloucestershire Sustainability 
Transformation Programme to strengthen 
prevention, early intervention and self-care 
programmes as well as working in partnership to 
launch a ‘Thrive’ programme to promote mental 
health and wellbeing.  

P
age 117



76

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Figure 1:     Bristol’s age profile compared to England 
(mid 2016).

Figure 2:     Proportion of population aged Under 5 
years in Bristol.

Figure 3:    Trends in Under 5s in Bristol.

Figure 4:     Percentage of Under 5s living in low 
income households in Bristol.

Figure 5:    Map of Under 5s BAME in Bristol.

Figure 6:     Births per 1,000 women aged 15-44 years 
(general fertility rate), 2013-2015.

Figure 7:     Bristol infant mortality rate trends 
compared to the England average 
2001-2015. 

Figure 8:     Percentage of pregnant women in 
Bristol who are obese at first booking.

Figure 9:     Smoking status at time of delivery 
2010- 2016.

Figure 10:   Percentage of Bristol resident children 
(born 2015/16) receiving breast milk by 
the time of their 6 to 8 week check, by 
maternal age-group (of children with a 
known feeding status recorded. 

Figure 11:   Breastfeeding Prevalence at 6 to 8 weeks 
after birth (as a % of infants born in 
2015/16, whose breastfeeding status is 
known).

Figure 12:   Rates of perinatal psychiatric disorder 
(per 1000 maternities) 2012.

Figure 13:   School Readiness: the percentage 
of children achieving a good level of 
development at the end of Reception.

Figure 14:   Percentage of children in Bristol achieving 
a good level of development by area of 
learning (2013-2016).

Figure 15:   The percentage gaps of disadvantaged 
learners (percentage difference in children 
achieving Good Level of Development at 
end of Early Years Foundation Stage) 2013 
-2016. 

Figure 16:   Results of the Bristol City Council under 5s 
Questionnaire.

Figure 17:   Childhood routine vaccination schedule for 
autumn 2017 (NHS 2017). 

Figure 18:   Selected vaccination targets, Bristol and 
England, 2015/16.

Figure 19:   Measles Mumps and Rubella (MMR) 
coverage, 5 year olds, Bristol Practices 
2015/16.

Figure 20:   Childhood excess weight prevalence, by 
deprivation, reception year (4/5 years), 
Bristol resident pupils versus England 
average, 2015/16.

Figure 21:   Percentage of reception children (4/5 years) 
that are overweight or very overweight, 3 
year average, 2013/14 to 2015/16.

Figure 22:   Percentage of children aged 3 with one 
or more obviously decayed, missing (due 
to decay) and filled teeth. Bristol and 
statistical neighbours (2012/13).

Figure 23:   Percentage of children aged 5 with one 
or more obviously decayed, missing (due 
to decay) and filled teeth. Bristol and 
statistical neighbours (2014/15).

Figure 24:   Rate of teeth extracted, filled or subject 
to sealant restoration, by NHS community 
dentists, for children aged 0-4 years (rate 
per 1,000), by ward of residence, annual 
average 2014 to 2016.

Figure 25:   Rate of emergency admissions due to 
injury by 10,000 population (2013/14 to 
2015/16): under 1 versus 1-4 year-olds.

Figure 26:   Bristol Under 5 Survey (BCC) showing risk 
factors for poor child mental health, by 
deprivation.

Figure 27:   Number of children aged 0 to 5 years 
who have parents and carers in drug and 
alcohol treatment services, by whether 
they live in the same house or elsewhere. 

Figure 28:   Number of children aged 0 - 5 years with 
parents in substance misuse treatment, by 
engagement with social care and category 
of need (2017).

LIST OF FIGURES

P
age 118



77

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

REFERENCES
ACMD (2003) Hidden harm: Responding to the 
needs of children of problem drug users, Advisory 
Council on the Misuse of Drugs Inquiry reports. 

Baird J, Fisher D, Lucas P, Kleijnen J, Roberts H, 
Law C, (2005) Being big or growing fast: systematic 
review of size and growth in infancy and later 
obesity. BMJ 2005; 331:929

Bauer A et al (2014). The costs of perinatal mental 
health problems. London: Centre for Mental 
Health.

Bellis M, Ashton K, Hughes K, Ford K, Bishop 
J and Paranjothy S (2015) Adverse Childhood 
Experiences and their impact on health-harming 
behaviours in the Welsh adult population, Public 
Health Wales and Centre for Public Health, John 
Moores University. [Online] Available:  
www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/
ACE-Report-FINAL-E.pdf [28/7/2017]

Bonin E M, Stevens M, Beecham J, Byford S, 
Parsonage M (2011) Cost and longer term 
savings of parenting programmes for the 
prevention of persistent conduct disorder: a 
modelling study. [Online], Available: 
www.bmcpublichealth.boimedcentral.com/
articles10.1186/1471-2459-11-803 [1 Aug 2017]

Bowlby J. (1958). The nature of the child’s tie to his 
mother, International Journal of Psychoanalysis, 39, 
350-371.

Bristol Child Healthy Weight Pathway (2013). 
[Online], Available from: www.cchp.nhs.uk/sites/
default/files/attachments/Bristol%20Care%20
Pathway%20For%20Child%20Weight%20
Management.pdf

Bristol City Council (2015) Bristol Early Years Vision. 
[Online], Available: www.bristolearlyyears.org.
uk/vision [21 Jul 2017]

Bristol City Council (2016). Oral Health Promotion 
Strategy (2016-21). [Online], Available: 
www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/
oral-health-promotion-in-bristol [1Aug 2017]

Bristol City Council (2017) Corporate 
Strategy 2017-22. Big Decisions, Tough 
Choices. [Online], Available: www.bristol.
gov.uk/documents/20182/1188753/
The+Corporate+Strategy+at+a+glance 
[21 Jul 2017] 

Bristol Safeguarding Board (2017). Perinatal 
protocol.  [Online], Available: 
www.bristolsafeguarding.org/media/1271/
perinatal-protocol-for-web.pdf [9 Aug 2017]

British Association of Early Childhood Education.  
Practical tips on allocating Early Years Pupil 
Premium funding. [Online], Available: www.early-
education.org.uk/sites/default/files/Early-Ed_
Tip_EYPPs%20ONLINE%20small_0.pdf 
[21 Jul 2017]

Cabinet Office (2017) Child Obesity: a plan 
for action. [Online], Available: www.gov.uk/
government/publications/childhood-obesity-a-
plan-for-action [31 Jul 2017]

Caestecker l, Killoran-Ross M (2010) early years 
and public health: a case study from the Glasgow 
experience. In Goldie I (Ed) Public Mental Health 
today. A handbook (pp121 – 134). Brighton. 
Pavilion Publishing/Mental Health Foundation.

Centre for Mental Health (2016), 0-4 years: 
Missed opportunities: children and young 
people’s mental health. [Online], Available: 
www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/missed-
opportunities [30/05/2017].

Children’s Commissioner (2017) on measuring the 
number of vulnerable children in England. The 
Office of the Children’s Commissioner for England, 
July 2017

Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH (2000). 
Establishing a standard definition for child 
overweight and obesity worldwide: international 
survey. BMJ 2000; 320:1240-3.

P
age 119

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/ACE-Report-FINAL-E.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/ACE-Report-FINAL-E.pdf
http://bmcpublichealth.boimedcentral.com/articles10.1186/1471-2459-11-803
http://bmcpublichealth.boimedcentral.com/articles10.1186/1471-2459-11-803
http://cchp.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/Bristol%20Care%20Pathway%20For%20Child%20Weight%20Management.pdf 
http://cchp.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/Bristol%20Care%20Pathway%20For%20Child%20Weight%20Management.pdf 
http://cchp.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/Bristol%20Care%20Pathway%20For%20Child%20Weight%20Management.pdf 
http://cchp.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/Bristol%20Care%20Pathway%20For%20Child%20Weight%20Management.pdf 
https://www.bristolearlyyears.org.uk/vision
https://www.bristolearlyyears.org.uk/vision
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/oral-health-promotion-in-bristol
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/oral-health-promotion-in-bristol
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/1188753/The+Corporate+Strategy+at+a+glance
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/1188753/The+Corporate+Strategy+at+a+glance
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/1188753/The+Corporate+Strategy+at+a+glance
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/media/1271/perinatal-protocol-for-web.pdf
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/media/1271/perinatal-protocol-for-web.pdf
https://www.early-education.org.uk/sites/default/files/Early-Ed_Tip_EYPPs%20ONLINE%20small_0.pdf
https://www.early-education.org.uk/sites/default/files/Early-Ed_Tip_EYPPs%20ONLINE%20small_0.pdf
https://www.early-education.org.uk/sites/default/files/Early-Ed_Tip_EYPPs%20ONLINE%20small_0.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childhood-obesity-a-plan-for-action
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childhood-obesity-a-plan-for-action
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childhood-obesity-a-plan-for-action
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/missed-opportunities 
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/missed-opportunities 


78

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Condon L & Salmon D. (2015) ‘you likes your way, 
we got our own way: Gypsies and Travellers views 
on infant feeding and health professionals support’ 
Health Expect, 2015 Oct; 8 (5):784-95.doi: 10.1111/
hex.12214. Epub 2014 Jun 3. [Online], Available: 
www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24890123 [19 
Jul 2017]

Davies S.C. (2015) Annual Report of the Chief 
Medical Officer 2014. The Health of the 51%: 
Women. London; Department of Health (2015).

Department of Health (2012), Annual Report of the 
Chief Medical Officer 2012 Our Children Deserve 
Better: Prevention Pays. [Online], Available:  
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/255237/2901304_
CMO_complete_low_res_accessible.pdf  
[30/05/2017]

Department of Education (2014a) Statutory 
Framework for the Early Years Foundation Stage: 
Setting the Standards for Learning, Development 
and Care of Children from Birth to Five. London. 
Department of Education. [Online] Available from: 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-
years-foundation-stage-framework--2  [21 Jul 
2017]

Department of Education (2014b). Finding 
a Parenting Programme. [Online], Available: 
www.webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.
uk/20140108000405 
www.education.gov.uk/commissioning-toolkit/
Programme/CommissionersSearch  [1 Aug 2017]

Department of Health (2009) Healthy Child 
Programme: pregnancy and the first five years of 
life. [Online], Available: www.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/167998/Health_Child_Programme.pdf  [21 
Jul 2017]

Department of Health (2011) Start Active, Stay 
Active: A report on physical activity from the four 
home countries’ Chief Medical Officers. [Online], 
Available: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216370/
dh_128210.pdf  [31 Jul 2017]

Digital NHS (2016). Statistics on NHS Stop 
Smoking Services: England April 2015 to March 
2016. [Online], Available: www.digital.nhs.uk/
catalogue/PUB21162 [20 Jul 2017]

Edwards R T, O’Ceilleachair A, Bywater T, Hughes 
D A, Hutchings J (2007) Parenting programme for 
parents of children at risk of developing conduct 
disorder: cost effectiveness analysis. British Medical 
Journal. [Online], Available: www.bmj.com/
content/bmj/334/7595/682.full.pdf [1 Aug 2017]

Egger H. & Angold A. (2008) Common emotional 
and behavioural disorders in preschool children: 
presentation, nosology, and epidemiology. Journal 
of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied 
Disciplines 47, 313–37

Glover V. (2014) maternal depression, anxiety 
and stress during pregnancy and child outcome; 
what needs to be done. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet 
Gynaecol. 2014 Jan; 28(1):25-35. Doi: 10.1016/j.
bpobgyn.2013.08.017. Epub 2013 Sep 18

Hogg S (2015). All Babies Count: spotlight on 
perinatal mental health - prevention in mind. 
How mental illness affects women before and 
after pregnancy, and what can be done to help. 
[Online] Available: www.nspcc.org.uk/services-
and-resources/research-and-resources/2013/
all-babies-count-spotlight-perinatal-mental-
health/ [1 Aug 2017]

House of Parliament (2016) Infant mortality and 
stillbirths in the UK. Post Note No: 517 May 2016. 
London

Johnson D. (2017) ‘The Baby Imperative; Mothers’ 
experiences of negotiating public breastfeeding 
in a local context’.  Unpublished Master’s Thesis, 
University of Bristol. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for 
Bristol (2017). [Online], Available:  
www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34740/
JSNA+2016+to+2017+final+version [19 Jul 2017]

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Bristol 
Chapters (2017). [Online], Available: www.bristol.
gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/jsna-chapters 
[31 Jul 2017]

Marmot Review (2010) Fair Society: Healthy Lives. 
[Online], Available: www.local.gov.uk/marmot-
review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives [19 Jul 
2017]

P
age 120

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24890123
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/255237/2901304_CMO_complete_low_res_accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/255237/2901304_CMO_complete_low_res_accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/255237/2901304_CMO_complete_low_res_accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140108000405
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140108000405
http://www.education.gov.uk/commissioning-toolkit/Programme/CommissionersSearch
http://www.education.gov.uk/commissioning-toolkit/Programme/CommissionersSearch
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/167998/Health_Child_Programme.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/167998/Health_Child_Programme.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/167998/Health_Child_Programme.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216370/dh_128210.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216370/dh_128210.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216370/dh_128210.pdf
https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB21162
https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB21162
http://www.bmj.com/content/bmj/334/7595/682.full.pdf
http://www.bmj.com/content/bmj/334/7595/682.full.pdf
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2013/all-babies-count-spotlight-perinatal-mental-health/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2013/all-babies-count-spotlight-perinatal-mental-health/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2013/all-babies-count-spotlight-perinatal-mental-health/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2013/all-babies-count-spotlight-perinatal-mental-health/
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34740/JSNA+2016+to+2017+final+version
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34740/JSNA+2016+to+2017+final+version
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/jsna-chapters
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/jsna-chapters
https://www.local.gov.uk/marmot-review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives
https://www.local.gov.uk/marmot-review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives


79

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

MMBRACE -UK (2016) UK Confidential Enquiry 
into Maternal Death. [Online], Available: 
www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/downloads/files/mbrrace-
uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK%20Maternal%20
Report%202016%20-%20website.pdf 
[19 Jul 2019]

Morrison Gutman L, Joshi H, Parsonage M and 
Schoon I (2015) Children of the new century, 
Centre for Mental Health. [Online], Available: 
www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/Handlers/
Download.ashx?IDMF=9faa732d-883b-42c1-
b223-bb9de11a109c [1 Aug 2017]

NHS Information Centre Maternity and 
Breastfeeding statistics. [Online], Available:  
www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-
areas/maternity-and-breastfeeding/ 
[8 Aug 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2009) Public Health guidelines PH21: 
Immunisations: reducing differences in uptake in 
under 19s. [Online], Available: www.nice.org.uk/
guidance/ph21 [1 Aug 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2009b) Public Health Guideline 17: Physical activity 
for children and young people. [Online], Available: 
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph17 [8 Sept 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2010a) PH 27. Weight management before, during 
and after pregnancy. [Online], Available:  
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph27 [19 Jul 2017] 

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2010b) Public Health Guidance 29 Unintentional 
injuries: prevention strategies for under 15s. 
[Online], Available: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/
ph29  [1 Aug 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2010c) CG 110 Pregnancy and complex social 
factors: a model for service provision for pregnant 
women with complex social factors. [Online], 
Available: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg110 
[28/7/2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2013a) Postnatal care quality standard: Standard 
5 breastfeeding. [Online], Available:  
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs37/resources/
postnatal-care-2098611282373 [19 Jul 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2013b) Public Health Guideline 47: Weight 
management: lifestyle services for overweight 
or obese children and young people. [Online], 
Available: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph47 [8 
Sept 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2013c). LGB 12 What can local authorities 
achieve by promoting the social and emotional 
wellbeing of children and young people? [Online], 
Available: www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb12/
chapter/what-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-
promoting-the-social-and-emotional-wellbeing-
of-children-and-young-people#improve-the-
populations-health-and-wellbeing [30/05/2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2014a). CG 190 Intrapartum care for healthy 
women and babies. [Online], Available:  
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg190 [13 Sept 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2014b) CG192 Antenatal and postnatal mental 
health: clinical management and service guidance. 
[Online], Available: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/
cg192 [1 Aug 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2014c) Public Health Guideline 55. Oral health: 
local authorities and partners. [Online], Available: 
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph55 [8 Sept 2017]  

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2014d) LGB 22 Health Visiting. [Online], Available: 
www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb22/chapter/
What-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-
commissioning-high-quality-health-visiting-
services#build-resilience-and-reduce-costs-in-
later-life [13/06/2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2015a) Quality standard (CG37). 

Postnatal care up to 8 weeks after birth. [Online], 
Available: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/
cg37 [19 Jul 2017]

P
age 121

https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/downloads/files/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK%20Maternal%20Report%202016%20-%20website.pdf
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/downloads/files/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK%20Maternal%20Report%202016%20-%20website.pdf
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/downloads/files/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK%20Maternal%20Report%202016%20-%20website.pdf
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=9faa732d-883b-42c1-b223-bb9de11a109c
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=9faa732d-883b-42c1-b223-bb9de11a109c
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=9faa732d-883b-42c1-b223-bb9de11a109c
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/maternity-and-breastfeeding/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/maternity-and-breastfeeding/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph21
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph21
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph17
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph27
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph29
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph29
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg110
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs37/resources/postnatal-care-2098611282373
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs37/resources/postnatal-care-2098611282373
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph47
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb12/chapter/what-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-promoting-the-social-and-emotional-wellbeing-of-children-and-young-people#improve-the-populations-health-and-wellbeing
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb12/chapter/what-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-promoting-the-social-and-emotional-wellbeing-of-children-and-young-people#improve-the-populations-health-and-wellbeing
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb12/chapter/what-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-promoting-the-social-and-emotional-wellbeing-of-children-and-young-people#improve-the-populations-health-and-wellbeing
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb12/chapter/what-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-promoting-the-social-and-emotional-wellbeing-of-children-and-young-people#improve-the-populations-health-and-wellbeing
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb12/chapter/what-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-promoting-the-social-and-emotional-wellbeing-of-children-and-young-people#improve-the-populations-health-and-wellbeing
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg190
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph55
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb22/chapter/What-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-commissioning-high-quality-health-visiting-services#build-resilience-and-reduce-costs-in-later-life
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb22/chapter/What-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-commissioning-high-quality-health-visiting-services#build-resilience-and-reduce-costs-in-later-life
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb22/chapter/What-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-commissioning-high-quality-health-visiting-services#build-resilience-and-reduce-costs-in-later-life
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb22/chapter/What-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-commissioning-high-quality-health-visiting-services#build-resilience-and-reduce-costs-in-later-life
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb22/chapter/What-can-local-authorities-achieve-by-commissioning-high-quality-health-visiting-services#build-resilience-and-reduce-costs-in-later-life
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg37
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg37


80

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2015b). NG 26 Children’s attachment: attachment 
in children and young people who are adopted 
from care, in care or at high risk of going into care. 
[Online], Available: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/
ng26/chapter/Recommendations#supporting-
children-and-young-people-with-attachment-
difficulties-in-schools-and-other-education 
[1 Aug 2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2016a). QS 128 Early years: promoting health and 
wellbeing in under 5s. [Online], Available: 
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs128 [13/06/2017]

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
(2017) Clinical Guideline (CG62). Antenatal care for 
uncomplicated pregnancies. [Online], Available: 
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg62 [19 Jul 2017]

Newman T (2002) Promoting Resilience: A Review 
of Effective Strategies for Child Care Services. 
Barnardo’s for the Centre for Evidence based 
Social Services, University of Exeter. [Online], 
Available: www.barnardos.org.uk/what_works_
in_building_resilience__-_summary_1_.pdf 
[30/05/2017]

NHS England (2016) National Maternity Review: 
Better Births’ Improving Outcomes of Maternity 
Services in England: A Five Year Forward View for 
Maternity Care. [Online], Available: www.england.
nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-
maternity-review-report.pdf [19 Jul 2017]

NHS 2017 The Routine Immunisation schedule 
for Autumn2017. [Online], Available:  
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/633693/
Complete_imm_schedule_2017.pdf

Ofsted (2013) what about the children? 
Manchester, Ofsted. [Online], Available: 
www.dera.ioe.ac.uk/17492/1/What%20
about%20the%20children.pdf [28/7/2017]

Ofsted (2015) The Report of Her Majesty’s Chief 
Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and 
Skills 2014/15.[Online], Available:  
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/483347/Ofsted_
annual_report_education_and_skills.pdf  
[21 Jul 2017]

O’Neill D, McGilloway S, Donnelly M, Bywater 
T, Kelly P (2010) a cost- effectiveness analysis 
of the Incredible Years parenting programme 
in reducing childhood health inequalities. 
Journal of Health Economics. [Online], 
Available: www.search.prequest.com/
docview/1422045560?accountid=30892 [1 Aug 
2017]

ONS 2017. [Online], Available: http://visual.ons.
gov.uk/how-many-jobs-are-paid-less-than-the-
living-wage-in-your-area [1 Aug 2017]

Public Health England/Unicef (2016) 
Commissioning Infant feeding Services: a Toolkit 
for Local Authorities. [Online], Available: 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/infant-
feeding-commissioning-services [19 Jul 2017]

Public Health England (2014a) Reducing 
unintentional Injuries in and around the home 
among children under five years. [Online], 
Available: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322210/
Reducing_unintentional_injuries_in_and_
around_the_home_among_children_under_five_
years.pdf [1 Aug 2017]

Public Health England (2014b) Reducing 
unintentional injuries on the roads among children 
and young people under 25 years. [Online], 
Available: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322212/
Reducing_unintentional_injuries_on_the_roads_
among_children_and_young_people_under_25_
years.pdf [1 Aug 2017]

Public Health England (2016) National Diet and 
Nutrition Survey. [Online], Available:  
www.gov.uk/government/news/young-
children-still-exceeding-sugar-recommendation 
[1 Aug 2017]

Public Health Matters (2016) Health matters 
giving every child the best start in life. [Online], 
Available: Source: PHE www.gov.uk/government/
publications/health-matters-giving-every-child-
the-best-start-in-life/health-matters-giving-
every-child-the-best-start-in-life [7 Aug 2017]

Public Health Matters (2017) Child Dental Health. 
[Online], Available: https://publichealthmatters.
blog.gov.uk/2017/06/14/health-matters-child-
dental-health/ [31 Jul 2017] 

P
age 122

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng26/chapter/Recommendations#supporting-children-and-young-people-with-attachment-difficulties-in-schools-and-other-education
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng26/chapter/Recommendations#supporting-children-and-young-people-with-attachment-difficulties-in-schools-and-other-education
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng26/chapter/Recommendations#supporting-children-and-young-people-with-attachment-difficulties-in-schools-and-other-education
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng26/chapter/Recommendations#supporting-children-and-young-people-with-attachment-difficulties-in-schools-and-other-education
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs128
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg62
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/what_works_in_building_resilience__-_summary_1_.pdf
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/what_works_in_building_resilience__-_summary_1_.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/633693/Complete_imm_schedule_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/633693/Complete_imm_schedule_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/633693/Complete_imm_schedule_2017.pdf
http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/17492/1/What%20about%20the%20children.pdf
http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/17492/1/What%20about%20the%20children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483347/Ofsted_annual_report_education_and_skills.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483347/Ofsted_annual_report_education_and_skills.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483347/Ofsted_annual_report_education_and_skills.pdf
http://search.prequest.com/docview/1422045560?accountid=30892
http://search.prequest.com/docview/1422045560?accountid=30892
http://visual.ons.gov.uk/how-many-jobs-are-paid-less-than-the-living-wage-in-your-area
http://visual.ons.gov.uk/how-many-jobs-are-paid-less-than-the-living-wage-in-your-area
http://visual.ons.gov.uk/how-many-jobs-are-paid-less-than-the-living-wage-in-your-area
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/infant-feeding-commissioning-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/infant-feeding-commissioning-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322210/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_in_and_around_the_home_among_children_under_five_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322210/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_in_and_around_the_home_among_children_under_five_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322210/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_in_and_around_the_home_among_children_under_five_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322210/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_in_and_around_the_home_among_children_under_five_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322210/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_in_and_around_the_home_among_children_under_five_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322212/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_on_the_roads_among_children_and_young_people_under_25_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322212/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_on_the_roads_among_children_and_young_people_under_25_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322212/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_on_the_roads_among_children_and_young_people_under_25_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322212/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_on_the_roads_among_children_and_young_people_under_25_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322212/Reducing_unintentional_injuries_on_the_roads_among_children_and_young_people_under_25_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/young-children-still-exceeding-sugar-recommendation
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/young-children-still-exceeding-sugar-recommendation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life/health-matters-giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/06/14/health-matters-child-dental-health/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/06/14/health-matters-child-dental-health/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/06/14/health-matters-child-dental-health/


81

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health PCH 
(2017) State of Child Health Report 2017. [Online], 
Available: www.rcpch.ac.uk/state-of-child-health 
[19 Jul 2017]

Robling M, Bekkers M-J, Bell K, Butler C, Cannings-
John R, Channon S, Martin B C, Gregory J W, Hood 
K, Kemp A, Kenkre J, Montgomery A, Moody G, 
Owen-Jones E, Pickett K, Richardson G, Roberts Z E 
S, Ronaldson S, Sanders J, Stamuli E, and Torgerson 
D. (2016) ‘Effectiveness of a nurse-led intensive 
home-visitation programme for first-time teenage 
mothers (Building Blocks): a pragmatic randomised 
controlled trial’. Lancet, 387, 146-155

Roulstone S, Law J, Rush R, Clegg J, & Peters T. 
(2011) the role of language in children’s early 
educational outcomes. DfE Research Brief RB134.

Saunders M, Ralph A, Thompson R, Sofrnoff K, 
Gardiner P, Bidwell Dwyer S (2015) Every Family: 
A Public Health approach to promoting children’s 
wellbeing. University of Queensland.

Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (2015) 
Carbohydrates and Health. [Online], Available: 
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/445503/SACN_
Carbohydrates_and_Health.pdf [1 Aug 2017]

South West Clinical Network (2017). Data source.  
South West Clinical Network Maternity Dashboard 
(financial year 15-16).BMI=kg/m2. [Online], 
Available: www.maternitydashboard.swscn.org.
uk [20 Jul 2017]

Theseus (2017) unpublished Bristol City Council 
data. 

Victora C, Bahl R, Barros A, França G, Horton S, 
Krasavec A, Murch S, Sankar M, Walker N, Rollins 
N. (2016) ‘Breastfeeding in the 21st century: 
epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect’, 
Lancet 2016; 387:475-90. [Online], Available: doi.
org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7 [19 July 
2017]

Waldfogel J (2004) Social mobility, life chances, and 
the early years, CASE Paper 88, London: London 
School of Economics, Centre for the Analysis of 
Social Exclusion.

World Health Organisation (2014) mental health: 
a state of wellbeing. World Health Organisation. 
[Online], Available: www.who.int/features/
factfiles/mental_health/en/ [21/7/2017]

World Health Organisation (2017). Topics: 
Breastfeeding.  [Online], Available:  
www.who.int/topics/breastfeeding/en/ 
[19 July 2017]

P
age 123

http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/state-of-child-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445503/SACN_Carbohydrates_and_Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445503/SACN_Carbohydrates_and_Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445503/SACN_Carbohydrates_and_Health.pdf
http://www.maternitydashboard.swscn.org.uk
http://www.maternitydashboard.swscn.org.uk
doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7
doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7
http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental_health/en/
http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental_health/en/
http://www.who.int/topics/breastfeeding/en/


82

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

P
age 124



83

DPH Report 2017/18  |  Best Start in Life

P
age 125



Designed and printed on sustainably sourced material by Bristol Design, Bristol City Council January 2018 BD9433 

P
age 126


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of meeting held on 21 February 2018
	5 Health and Wellbeing Board - Terms of Reference and Ways of Working
	6 JSNA Annual Report 2017-18 and Proposed Work Programme 2018-19
	Bristol Health & Wellbeing Board
	2  JSNA Task and Finish Groups
	The Task and Finish Groups are the delivery vehicles for the JSNA development work. They will implement the work programme agreed by the JSNA Steering Group primarily through delivering the Data Profile and Deep Dives identified by the Steering Group ...

	Sue Milner, Interim Director of City Wellbeing, Resilience and Strategic Partnerships (DPH)
	Author, including organisation

	7 Healthier Together - update
	Bristol Health & Wellbeing Board
	Julia Ross / Robert Woolley
	Author, including organisation
	7b - Healthier Together update

	9 Health and Wellbeing Board forward plan
	10 Director of Public Health annual report

